
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Cabinet

Members of the Cabinet of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend a meeting to 
be held at the Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on Monday, 3 June 2019 at 7.30 
pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 6)

3. To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is. 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public 

5. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 
To report any decisions made by Cabinet Members under their delegated 
powers.

6. Provisional Outturn Report 2018/19 (Pages 7 - 38)

To present:

 The 2018/19 provisional General Fund Revenue Outturn and 
movements in the General Fund working balances and 
earmarked reserves

 The 2018/19 provisional General Fund Capital Outturn
 The 2018/19 provisional Housing Revenue Account Revenue 

Outturn and movements in the Housing Revenue Account 
working balances and earmarked reserves

 The 2018/19 provisional Housing Revenue Account Capital 
Outturn



To update Members on other key arears of financial performance that 
may impact on the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium 
Term Financial Plan, HRA Business Plan or Financial Statements.

7. Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Prevention Strategy (Pages 39 - 
138)

8. Minutes of the meeting of the Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee held on 
Tuesday, 2 April 2019 

(Pages 139 - 
144)

9. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

10.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private

None.

11.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

Members

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Brian Sangha
Narinder Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace





This page is intentionally left blank



1

Cabinet

Monday, 25 March 2019 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr David Turner (Chair)
Cllr John Knight (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Julia Burgoyne
Harold Craske
Sandra Garside
Derek Shelbrooke

Note: Councillors John Burden, Lee Croxton, Shane Mochrie-Cox, Lenny Rolles, 
Brian Sangha and Jenny Wallace were also in attendance.

David Hughes Chief Executive
Stuart Bobby Director (Corporate Services)
Nick Brown Director (Environment & Operations)
Melanie Norris Director (Communities)
Carlie Simmonds Committee Services Manager (Minutes)

171. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 25 February 2019 were signed by the Chair.

172. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made.

173. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 

The Chief Executive advised that a delegated decision had recently been taken by the 
Leader of the Council agreeing to a proposed land swap in order to provide vehicular access 
to the Fountain Walk tunnels and cliff face owned by the Council to aid future maintenance.

174. Revised Working in Partnership Framework 

The Cabinet was advised that, in March 2016, it approved an updated Working in 
Partnership Framework for the Council which would be reviewed every three years. 

The Director (Corporate Services) advised that a recent review was undertaken resulting in a 
number of amendments being made to the Framework, as follows:-

 updates to reflect changes in officer titles;
 reference to the revised General Data Protection regulations and consideration of 

these when considering partnership and shared-working arrangements;
 inclusion of the principles that have been agreed across North Kent for the 

development of shared working arrangements; and
 inclusion within the Partnership Evaluation Form of specific consideration to 

Safeguarding obligations.

Page 5 Agenda Item 2



Cabinet 25.03.2019

2

The Cabinet was informed that the amendments were presented to the Performance and 
Administration Committee on 19 February 2019; the Committee was supportive of the 
amendments. 

Resolved that the Working in Partnership Framework for the Council, as attached at 
appendix two of the report, be approved for submission to Full Council for formal 
adoption. 

175. Purchase of the freehold interest in 35-36 New Road, Gravesend and a 
long leasehold interest in A1-A3 an B1-B4 Springhead Enterprise Park, 
Northfleet 

The Director (Corporate Services) advised that the Cross Party Working Group established 
to oversee and approve property acquisitions by the Council considered the acquisition of 
35-36 New Road, Gravesend and A1-A3 and B1-B4 Springhead Enterprise Park, Northfleet 
on 10 December 2018. Having considered all the papers including the surveyors’ reports, 
financial analysis and independent valuation reports, the Group provided approval for the 
purchases to proceed on the terms agreed.

The Director (Corporate Services) informed the Cabinet that approximately £22 million had 
been spent to date on property acquisitions. 

The Cabinet noted the report which provided details on each of the acquisitions.

176. Minutes of meeting of Gravesham Joint Transportation Board held on 
Wednesday 13 March 2019 

The Cabinet considered the minutes of the Gravesham Joint Transportation Board meeting 
held on Wednesday 13 March 2019. 

In relation to minute 104, concern was expressed regarding the length of time taken to 
resolve those issues listed particularly the cross hatching outside the Civic Centre and the 
lighting at Pepperhill roundabout. 

The Director (Environment and Operations) advised that he would arrange for the Parking 
Services Manager to liaise with Kent Highways and Transportation regarding the above 
being actioned as soon as practicable. 

The Chief Executive informed the Cabinet that Highways England propose to turn the 
unused lorry park near Nell’s Cafe into a temporary base as they prepare to start preliminary 
works on the Lower Thames Crossing including surveys and ground investigation works 
along the proposed route.

Highways England will be writing to those residents living near to the site to let them know 
about the proposals.  

Close of Meeting 

The meeting ended at 7.44pm

Page 6



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet
Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 3 June 2019 / 23 July 2019

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Provisional Outturn Report 2018/19

Purpose and summary of report:
To present:

 The 2018/19 provisional General Fund Revenue Outturn and movements in the 
General Fund working balances and earmarked reserves

 The 2018/19 provisional General Fund Capital Outturn
 The 2018/19 provisional Housing Revenue Account Revenue Outturn and movements 

in the Housing Revenue Account working balances and earmarked reserves
 The 2018/19 provisional Housing Revenue Account Capital Outturn

To update Members on other key arears of financial performance that may impact on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, HRA Business Plan 
or Financial Statements.

Recommendations:

1. This report is for information only.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Constitution of the Council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the 
Council’s finances and financial performance.  This report provides details of the 
provisional budget outturn for the 2018/19 financial year and complements the 2018/19 
Financial Statements for the authority which will subsequently be considered by the 
Finance & Audit Committee. 

1.2. During 2018/19 the Council continued to operate robust budgetary control actions to 
ensure good financial governance and respond to the pressures on the Council’s 
finances.  In addition to the reporting of financial performance through regular budget 
monitoring reports, these actions have included:

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to 
Management Team and Members as appropriate for discussion and approval;

 Management controls in approving purchase orders;

Page 7 Agenda Item 6



2

 Requiring recruitment activity (relating to both permanent and temporary 
appointments, and including use of overtime) to be considered and approved by 
Management Team;

 Monitoring the delivery of activity under the council’s Bridging the Gap strategy, 
as set out in the current Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).

Page 8



3

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

General Fund (Revenue)

2.1. The provisional outturn position for the year was an underspend of £1,518,700.  This 
position was generated primarily due to the proactive action taken by the Council during 
the year to realise base budget reductions through the delivery of Bridging the Gap and 
Balancing the Budget activity, as well as favourable year-end performance against some 
budget lines.  Action to manage vacancies and other workforce matters also resulted in 
employee-related costs being lower than originally anticipated.  This resulted in the 
Council not needing to call on Working Balances to balance the Council’s net position in 
the year as originally planned.

2.2. The level of Working Balances at year end was £9.29m (subject to audit), constituted of 
the minimum working balances of £1.25m, the General Fund reserve of £4m and usable 
Working Balances of £4.04m.  The level of Working Balances held by the Council has 
been boosted in the main from growth in the level of business rates retained, principally 
as a consequence of the Council being part of the Kent & Medway Business Rates Pilot 
during 2018/19 and the financially favourable outturn position.  

2.3. Movements in the year are to result in a net increase in earmarked reserves of £3.74m 
(subject to audit), with the level of reserves being £7.50m at start of year and projected 
to be £11.24m at year- end.  This increase is, in part, due to the benefit derived from the 
Council being part of the Kent Business Rates Pool and Kent & Medway Business Rates 
Pilot during 2018/19.

2.4. The principal risk to the General Fund’s financial position continues to come from the 
lack of clarity regarding the future of local government funding.  

General Fund (Capital)

2.5. The final outturn of the General Fund Capital Programme for the year was £13.35m, 
against budgeted expenditure of £17.72m.  Capital budgets totalling £4.23m have been 
carried forward to 2019/2020 (beyond those approved by Full Council in February), 
principally relating to the redevelopment of the St Georges Shopping Centre and the 
council’s Property Acquisition Strategy and land development plans.

HRA (Revenue)

2.6. At the end of the financial year, income and expenditure was balanced, with a net total 
positive variance of £1.11m against the original budget.  This has resulted in an equal 
and equivalent contribution being made to the General HRA Reserve at year-end.  The 
position was generated in the main due to a reduction in planned repairs and 
maintenance spend and savings against staffing budgets. 

2.7. The level of Working Balances at the end of the year remained at £3.0m, the minimum 
level of Working Balances for the HRA.  The significant risk to the HRA’s financial 
position continues to be the lack of clarity regarding funding and regulatory reform.  

Housing Capital

2.8. The final outturn of the Housing Capital Programme for the year was £11.60m, against 
budgeted expenditure of £14.90m.  Capital budgets totalling £1.91m have been carried 
forward to 2019/20 (beyond those approved by Full Council in February), principally 
relating to the maintenance of the Council’s housing stock and the provision of Disabled 
Facilities Grants.

Page 9



4

3. GENERAL FUND (REVENUE)

3.1. Budget 2018/19

3.1.1. The approved Original Budget Requirement for 2018/19 was £12,622,790, funded by 
retained Non-Domestic Rates, New Homes Bonus, Council Tax and use of £1,329,640 
Usable Working Balances, in accordance with the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

3.1.2. The provisional General Fund outturn against the Original Budget is presented in the 
    table below.  It should be noted that headings for directorates, reserves and    
    transactions below the line have been adjusted to neutralise the effect of year-end 
    accounting entries such as depreciation, and incorporate the correct accounting 
    treatment for reserves and grant income.  As a result, the table may not be directly 
    comparable to previous budget monitoring reports.

3.1.3. The original budget requirement upon which 2018/19 council tax levels were originally 
    set remains unchanged, and all other lines only include variances which CIPFA funding 
    regulations permit to be levied against council tax and business ratepayers.
  

Directorate / Budget Heading
Original 
Budget 

2018/19 (£)

Outturn 
2018/19 (£)

Variation 
2018/19 (£)

All Directorate - Salaries 10,243,130 9,762,150 (480,980)
Chief Executive (123,650) (125,320) (1,670)
Communities (457,640) (1,348,260) (890,620)
Corporate Services 2,677,630 2,081,230 (596,400)
Environment & Operations 1,723,030 1,359,470 (363,560)
Housing & Regeneration 43,050 (61,200) (104,250)
Non-Directorate Specific 1,092,180 1,092,180 0
Interest and Investment Income (676,990) (1,073,110) (396,120)
Government Grant Funding (904,470) (1,016,160) (111,690)
Transfers to/ (from) reserves 1,514,480 3,738,910 2,224,430
Transfers to/ (from) balances 1,035,980 1,793,340 757,360
Transactions below the line (3,543,940) (3,633,070) (89,130)
BUDGET REQUIREMENT 12,622,790 12,570,160 (52,630)

Business Rates Income (3,679,110) (5,145,180) (1,466,070)
Council Tax Income (6,705,200) (6,705,200) 0
Parish Precepts (323,120) (323,120) 0
Passported Parish Grant 1,040 1,040 0
New Homes Bonus (586,760) (586,760) 0
Transfers to/(from) the Collection Fund 0 0 0
Use of Working Balances (1,329,640) (1,329,640) 0
BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND) 0 (1,518,700) (1,518,700)

Table 1: General Fund Revenue Outturn by Directorate / Budget heading

 

3.2. ALL DIRECTORATE – SALARIES

Page 10



5

3.2.1 Staffing: £481k favourable variance – the council continued through the year to 
maintain a close analysis of staffing budgets through regular monitoring to Management 
Team and effective management of vacant posts and the staffing establishment. The 
budget for 2018/19 incorporated a vacancy allowance of £350k; the year-end position 
was an underspend of £831k, giving rise to the net favourable variance of £481k.

3.3. CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S DIRECTORATE – £2k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.3.1. Minor variances delivered a favourable net effect of £2k across the directorate.

3.4. COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE –  £891k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.4.1. Acquisition of site at Stuart Road, Gravesend:  £377k favourable variance – in June 
2017 Full Council gave approval for a second tranche of £10m from investment 
balances to be made available for purchases under the council’s existing Property 
Acquisition Strategy. In June 2018, the council completed the acquisition of the site at 
Stuart Road, Gravesend, currently tenanted by Wickes, which has provided a current 
year rental income stream of £377k. The projected full-year income from 2019/20 
onwards is £511k. 

3.4.2. Industrial Estates: £63k favourable variance – following activity to refine budgeting 
arrangements from annual rental income streams at Industrial Estates, net additional 
rental income for 2018/19 of £63k was realised compared to the original budget.

3.4.3. District Shopping Centres: £31k favourable variance – higher income received from 
shopping centres, combined with a general realignment of income budgets has 
produced a net favourable variance of £31k in 2018/19.

3.4.4. Reprographics: £30k favourable variance – this was the first full year since the 
centralised stock and ordering system was introduced, and this has resulted in greater 
than expected savings. There were also some reductions for paper/envelopes 
purchased across the year, combined with more competitive pricing from suppliers for 
the stock that was required. Additionally there were some one-off savings in 
departments’ support and maintenance costs realised through a reduction in the number 
of copiers in use. The combined effect of each factor has led to a favourable variance for 
2018/19 of £30k.

3.4.5. Acquisition of Units at Springhead Park: £25k favourable variance – as part of the 
council’s continuing Property Acquisition Programme, the purchase of several industrial 
units at Springhead Park was completed in February 2019. This has yielded a positive 
effect on the MTFP for 2018/19 of £25k.

3.4.6. Communications: £25k favourable variance – advertising and sponsorship income 
were greater than budgeted for the year leading to a favourable outturn position. Digital 
promotions through social media continue to be popular and cost effective, reducing 
overall advertising expenditure whilst expanding the audiences. The net effect is a year-
end favourable variance of £25k.

3.4.7. HR Shared Services: £23k favourable variance – as part of the Bridging The Gap 
activity identified within the MTFS, the council has explored various shared service 
opportunities in recent years. From 1 April 2018 a shared Human Resources service 
with Medway Council was established, producing an initial positive effect to the council’s 
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) of £23k. Going forward, as processes are 
harmonised and developed further, there may be scope for additional financial benefits, 

Page 11



6

which will be reported in due course. Additionally, the shared service provides greater 
resilience, for example enabling utilisation of the existing recruitment and training teams 
within Medway’s structure. 

3.4.8. Shared Licensing Manager: £20k favourable variance – prior to the fully shared 
Licensing Service with Medway Council going live on 1 January 2019, a shared 
manager arrangement between Gravesham and Medway was in operation. This 
generated a positive effect on the MTFP of £20k for 2018/19. 

3.4.9. Acquisition of site at 35-36 New Road, Gravesend: £13k favourable variance – as 
part of the Property Acquisition Programme, the council acquired in January 2019 the 
site at 35-36 New Road, Gravesend, currently tenanted by Bon Marche. This has 
secured income of £13k in 2018/19, with around £58k anticipated in 2019/20.

3.4.10. Network House: £9k favourable variance – there is a favourable year-end variance 
following additional service charge income in 2018/19 of £9k.

3.4.11. Borough Market: neutral variance – although there is no overall variation in the 
2018/19 outturn, it should be noted that the income position for the market was a year-
end deficit of £33k as a result of unit vacancies. There were, however, compensating 
underspends across staffing and running expense budgets e.g. on repairs and 
maintenance due to the building being relatively new.  These savings have offset the 
income deficit, resulting in an overall balanced budget.  

3.4.12. Legal & Information Governance Shared Services: £18k adverse variance – prior to 
General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) 2016/679 coming into implementation on 
25 May 2018, the council considered resourcing options in terms of managing the 
potential impact of GDPR changes. The result of this was a requirement to finance an 
additional post within the Legal & Information Governance shared service with Medway 
Council to support the council in responding to the enhanced challenges. 

3.4.13. Additionally, as a result of in-year underspends in Legal Services largely due to staff 
vacancies, there is a reduction in the council’s contribution to the Shared Service 
budget. The net effect of this underspend, and the additional GDPR cost described 
above, is an overall overspend for the service of £18k in 2018/19.

3.4.14. St George’s Shopping Centre rental income (pre-redevelopment agreement): 
£146k adverse variance – the Council holds the freehold interest of the St George’s 
Shopping Centre, though this had previously been subject to a 150-year lease to 
Queenridge Properties since 1982.  Under the terms of the lease the council received a 
“basic rent” of £195k per annum and an “additional rent” of 10% of the rents that 
Queenridge Properties received from the occupying tenants in excess of £1.95m per 
annum. To date, no additional rent has ever been payable.

3.4.15. At Cabinet in April 2018, the council agreed to enter into an agreement with Reef 
Estates Group for redevelopment of the St George’s Shopping Centre. Detailed financial 
modelling was undertaken, incorporating projected annual lease payments to Reef, 
returns made on the initial investment balance received by the Council, and rental 
income receivable from the centre. The expectation is that the inflows to the Council of 
rental and investment income will be equal, or more than equal, to the annual lease 
payments for the 50-year term of the lease. 

3.4.16. As a result of this change, the arrangement whereby the council received a “basic rent” 
of £195k per annum (as referenced in paragraph 3.4.14) for the Shopping Centre has 
now ceased and been replaced by the new income and expenditure forecasts. 
Resultantly, there is part-year adverse variance in 2018/19’s MTFP of £146k, with a full 

Page 12



7

year effect of £195k from 2019/20 onwards.  New arrangements for the running of the 
Heritage Quarter were covered within the financial modelling undertaken, and therefore 
it is projected that over the lifetime of the project, there will be both financial and non-
financial benefits to the Council of redeveloping the St George’s Shopping Centre.

3.4.17. St Georges’ Shopping Centre (post-redevelopment agreement): £422k favourable 
variance – following the redevelopment agreement as set out above, the Council has 
received rental income for the centre from June onwards during 2018/19. Additionally, a 
rent guarantee sum has been accrued from Reef as part of the redevelopment 
agreement, and investment income has been generated from the initial investment 
balance received. The net effect to the council of these income streams, less costs 
incurred relating to void units and non-recoverable service charges is £422k. This has 
been set aside at year-end in an earmarked reserve described further within section 
3.10 to safeguard against lost rental income, void periods and non-recoverable service 
charges during the construction phase.

3.4.18. Other Minor Variances: £17k favourable variance – a number of minor variances 
have been reported within the Communities Directorate; the net effect of these variances 
is £17k.

3.5. CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTORATE – £596k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.5.1. Housing Benefit overpayments: £244k favourable variance – as the total level of 
housing benefit overpayment debt has reduced, a lower bad debt provision is therefore 
required.  This revised charge, when compared to the original budget, has resulted in an 
underspend for the year. During the 2019/20 budget-setting process a review of all 
housing benefit budgets has been undertaken, designed to better project the ongoing 
position in respect of Housing Benefit, taking into account factors such as Universal 
Credit.

3.5.2. Interest Payable: £108k favourable variance – as a result of the current level of 
internal borrowing by the General Fund and following the agreement reached with Reef 
to redevelop the St George’s Centre, the Council has re-evaluated its loan pool 
arrangements.  This has determined that it would be equitable to both the General Fund 
and HRA to implement the move to the operation of two loan pools (one for the General 
Fund, one for the HRA), as included in the “Balancing the Budget – Additional Budget 
Initiatives” report presented to Cabinet on 12 November 2018, earlier than originally 
planned.  Early adoption of a two loans pool from 2018/19 has resulted in interest 
charges relating to General Fund debt being £108k less than originally budgeted.

3.5.3. Corporate Inflation Provision: £91k favourable variance – the Council holds a central 
fund for supplies and services inflation within the Corporate Services directorate to act 
as a safeguard against inflationary increases to contract payments and general supplies 
and services costs. In 2018/19, services were able to manage inflationary increases 
within existing budgets, resulting in a reduced call on this compared to the original 
budget, giving rise to an underspend of £91k.

3.5.4. Corporate Expenses: £77k favourable variance – following activity to refine budgetary 
arrangements including analysis of historic items held on the balance sheet, £77k has 
been released back to working balances in 2018/19. 

3.5.5. Reduced Sundry Debt bad debt provision: £29k favourable variance – following 
analysis of the year-end position for General Fund sundry debt, a reduced provision in 
2018/19 is required which has led to a £29k favourable variance.

Page 13



8

3.5.6. Central Telephones: £20k favourable variance –  as a result of reviewing telephone 
lines no longer used, combined with reduced costs of calls to mobile phones through 
use of a mobile network gateway, there is an underspend of £20k in 2018/19.

3.5.7. Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service: £17k favourable variance - an 
underspend in the service hosted at Medway Council has arisen, largely due to staff 
vacancies.  Although part of this saving was re-directed to upgrading the existing IT 
equipment to facilitate greater agile working and efficiencies, there is an overall 
reduction in Gravesham’s contribution to Medway Council for 2018/19 of £17k. 

3.5.8. External Audit Fee: £9k favourable variance – in April 2018 the Council received 
notification of the planned audit fee relating to the annual Statement of Accounts for 
2018/19. At £41k, which represents a reduction from the 2017/18 fee and previously 
budgeted figure of £53k. This has resulted in a positive effect to the General Fund MTFP 
of £9k, with the remaining £3k reflected as a saving within HRA budgets.

3.5.9. St George’s Centre professional services: neutral variance – as reported to Cabinet 
and Overview Scrutiny in May, the Council engaged professional services in areas such 
as legal, property, treasury management and taxation to advise on the termination of the 
Development Agreement with Queenridge Properties and the agreement between the 
Council and the Reef Estates Group for redevelopment of the St George’s Centre.  The 
£217k costs of these services are being met from the Growth Fund Reserve, which 
holds monies generated as a result of the Council being part of the Kent Business Rates 
Pool and is to be used to fund activity to promote economic growth. 

3.5.10. Other Minor Variances: £1k favourable variance – a number of minor variances have 
been reported within the Corporate Services Directorate; the net effect of these 
variances is £1k.

3.6. ENVIRONMENT & OPERATIONS DIRECTORATE –  £363k FAVOURABLE 
VARIANCE

3.6.1. Waste Recycling Support Payment: £221k favourable variance – the 2017/18 
payment received from KCC was £153k greater than estimated, and it is expected that 
the payment for 2018/19 will also be higher than the original budget.  The combined 
effect is a favourable variance in 2018/19 of £221k.

3.6.2. Garden Waste Collection Service: £80k favourable variance – the garden waste 
subscription service has continued to expand in 2018/19 with over 750 new customers 
joining during the early months of the year.  This additional volume, in conjunction with a 
review of the existing charging structure from 1 April 2018, has led to additional net 
income of £80k compared to the original budget. 

3.6.3. Car Parking: £49k favourable variance – due to in-year changes to resources and 
tariff structures, the income expected for 2018/19 was exceeded by an additional £49k.

3.6.4. Refuse Collection – KCC contribution: £45k favourable variance – KCC have 
reimbursed the council for the additional tipping-away costs (such as fuel and staffing) 
incurred due to the fire at the Pepperhill site in 2018. This income has offset staff 
overtime and additional fuel which was required for travelling further when the site was 
closed.

3.6.5. Bulky Waste & Special Collections: £12k favourable variance – there is surplus 
income from a combination of bulky waste and special collections compared to the 
original budget of £12k in 2018/19.

Page 14



9

3.6.6. Recycling credits & other income: £8k favourable variance – due to higher volumes 
than originally budgeted, there is combined surplus income of £8k in 2018/19 from 
recycling credits received from KCC, and miscellaneous sales of scrap equipment.

3.6.7. Waste & Street Cleansing fuel costs: £18k adverse variance – the cost of fuel 
continued to rise during 2018/19, with the result being a year-end overspend of £18k.

3.6.8. Security costs: £24k adverse variance – the Council was required to make use of 
additional security services during 2018/19 due to an increase in the number of security 
risks and unauthorised traveller encampments within parks and car parks in the 
borough.

3.6.9. Waste Freighter Vehicle parts: £29k adverse variance – there have been on-going 
reliability issues with the refuse vehicles which has resulted in higher maintenance costs 
than provided for within the original budget. Rectification of defects with these vehicles 
has required the purchase of replacement parts which has led to an adverse variance of 
£29k.  In the longer term, the plan to diversify the fleet of refuse vehicles in terms of 
make and model of vehicles used will help to minimise the risk of higher than anticipated 
vehicle maintenance costs.

3.6.10. Other Minor Variances: £19k favourable variance – a number of minor variances 
have been reported across the Environment & Operations Directorate; the net effect of 
these variances is £19k.

3.7. HOUSING & REGENERATION DIRECTORATE –  £104k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.7.1. Planning Pre-application enquires & Application Fees: £56k favourable variance – 
it is difficult to accurately estimate the scale of planning income that will be received over 
the financial year because the Council only has limited control over the applications that 
will be submitted.  For in-year forecasting, the method most commonly used is to 
analyse previous years and use those trends as a basis for the current year. Minor and 
other applications have comparatively steady volumes each year, the difference is the 
number and type of majors and these are the components which have greatly affected 
income in 2018/19.

3.7.2. Housing Services – Empty Properties: £30k favourable variance – this budget is 
held to cover legal fees to enable the Council to serve various legal notices, issue Empty 
Dwelling Management Orders, cover Land Registry fees or consider the Compulsory 
Purchase of empty properties and any minor works in default. This budget was not 
required during 2018/19 since no enforcement action relating to empty properties that 
attracted legal costs took place. Therefore there is an underspend for 2018/19 of £30k.

3.7.3. Southfield Shaw running expenses: £14k favourable variance – a net underspend 
across various running expense budgets has led to a favourable variance in 2018/19 of 
£14k. 

3.7.4. Homelessness: Neutral overall variance: (£236k net additional expenditure 
financed from grant income) – the introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act at 
the start of the financial year had an upward effect on the number of households the 
Council has a duty to assist.  

3.7.5. In Quarter Four of 2018/19 the Council was approached by 453 households requiring 
assistance to resolve their housing issues.  This resulted in 105 households being 
housed in temporary accommodation (including legacy cases) at year-end, a slight 
increase on the 92 households requiring such assistance at the end of Quarter Three. 

Page 15



10

Furthermore, in discharging the Council’s duties to prevent and relieve homelessness, 
48 cases were prevented from becoming homeless in Quarter Four at the prevention 
stage, by either being able to remain in their current accommodation or by securing 
alternative accommodation.  Similarly, 11 further cases were resolved at the relief stage, 
with these households moving into settled housing

3.7.6. At the end of Quarter 4, there were 165 open cases, of which 5 were at triage stage, 44 
at the prevention stage and a further 33 at the relief stage.  The increased demand for 
homelessness assistance has resulted in greater use of temporary accommodation than 
originally anticipated, with an additional £381k spent on providing temporary housing to 
households seeking assistance at outturn. With a limited supply of temporary 
accommodation within the social and private housing sectors, there has been an 
increase in the use of nightly paid temporary accommodation. This has moved from 11 
families at the end of 2017/2018 to 38 at the end of 2018/19, and at an average cost of 
£38.50 to £47 per night for a typical two bedroom property. 

3.7.7. During Quarter Three a Temporary Accommodation Reduction Strategy was introduced 
to reduce reliance on nightly paid accommodation. This has seen five additional units of 
two and three bedroom general needs housing added to the temporary accommodation 
stock, and seven families (who had been living in temporary accommodation for more 
than two years) moved into social housing by way of direct lets. During 2019/20 the aim 
is to secure five further units of (general needs) temporary accommodation and rehouse 
a further 13 families directly into social housing. The proposed demolition of the Valley 
Drive bedsits (which currently includes approximately 14 dwellings used for temporary 
accommodation) for redevelopment purposes, is expected to further increase demand 
for temporary accommodation during 2019/20.  The release of the 5 additional units is to 
assist in meeting the additional demand, with officers also exploring other supply options 
for temporary accommodation dwellings to meet this increase.

3.7.8. The additional temporary accommodation expenditure of £381k is partly offset by £101k 
Housing Benefit income, and £44k received from households who are ineligible for 
Housing Benefit. The remaining balance of £236k has been met by grant funding 
provided by central government to meet the anticipated new burdens the change in 
legislation would create, thus resulting in an overall neutral reported variance for the 
service. Officers continue to explore options for more effective cost management going 
forwards.

3.7.9. Other Minor Variances: £4k favourable variance – a number of minor variances have 
been reported across the Housing & Regeneration directorate; the net effect of these 
variances is £4k.

Page 16



11

3.8. ITEMS CARRIED FORWARD FROM 2017/18 – £146K

3.8.1. The following items from 2017/18 were approved for carry forward to 2018/19 by the 
Section 151 Officer and the Council’s Management Team: 

Table 2: Items Carried Forward from 2017/18

Page 17



12

3.9. INTEREST AND INVESTMENT INCOME – £396k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.9.1 The originally budgeted return for interest and investment income for 2018/19 was 
£627k.  

3.9.2 The Council has invested £10m in three Externally Managed Property Funds and a 
further £10m in three Multi-Asset Funds.  Dividends returns received for 2018/19 in 
relation to these investments have exceeded budgetary expectations.  The balance of 
the Council’s investments is held in fixed-term deposits, certificates of deposit and 
money market funds; again, the returns on these investments have performed above 
budget.  

3.9.3 On 2 August 2018 the Bank of England announced an increase in the base rate from 
0.50% to 0.75%, the highest level since March 2009. The net impact of this increase 
combined with the returns for Property Funds, Multi-Asset Funds and traditional 
investments described above, is additional income of £310k for 2018/19.

3.9.4 As part of the agreement for redevelopment of the St George’s Centre (as set out within 
the Communities Directorate), a sum of £14.2m was received by the Council to finance 
the capital works required. Under the terms of the agreement, the Council is able to 
invest and earn interest on this sum until it is fully expended, and the project completed. 
Investments have therefore been made in money market funds and certificates of 
deposit, which have generated an MTFP benefit of £86k income for 2018/19.

3.10    FUNDING STREAMS – £1,314k ADDITIONAL TRANSFERS

3.10.1 Government Grant Funding – Section 31 grants: £112k favourable variance – The 
outturn for Section 31 grants received to compensate the Council for various business 
rate reliefs granted has provided a net benefit to the MTFP in 2018/19 of £112k.

3.10.2 Transfers to/(from) reserves: £2,224k net additional transfer to reserves – this 
section comprises of the following items:

 NNDR Equalisation Reserve – in lieu of the Council’s anticipated payment to the 
Collection Fund required in 2019/20 (funded from this reserve), the opportunity is 
being taken in 2018/19 to top-up this reserve in advance by a further £136k 
compared to the original budget, thus ensuring that from 2019/20 onwards a 
level of £500k is maintained

 NNDR Growth Fund Reserve – membership of the Kent Business Rates Pool 
has generated £281k that has been transferred into the NNDR Growth Fund 
Reserve. This represents an additional £52k from what was previously 
anticipated, and is attributable to greater growth in Business Rates across Kent 
as a whole

 Housing and Commercial Growth Fund – membership of the Kent & Medway 
Business Rates Pilot scheme during 2018/19 has provided a distribution from the 
Housing and Commercial Growth Fund of £700k. This has been transferred to an 
earmarked reserve pending future expenditure.

 Commercial Income Protection Reserve – as the Council now has greater 
exposure to rental income streams, particularly since the commencement of the 
Property Acquisition Strategy designed at purchasing sites to generate a net 
income stream, it is felt prudent to set money aside to negate lost rental from 
void periods and provide for repair works required, service charges etc. 
Consequently a contribution of £414k has been made to the reserve in 2018/19, 

Page 18



13

with the reserve level for all years now reflecting 15% of the overall rental income 
projected for each year

 St George’s Income Protection Reserve – following on from the favourable 
variance relating to the St George’s Shopping Centre described within the 
Communities Directorate section, an equivalent sum of £422k has been 
transferred to this earmarked reserve. This will ensure that monies are set aside 
to negate lost rental income, void periods and non-recoverable service charges, 
particularly during the early phase of the project with construction and re-
enlivening works taking place. The full surplus generated of £422k has been 
transferred to the reserve, therefore resulting in no net overall variation to the 
Council

 Following analysis of the overall year-end outturn position, the opportunity has 
been taken to further assess earmarked reserve balances. Consequently, £200k 
has been transferred to the Corporate Priorities Reserve to support initiatives 
arising from the new Corporate Plan and £100k transferred to the IT 
Infrastructure Reserve to finance required telephony upgrades and Microsoft 
Office cloud based work. Additionally £50k has been added to each of the 
Planning Policy and Playground Reserves, and £100k to the Woodville Repairs 
Reserve to finance repair and maintenance related-works. 

3.10.3 Transfers to/(from) balances: £757k additional transfer to balances – this section 
comprises of the following items:

 Kent Business Rates Pilot – an additional £680k as set out in the Business Rates 
section below has been transferred directly to working balances

 Budgetary refinement arrangements – as set out within the Corporate Services 
section £77k has been released to balances. 

3.10.4 Transactions below the line – Minimum Revenue Provision: £89k favourable 
variance – the Council is required to pay off an element of the accumulated General 
Fund capital expenditure each year through a revenue charge known as Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP).  The budget for the 2018/19 MRP charge was set based on 
the assumption that internal cash balances of £5m would be utilised for Commercial 
Property Acquisition in 2017/18.  However, in 2017/18 capital expenditure, which 
required funding by utilising cash balances, totalled £2.1m, therefore this has reduced 
the MRP charge in 2018/19 by £89k.

3.10.5 Business Rates Income: £1,466k favourable variance – the council was part of the 
Kent & Medway Business Rates Pilot scheme for 2018/19, whereby the 50% of any 
business rate growth previously paid over to Central Government would instead be 
retained within Kent.  In setting the budget for 2018/19, the Council anticipated receiving 
£250k from the Financial Sustainability Fund established through the pilot, with this 
amount being transferred straight to working balances as a means of providing 
sustainability of the council’s financial position.  Following analysis of the provisional 
outturn for business rates across Kent, the result is a healthy position with further £680k 
benefit to the council from the Financial Sustainability Fund. This is also being applied 
directly to working balances (and therefore has a neutral effect on the MTFP “bottom-
line”), the effect of which can be found in the table in section 3.11.

3.10.6 In addition to the Financial Sustainability Fund described above, membership of the 
Kent & Medway Business Rates Pilot scheme for 2018/19 has provided a further benefit 
of £700k from the Housing and Commercial Growth Fund.  This was established to 

Page 19



14

provide resources to support future delivery, where outcomes can be better achieved by 
working across wider administrative areas.  Distribution of the Fund is overseen by three 
clusters of North Kent, West Kent and East Kent based on each cluster's collective 
Business Rates Baselines.  For the North Kent cluster (incorporating Gravesham, 
Dartford, Maidstone Swale and Medway), the distribution from the Fund is expected to 
be £5.89m in 2018-19, of which the share due to Gravesham is £700k. This amount will 
be held in an earmarked reserve pending future expenditure, and therefore has a neutral 
effect on the MTFP overall for 2018/19.

3.10.7 As part of the provisional finance settlement, the Government announced a one-off 
distribution from the NNDR levy account surplus, which for Gravesham was £45k. 
Additionally, adjustments to the tariff baseline mechanism were made in 2018/19, 
resulting in a further net receipt of £41k.

3.10.8 Therefore the total variation for this section comprises of the £680k benefit from the Kent 
Business Rates Pilot, £700k from the Housing and Commerical Growth Fund and a net 
combination of £86k from the levy account and tariff baseline distributions – an overall 
favourable variance in 2018/19 of £1,466k.

3.11    Working Balances and Reserves

3.11.1 The variances and Carried Forward items outlined in this report have the following effect 
upon the General Fund working balances:

Balance Brought Forward from 2017/18 7,305,450 
New Homes Bonus (Straight to working balances) 586,760 
NNDR Income - Kent Pilot & Pool (Straight to working balances) 449,220 
NNDR Income - Additional growth in Kent Pilot 680,000 
Budgetary refinement activity 77,360 
Budgeted use of Working Balances to support the General Fund (1,329,640)
Variances per budget report (Incl.items Bfwd from 2017/18) 1,518,700 
Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 31 March 2019) including Minimum GF 
Working Balance 9,287,850 
Less: Minimum GF balance (1,250,000)
Less: Additional General Fund Reserve (4,000,000)

Usable Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 31 March 2019) 4,037,850 

Working Balances £

 Table 3: Effect on General Fund Balances

Page 20



15

3.11.2 The general working balance is supplemented by specific reserves, established to assist 
with future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of the 
forecast movements on these specific reserves during the year.

Opening Actual Actual Closing
General Fund Earmarked Reserves Balance Use of Reserve Contributions Balance

01/04/2018 (Expenditure) (Income) 31/03/2019
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Planning Policy Reserve 393 (73) 100 420 
Asset Enhancement Reserve 904 (55) 528 1,377 

 Spend to Save Reserve (Incl.Digital Team) 148 9 157 
Leisure Centres Reserve 1,007 (56) 375 1,326 
Corporate Priorities Reserve 140 (30) 200 310 
Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 91 (5) 13 99 

 Local Authority Mortgage Scheme (LAMS) Reserve 100 (50) 50 
Elections Reserve 149 23 172 

 NNDR Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 500 166 666 
IT Infrastructure Reserve 85 220 305 

 DSO Vehicle Capital Reserve 31 (52) 435 414 
 Freighter Replacement Reserve 559 221 780 
NNDR Growth Fund Reserve 447 (250) 281 478 

 Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 150 150 
Woodville Repairs Reserve 57 (44) 157 170 
Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500 500 
Housing & Commerical Growth Fund --  700 700 
St George's Income Protection Reserve --  422 422 

 Commerical Income Protection Reserve 100 (89) 413 424 
 Service Review Reserve 258 (11) 247 
 Playgrounds Reserve 100 67 167 
Decriminalisation Reserve 42 43 85 
Sub-total - Specific Earmarked Reserves 5,761 (715) 4,373 9,419 

 Revenue Grants not yet applied 1,737 (332) 414 1,819 

Total - All Earmarked Reserves 7,498 (1,047) 4,787 11,238 

Table 4: Analysis of Specific Reserves

3.11.3 Significant or new approved use of reserves, other than those already referred to in 
section 3.10 include:

3.11.4 Planning Policy Reserve – £73k has been released from the Planning Policy reserve to 
cover expenditure incurred in 2018/19 associated with the Local Plan. 

3.11.5 DSO Vehicle Capital Reserve – a contribution of £330k has been made to the reserve 
in 2018/19 funded from the repairs & maintenance underspend within HRA budgets. 
This will finance additional vehicles required as part of the expansion of the Council’s 
Housing Repairs service.

3.11.6 NNDR Growth Fund Reserve – £250k has been released to fund the provision of 
specialist professional services associated with the redevelopment of the St George’s 
Centre (Corporate Services). 

3.11.7 Revenue Grants not yet applied – significant movements include:

 A net transfer of £39k relating to Homelessness Grants has been released into 
2018/19 to fund temporary accommodation costs

Page 21



16

 £38k Revenues & Benefits grants released to fund temporary staffing and 
system upgrade costs

 £21k released into the Communities Directorate to fund a War Memorials project

 £20k released from the Waste Grant to fund Depot improvement works

 £154k received from the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 
as a contribution to fund preparations for Brexit.

3.11.8 Lower Thames Crossing – the purpose of the reserve has been reviewed and updated 
to reflect the current status of the decision making process for the proposed Crossing.  
The reserve will provide for any costs incurred by the Authority in relation to 
assessing/seeking mitigation of any potential environmental or other impacts on the 
borough and its residents of the Secretary of State’s preferred route for a new Lower 
Thames Crossing.

3.12 Medium Term Financial Planning

3.12.1 The General Fund has ended the 2018/19 financial year in a strong position, principally 
due to the Council pressing ahead with its proactive Bridging the Gap programme of 
activity to respond to the unrelenting financial challenges facing local government.  This 
programme was expanded in November 2018 to include a further £1.3m of Balancing 
the Budget initiatives to respond to further budget pressures identified at the start of the 
2018 calendar year.  

3.12.2 The Council had also benefitted from being part of the Kent & Medway Business Rates 
Pilot in 2018/19; the Council played a key role in developing the bid to central 
government and securing this benefit for the whole of Kent.

3.12.3 The financial environment within which the Council operates will remain challenging and 
with yet more uncertainty in 2019/20.  Despite it being less than nine months until the 
Council has to set its budget for the 2020/21 financial year, the final design of long-term 
funding arrangements are unclear with the outcomes of the 2019 Spending Review, Fair 
Funding Review and the final design of the Business Rates Retention System unlikely to 
be known until Autumn 2019.  The delay in the UK leaving the European Union and the 
impact of any decision on this during 2019 may create further pressure on political 
processes and the financial standing of the Council.  

Page 22



17

4 GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1 The following table details the final outturn for the General Fund Capital Programme and 
the revised original budget for 2019/20, taking into consideration adjustments for carried 
forward items approved by the Section 151 Officer and Management team, and subject to 
audit.

Scheme

2018/19 
Original 

Budget inc 
C/Fwd              

£

2018/19 
Approved 

Adjustments                        
£

2018/19 
Working 
Budget                    

£

2018/19 Final 
Outturn                  

£
Variance         

£

Estimated 
C/fwd 

approved at 
Council for 

2019-20          
£

Additional 
C/Fwd 

and Adj's 
to 2019/20            

£

2019/20 
Original 
Budget 

including 
C/Fwd                 

£
AV Equipment, Council Chamber 0 39,910 39,910 35,997 (3,913) 0 0 0
Back up Generator 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 75,000
Brookvale Office Accommodation 1,500,000 (1,400,000) 100,000 137,104 37,104 1,400,000 (37,100) 1,362,900
Cascades Replacement Flumes 0 100,000 100,000 0 (100,000) 0 100,000 100,000
Civica Financial System upgrade 22,070 0 22,070 23,315 1,245 0 0 0
Envelope Filling Equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0 20,000
Essential Repairs to Buildings 99,000 0 99,000 63,094 (35,906) 0 35,900 465,400
Gatekeeper Replacement 50,000 (50,000) 0 0 0 50,000 0 50,000
Gravesend Cemetery Improvements 21,580 0 21,580 0 (21,580) 0 21,580 21,580
Heritage Assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 328,500
Heritage Quarter - St George's Centre 0 3,104,080 3,104,080 293,709 (2,810,371) 0 2,810,370 8,272,010
Information at Work - Retention Module Software 13,970 0 13,970 13,965 (5) 0 0 0
IT Equipment Air Conditioning Unit 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 40,000
IT Equipment Review 50,540 0 50,540 24,753 (25,787) 0 0 0
Land Acquisiton Programme 0 239,620 239,620 243,760 4,140 0 0 3,658,810
Land at Dering Way 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,735,000
Local Enterprise Partnership Projects 56,920 0 56,920 0 (56,920) 0 0 0
New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling 100,000 0 100,000 0 (100,000) 0 100,000 100,000
Older Persons Champion 6,410 0 6,410 1,028 (5,382) 0 0 0
Parking Machines 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 251,200
Parrock St Car Park - Toilet Block (Provision) 34,220 (34,220) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Parrock Street Car Park Resurfacing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 150,000
Property Acquisition Programme 9,141,200 3,871,400 13,012,600 12,054,219 (958,381) 0 958,380 3,286,980
Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) 205,000 0 205,000 152,132 (52,868) 0 52,870 587,870
Queen Elizabeth II Statue 38,650 0 38,650 17,411 (21,240) 0 0 0
Replacement Artificial Sports Pitches 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50,000
Replacement Playground Programme 220,000 (102,300) 117,700 117,695 (5) 102,300 0 185,300
Roller Brake Testing 0 30,000 30,000 26,333 (3,667) 0 0 0
St John's House - Refurbishment 70,000 0 70,000 73,372 3,372 0 0 0
Town Pier Pontoon 84,000 0 84,000 57,580 (26,420) 0 0 0
Virtual Desktop Infrastructure Software 8,800 0 8,800 8,869 69 0 0 0
Waste & Horticulture back office system 200,000 0 200,000 7,055 (192,945) 0 192,950 192,950

11,922,360 5,798,490 17,720,850 13,351,391 (4,369,459) 1,552,300 4,234,950 23,933,500

Table 5: General Fund Capital Programme 2018/19

 AV Equipment Council Chamber – all remaining major work for the project has been 
completed. Hearing loops in all committee rooms including the Council Chamber have 
been replaced. There are some minor tasks still outstanding by the supplier and 
comprehensive instructions on how to use all equipment is being developed

 Brookvale Office Accommodation – works have commenced at the Brookvale Depot 
to prepare the site for development, which is now planned to take place in 2019/20

 Cascades Replacement Flumes – this scheme will now take place in 2019/20.  GCLL 
are currently liaising with the mould making company for the original flumes and an 
updated condition report and costs for refurbishment/replacement is likely to be received 
within the next 6-8 weeks from this supplier

 Civica Financials System Upgrade – the works required to upgrade the server hosting 
the Council’s financial systems and the reporting and operations element of the system 
were completed in February 2019 

 Essential Repairs to Buildings – the LED lights have now been installed in the Civic 
Centre car park.  Legal Services are in contact with the consultant and the contractor 
who carried out the concrete repair works to attempt to resolve the dispute

Page 23



18

 Gravesend Cemetery Improvements – the new cemetery software is currently being 
implemented

 St George’s Shopping Centre – work commenced on the re-enlivenment of the mall 
areas of the centre in March 2019.  The project is progressing as planned, with an 
anticipated completion date of July 2019

 Information at Work - Retention Module Software – the module was successfully 
installed in 2018/19

 IT Equipment review – work on this project is now complete.  The total cost came in 
under the original budget

 Land Acquisition Programme – there has been no further activity under this 
programme in Quarter Four.  Spend in the year relates to the acquisition earlier in the 
year of land at Dering Way and a small town centre site

 New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling – a review is taking place looking at blocks of 
flats to determine the number of bins required.  This project has slipped into 2019/20

 Older Persons Champion – the budget for a number of projects was carried forward 
from 2017/18.  Two new benches have been installed at Portreeve Court.  The match 
funding for Age UK North West Kent bathroom refurbishment has not yet been 
requested

 Property Acquisition Programme – in the last quarter of the financial year the Council 
secured a further two planned acquisitions – the long leasehold of Units A1-A3 and B1 
to B4 Springhead Enterprise Park, and the Freehold of 35-36 New Road.  These 
acquisitions will deliver a combined annual rental income to the Council of £275k  

 Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) – all the fleet vehicles ordered for 2018/19 have 
now been delivered and the fleet renewal plan is now being updated ready for 2019/20

 Queen Elizabeth II Statue – expenditure on the Queen’s statue has been wholly funded 
from third-party contributions. The Right Reverend James Langstaff, Bishop of 
Rochester and Bishop to H.M. Prisons unveiled the statue jointly with the Leader of the 
Council on 26th July 2018

 Replacement Playground Programme – agreement has been given to update a 
number of sites including Central Avenue, Durndale Lane, Waterton Avenue and 
Wombwell Park.  The procurement for these sites is currently being undertaken.  The 
sites will be installed during 2019

 Roller Brake Testing – the equipment has now been delivered and is fully operational. 
The project has been completed

 St John’s House Refurbishment – refurbishment works were completed in early 
November and the premises has been let on a 10-year fully repairing and insuring lease 
with effect from 21 December 2018

 Town Pier remedial works – works have now been completed.  The tenant was 
invoiced for the works in December 2018

 Virtual Desktop Infrastructure software – the work on the “Workspace Suite” phase 
for mobile devices has now been completed

Page 24



19

 Waste & Horticulture Back Office System – stage 1 of the new Bartec system has 
been implemented which has included the installation of in-cabs units for all refuse and 
recycling vehicles, automation and changes to the payment system for garden waste.

4.1 Capital Resources

4.1.1 The table below shows the General Fund resources available to fund capital projects in 
the future:

General Fund Capital Resources

Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2018                 
£

Actual    
Income        
2018/19                           

£           

Use of 
Funding 
2018/19                                                          

£       

Closing 
Balance 

31/03/2019           
£

Capital Receipts (1,145,475) (6,670) 226,990 (925,155)
S106 Capital Contributions (274,494) (259,462) 2,900 (531,056)
Capital Grants unapplied (588,280) 0 257,986 (330,294)
Total Capital Resources (2,008,249) (266,132) 487,876 (1,786,505)

Table 6: General Fund Capital Resources 2018/19

Capital Grants Unapplied

Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2018                 
£

Actual      
Income        
2018/19                           

£           

Use of 
Funding 
2018/19              

£

Closing 
Balance 

31/03/2019              
£

Public Realm Improvement & Maint Funds (213,540) 0 213,540 0
Transport Quarter Stage 3 (223,610) 0 44,446 (179,164)
Localised Council Tax Support (89,220) 0 0 (89,220)
Local Enterprise Partnership Funding (6,910) 0 0 (6,910)
Land at South of Hever Court Road (55,000) 0 0 (55,000)
Total Capital Grants Unapplied (588,280) 0 257,986 (330,294)

Table 7: Capital Grants Unapplied 2018/19

Page 25



4.1.2 The table below lists the S106 developer contributions currently held by the council.  These contributions are treated as specific grants as 
they have conditions attached to their use.

S106 Developer Contributions General 
Fund          

£
HRA               

£

Third Party 
Contributions     

£ 

Total S106 
Income 
2018/19                  

£

Purpose of S106

Infrastructure Maintenance Depot (IMD) 
Compensation fund (2,594) 0 0 (2,594)

This grant fund was established by money secured from Union Rail the 
developers of the Channel Tunnel Rail Link. The original contribution was 
£242,000. Its aim is to support the delivery of landscape access, wildlife and 
recreation schemes in the Wards and Parishes affected by the development. 

Land at the South of Hever Court Road 0 0 (80,000) (80,000) Highways contribution.

Whitehill Open Space (52,000) 0 0 (52,000)

Towards qualitative improvements to the wider Whitehill amenity space. These 
funds might be put towards a number of potential opportunities including, for 
example, new seating, footpath improvements, new planting and/or the levelling of 
the retained amenity space to the north of the proposed development.

Land South of Dalefield Way, Dering Way (67,000) 0 0 (67,000)
Flood Risk Management - £12,000, Bus Shelter - £5,000, £50,000 Cascades 
Leisure Contribution.

Whitehill Road   0 0 (1,000) (1,000) Highways contribution

Springhead Leisure Contribution (150,000) 0 0 (150,000)
To provide additional and/or improved play facilities at the Recreational ground 
and if not expended in 7 years after payment any unspent sum should be repaid

Bluewater - Gravesend Town Centre Improvements (259,462) (259,462)
A scheme to improve or enhance the environmental setting, visitor and shopper 
experience, and / or attractiveness of Gravesend Town Centre.

Total S106 Contributions (531,056) 0 (81,000) (612,056)

Table 8: S106 Contributions 2018/19

P
age 26



5 HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 

5.1 Budget 2018/19

5.1.1 The table below sets out the provisional year-end position against the original budget 
for the Housing Revenue Account (HRA), based on variances during 2018/19.

5.1.2 At 31 March 2019 there was a net total positive variance of £1.110m against the 
original budget.

Description
Original 
Budget 

2018/19 (£)

Outturn    
2018/19 (£) Variation (£)

Supervision and Management 6,014,770 5,947,540 (67,230)
Repairs and Maintenance 7,766,870 7,520,990 (245,880)
Depreciation 6,813,840 6,789,920 (23,920)
Supporting People Fund - Expenditure 667,200 531,770 (135,430)
Capital Finance 6,539,560 7,182,460 642,900
Sub Total Expenditure 27,802,240 27,972,680 170,440
Rents of Dwellings (25,298,700) (25,715,250) (416,550)
Other Rental Income (33,370) (59,490) (26,120)
Service Charges (1,380,300) (1,473,360) (93,060)
Non Dwelling Income (327,130) (312,020) 15,110
Supporting People Fund - Income (521,640) (489,450) 32,190
Other Income (112,260) (904,730) (792,470)
Sub Total Income (27,673,400) (28,954,300) (1,280,900)
Contributions to/(from) reserves (128,840) 981,620 1,110,460
Net Surplus/Deficit 0 0 0

Table 9: Housing Revenue Account 2018/19

5.2 SUPERVISION & MANAGEMENT –  £67k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

5.2.1 Vacancy Management: £573k favourable variance – the HRA staffing budget for 
2018/19 incorporated a vacancy allowance of £100k for the year.  It was anticipated 
that this would occur throughout the establishment as a whole from natural staff 
turnover within day-to-day business activities, as well as posts held vacant pending 
the re-design of services.  The year-end position is an underspend of £673k, 
therefore giving rise to the net favourable variance of £573k.  Whilst the majority of 
this underspend is attributable to the Supervision and Management budget line, there 
is an element of the saving that is incorporated in the Repairs and Maintenance 
budget line.

5.2.2 New Build Preliminary Costs: £234k adverse variance – the Council incurred 
unbudgeted preliminary costs relating to the development of a New Build scheme at 
Whitehill Road where planning permission has not yet been granted.  Under the 
terms of the 1-4-1 agreement with MHCLG, until planning permission is obtained, 
these costs cannot be capitalised and funded from 1-4-1 receipts.  Once planning 
permission is granted these costs can be funded from capital resources.

5.2.3 Stock Condition Survey: £20k adverse variance – it was agreed to increase the 
number of properties included in the 2018/19 stock condition survey from 1,000 to 
2,000 properties.  This brought forward work proposed for 2019/20 and will produce 
enhanced financial information which will improve the quality of future financial 
projections on repairs and maintenance spend to inform both the revenue and capital 

Page 27



22

programme for 2019/20 and beyond.  The cost of the additional properties to be 
surveyed has resulted in an additional cost of £20k.

5.2.4 Accounting Adjustments: £218k adverse variance – two technical year-end 
accounting adjustments relating to IAS19 (pension scheme liability) and accumulated 
absences have an adverse effect on the Supervision and Management budget line.  
However, the opposite side of these adjustments are reported as underspends within 
the Capital Finance budget line.  As a result there is no overall negative impact on 
the HRA of this adverse variance.

5.2.5 Other Minor Variances: £34k adverse variance – a number of minor variances 
were recorded within Supervision and Management; the net effect of these variance 
was an overspend of £34k.

5.3 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE – £246k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

5.3.1 Repairs & Maintenance: £240k – favourable variance – as reported through 
2018/19, significant changes within the Responsive Repairs Team continue to deliver 
efficiencies and savings whilst providing an equitable service that meets the 
Council’s objectives as a landlord as well as managing tenants’ expectations.  The IT 
system that was introduced continues to support the evolution of the service.  It has 
created further opportunities to work in smarter ways to deliver efficiencies and 
savings, underpinned and reinforced by the introduction of the new and updated 
policies that ensure that only necessary work is carried out and that any works above 
and beyond the responsibility of the Council are paid for by the tenant. These 
changes align to recommendations of the Overview Scrutiny Committee; Housing 
Repairs Topic Review (Part 2). On 8 October 2018, a decision was made by the 
Cabinet to expand the in-house Building Management Team; as a consequence of 
this decision a contribution was made to the Vehicle Replacement Reserve to offset 
the capital cost of new vehicles required for the additional staff.  

5.3.2 Other Minor Variances: £6k favourable variance – a number of minor variances 
have been reported within Repairs & Maintenance, the net effect of these variances 
is £6k.

5.4 DEPRECIATION – £24K FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

5.4.1 Depreciation: £24k favourable variance – the depreciation charge for the year was 
lower than budgeted.  The depreciation charge is recycled through the Major Repairs 
Reserve and used as a funding source for future capital works.

5.5 SUPPORTING PEOPLE EXPENDITURE – £135k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

5.5.1 Supporting People – £135k favourable variance – in light of the cessation of 
funding from KCC for Supporting People, the service was redesigned for 2018/19.  
The expenditure was lower than originally budgeted, primarily as a result of Warden 
vacancies that have remained in the establishment during the course of the year.

5.6 CAPITAL FINANCE – £642k ADVERSE VARIANCE

5.6.1 Interest Payable: £66k – adverse variance – following the early adoption of a two 
loans pool from 1 April 2018, the interest charges relating to HRA debt is £66k more 
than originally budgeted.

5.6.2 Accounting Adjustments: £577k adverse variance – the opposite side of the two 
technical year-end accounting adjustments referred to in Para 5.2.4 has a favourable 

Page 28



23

variance on the Capital Financing budget line of £218k.  Furthermore, in financing the 
capital programme, accounting entries totalling £795k, which relate to the use of 
S106 grants and a revenue contribution to capital (RCCO) are included under the 
capital financing budget line.  The opposite side of the S106 adjustment (£776k) is 
reversed through the Other Income budget line so there is no negative effect on the 
HRA account.

5.7 RENTS ON DWELLINGS – £417k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

5.7.1 Rents on Dwellings: £273k – favourable variance – the final position was 
influenced by an increase in the number of affordable rented properties as a result of 
new properties built or purchased under the New Build Programme.

5.7.2 Debt impairment Provision: £144k – favourable variance – due to the roll out of 
Universal Credits, the provision for bad debt was increased to reflect the potential 
impact of increased rent arrears due to benefits being paid directly to tenants.  Whilst 
the level of arrears has increased, the provision made for the year (based on the 
debts outstanding as at 31 March 2019) was £144k below the level budgeted.

5.8 OTHER RENTAL INCOME: £26k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

5.8.1 Minor Variances: £26k favourable variance – there are small variances on a 
number of budget lines within Other Rental Income which total to give a favourable 
variance of £26k.

5.9 SERVICE CHARGES: £93k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

5.9.1 Service Charges: £93k favourable variance – the favourable variance at year-end 
resulted from the collection of service charge contributions from both HRA and 
Leasehold tenants.

5.10 NON DWELLING INCOME: £15k ADVERSE VARIANCE

5.10.1 Non Dwelling Income: £15k adverse variance – there are a number of minor 
variances within Non Dwelling Income, the net effect of these variances is £15k.

5.11 SUPPORTING PEOPLE FUND - INCOME: £32k ADVERSE VARIANCE

5.11.1 Supporting People Income: £32k adverse variance – funding from KCC to support 
this service ceased in March 2018 and as a result, the budget for 2018/19 was based 
on a number of assumptions.  An adverse budget variance has arisen during 2018/19 
and as a consequence officers are closely monitoring this area to identify if further 
budget modifications are required going forward.

5.12 OTHER INCOME: £792k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

5.12.1 Accounting Adjustments: £776k favourable variance – the opposite side of the 
S106 accounting adjustment referenced in Para 5.2.4 has a favourable variance on 
Other Income.

5.12.2 Investment Income: £14k favourable variance – the HRA share of investment 
income was £14k higher than budgeted.

Page 29



24

5.12.3 Other Minor Variances: £2k favourable variance – there are a number of budget 
lines within Other Minor Variances which total to give a favourable variance of £2k.

5.13 Working Balances and Reserves

5.13.1 The variances and Carried Forward items outlined in this report have the following 
effect upon the General Fund working balances:

Working Balances £

Balance Brought Forward from 2017/18 3,000,000
Variances per budget report 981,620
Forecast working balances C/Fwd (as at 31 March 2019) including 
minimum HRA Working Balance 3,981,620

Less: Transfer to HRA General Reserve (Revenue) (981,620)
Forecast Usable Working Balances C/fwd (as at 31 March 2019) 3,000,000

Table 10: Effect on Housing Revenue Account Working Balances

5.13.2 The working balances are supplemented by specific reserves established to assist 
with future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of 
the forecast movements on these specific reserves during the year.

General Fund Reserves

Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2017 
£'000

Forecast 
Contributions 

(Income) 
£'000

Forecast Use 
of Reserve 

(Expenditure) 
£'000

Forecast 
Balance 

31/03/2018 
£'000

HRA General Reserve (7,441) (982) 2,338 (6,085)
Total (7,441) (982) 2,338 (6,085)
Table 11: Analysis of Specific Reserves – HRA

Page 30



25

6 HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

6.1 The following table details the final outturn for the Housing Capital Programme and 
the revised original budget for 2019/20, taking into consideration adjustments for 
carried forward items approved by the Section 151 Officer and Management Team, 
and subject to audit.

Ref No: Scheme

2018-19 
Original 

Budget inc 
C/fwd

2018-19 
Final 

Outturn
Variance

Estimated 
C/Fwd 

approved at 
Council for 

2019-20

C/fwd to 
2019-20

2019-20 
Original 

Budget inc 
C/fwd

A Replacement Programmes 4,017,940 3,050,510 (967,430) 0 383,140 4,920,550
B Improvement Programmes 2,228,320 2,231,870 3,550 0 0 2,069,290
C Health & Safety Works 1,110,420 449,690 (660,730) 0 636,450 1,773,980
D New Build & Acquisitions 5,326,780 5,039,480 (287,300) 0 197,300 7,662,300
E Housing Computer Systems 600,000 0 (600,000) 600,000 0 600,000
F Virtual Desktop Infrastructure 2,930 2,960 30 0 0 0
G Replacement Play Equipment 80,000 0 (80,000) 80,000 0 80,000
H IT Equipment Review 16,850 8,250 (8,600) 0 0 0

Sub Total (HRA Capital Programme) 13,383,240 10,782,760 (2,600,480) 680,000 1,216,890 17,106,120
I Disabled Facilities Grant 1,514,590 820,990 (693,600) 0 693,600 1,526,400

Total (HRA & GF Capital Programme) 14,897,830 11,603,750 (3,294,080) 680,000 1,910,490 18,632,520

Table 12: Housing Capital Programme 2018/19

6.2 The total capital budget for 2018/19 was £14,897,830 of which £13,383,240 related 
to HRA capital schemes and £1,514,590 related to non-HRA capital schemes.  
These budgets included £231,230 and £544,140 respectively that were carried 
forward from 2017/18.

6.3 The focus of the 2018/19 HRA capital programme was to maintain a minimum decent 
homes standard for the Council’s housing stock, with £7,356,680 earmarked for this 
purpose across the Replacement, Improvement and Health & Safety Programmes.  
After taking into account the proposed carried forward amounts, across these three 
programmes there are savings of £605k at the end of the financial year.  Reduced 
replacement costs on kitchens and bathrooms have contributed towards these 
savings.

6.4 The Council also continued its commitment to build new homes with £5,326,780 
allocated for this purpose.

6.5 The works undertaken/completed in 2018/19 are detailed below.

6.5.1 Replacement Programmes (Ref A) – the following works have been completed in 
2018/19:

 171 kitchen replacements

 119 bathroom replacements

 125 properties had new window and door replacements

 one block had communal windows and doors replaced

 857 properties had electrical tests and/or remedial works including rewiring, 
minor works and upgrades to consumer units

 103 blocks have had communal electrical tests and/or remedial works 
completed

 eight residential blocks had the roofing completely replaced

 12 domestic properties have had roof renewals.

Page 31



26

6.5.2 Improvement Programmes (Ref B) – the following works have been completed in 
2018/19:

 359 properties had new central heating systems installed

 19 properties had new storage heating installed

 45 properties had level access showers/wet rooms installed

 23 properties had over-bath installations

 28 stairs lifts were installed in properties

 5 properties had various adaptations completed including accessible kitchens, 
bathrooms and ramps

 16 properties received renewed soakaways

 15 properties had major renovations works completed

 2 properties were converted from a 1 to 2 bedroom unit

 1 block had major works carried out on the mains water supply

 A major refurbishment project commenced at Park Place on all 6 blocks which 
included renewal of flat roofs, upgrades to the stairways and new/re-surfacing 
to walkways.

6.6 Health & Safety Works (Ref C) –  the following works have been completed in 
2018/19:

 Compartmentalisation works have been carried out in the basement of The 
Hive.  The works were agreed as a preventative measure to help contain the 
spread of flames in the event of a fire.  In addition, works have also been 
carried out to protect the gas and electrical meters situated in the basement

 5 passenger lifts had various works carried out including major modernisation 
works to two lifts

 336 properties had smoke alarm installations completed

 17 blocks have had upgrades to the warden call/door entry systems

 Retrofitting of a Fire Sprinkler system has commenced at Homemead.

6.7 New Build (Ref D)

6.7.1 The Authority signed an agreement with the DCLG to retain part of the Right To Buy 
(RTB) receipts and use them as part-funding of new build and/or acquisition of 
additional social housing.  The following is the reported position at the end of Quarter 
Two:

 The 10 unit scheme at Packham Road (now known as Alders Court) is now 
complete with 6 x 2 bed houses; 3 x 1 bed bungalows and 1 x 2 bed 
wheelchair compliant bungalow all now occupied

 The Council continues to consider the purchase of RTB properties and flats in 
blocks where GBC are the freeholder.  A total of 9 properties have been 
purchased during 2018/19, bringing the cumulative purchases to date to 39 
properties

 The conversion of the Kings Farm Estate Office to a 4-bed wheelchair home 
was  completed and the property occupied in 2018/19

Page 32



27

 Planning permission for the conversion of two former sheltered scheme 
managers’ flats has been granted.  The 2 vacant flats will provide 4 x 1 bed 
flats for older people;

 Westridge Construction Limited has commenced work at St Hilda’s Way and 
the demolition of the former depot and garages is underway.  The scheme is 
set to deliver 10 x 1 and 2 bed flats, 4 x 2 bed maisonettes and 32 x 2 bed 
houses.  The project is expected to complete in Winter 2019

 Following a tender via the South East Consortium, a contract has been 
awarded to Westridge Construction Limited to deliver 24 x 1 and 2 bed flats 
and 8 x 3 bed houses on land at Whitehill and Nansen Road.  The former 
Tenant’s Association building on the site has now been demolished and 
construction works will commence in July 2019

 A full planning application has been submitted for the Council’s next new build 
scheme at Valley Drive.  Subject to planning, this scheme will deliver 32 x 1 
bed flats for over 55s and 16 x 1, 2 and 3 bed general needs flats

 Three further schemes are at the pre-application stage for sites at Rembrandt 
Drive/Constable Road, St Patrick’s Gardens and St Dunstan’s Drive, which if 
successful, will increase our housing stock by an additional 35 homes

 Continued consideration is given to other sites across the borough to enable 
the delivery of new Council homes.

6.7.2 The Council is permitted to retain part of the RTB receipts to repay the debt incurred 
in 2012 as part of HRA self-financing.  As at 1 April 2018, the balance on the RTB 
Allowable Debt reserve fund stood at £425,980.  The proposal is to use the RTB 
Allowable Debt reserve to help fund the New Build projects as this can either be used 
to repay debt or finance the capital programme.  This will ensure that the revenue 
surplus being generated can be moved to a general HRA reserve available for future 
use against either revenue or capital and that monies are only borrowed once all 
available resources have been utilised.

6.7.3 Table 13 summarises the one for one receipts retained from the sale of Right To Buy 
properties, since 2012, along with the level of GBC’s contributions required to deliver 
the New Build programme and a summary of when expenditure needs to be 
delivered to avoid having to return funds to Central Government.

Page 33



28

One for one 
receipts 
retained

GBC 70% 
contribution to 
new build

Value of new 
build 
expenditure 
expected

Cumulative value 
of new build 
expenditure 
expected

Date of new 
build expected 
by

£ £ £ £

2012-14 c/f 1,518,530 3,543,220 5,061,750 19,194,350 31-Mar-17
2014-15
Q1 174,940 408,210 583,150 5,644,910 30-Jun-17
Q2 443,310 1,034,390 1,477,700 7,122,600 30-Sep-17
Q3 327,760 764,760 1,092,520 8,215,120 31-Dec-17
Q4 865,790 2,020,160 2,885,950 11,101,070 31-Mar-18
2015-16
Q1 124,270 289,960 414,230 11,515,300 30-Jun-18
Q2 233,510 544,870 778,380 12,293,680 30-Sep-18
Q3 589,670 1,375,910 1,965,580 14,259,260 31-Dec-18
Q4 650,580 1,518,010 2,168,590 16,427,860 31-Mar-19
2016-17
Q1 697,650 1,627,850 2,325,500 18,753,360 30-Jun-19
Q2 205,200 478,790 683,990 19,437,350 30-Sep-19
Q3 541,710 1,263,990 1,805,700 21,243,060 31-Dec-19
Q4 532,670 1,242,890 1,775,560 23,018,620 31-Mar-20
2017-18
Q1 351,150 819,350 1,170,500 24,189,120 30-Jun-20
Q2 296,150 691,020 987,170 25,176,290 30-Sep-20
Q3 730,460 1,704,420 2,434,880 27,611,170 31-Dec-20
Q4 433,800 1,012,210 1,446,010 29,057,180 01-Jan-21
2018-19
Q1 694,160 1,619,710 2,313,870 31,371,040 30-Jun-21
Q2 484,630 1,130,800 1,615,430 32,986,460 30-Sep-21
Q3 379,770 884,130 1,265,900 34,252,360 31-Dec-21
Q4 238,610 556,760 795,370 35,047,730 31-Mar-22

10,250,310 23,917,390 34,167,700

Table 13: New Build

6.8 Housing Computer System (Ref E)
6.8.1 Invitations to tender for the joint procurement of Housing Management Systems for 

Gravesham and Medway Councils were sent out by the procurement team on 27 

March 2019.  The Council is awaiting the return and evaluation of the tender 
documents in order to proceed to the next phase.

6.9 Replacement Playground Equipment (Ref G)

6.9.1 A review of the housing play sites was completed and an action plan is currently 
being drawn up to establish the current needs for each site.  Once completed, the 
capital funding will be allocated against the priority areas.

Page 34



29

6.10 Disabled Facility Grants (DFGs) (Ref I)

6.10.1 The Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy has been revised and changes were 
implemented in April 2018.  The policy changes has enabled people to gain access 
to funding which otherwise would not have been available.  An additional nine people 
have been assisted in the final quarter of 2018/19 in order to improve hospital 
discharges.  A further 16 people have benefitted from measures which ensured they 
were discharged from hospital into a safer home environment, making a total number 
of beneficiaries to date 25 and 66 respectively.

6.10.2 The DFG administration process continues to work well, with 73 cases processed in 
2018/19.  Of the 73 cases processed, the breakdown is as follows:

 15 grant cases were approved

 22 households had works completed

 five applications were cancelled due to changes in the client’s 
circumstances

 31 grant cases are awaiting approval.

6.10.3 The Council was awarded grant funding in 2018/19 of £832,800 for the purpose of 
DFGs, with further funding of £137,690 being awarded in year.  Therefore the total 
budget, including the carry forward from 2017/18 of £544,140, brought the total 
funding to £1,514,630.

6.10.4 In 2018/19 grants to the value of £821,000 were paid with additional commitments 
made to the value of £112,341.  The team continue their endeavours in relation to 
providing the DFG programme to homes eligible for assistance and comply with the 
wider remit of the Better Care Fund.

6.11 Capital Resources
6.11.1 The table below shows the resources available to fund capital projects in future.

Housing Capital Resources
Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2018 (£)

Income 
2018/19 (£)

Use of 
Funding 

2018/19 (£)

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2019 (£)
Capital Receipts - HRA (1,085,850) (244,160) 11,210 (1,318,800)
Capital Receipts - GF Housing (27,770) (41,130) 0 (68,900)
Capital Receipts - PV Panels (3,573,000) 0 0 (3,573,000)
Major Repairs Reserve - Dwellings (525,330) (6,572,290) 5,695,140 (1,402,480)
Major Repairs Reserve - Non Dwellings (451,220) (200,810) 0 (652,030)
New Build Reserve: 1-4-1 Receipts (5,248,330) (1,796,970) 1,500,350 (5,544,950)
Right to Buy Allowable Debt Reserve (425,980) (438,550) 425,980 (438,550)
Disabled Facility Grants (544,130) (970,490) 820,990 (693,630)
Christianfields Overage (766,000) 0 0 (766,000)
Total (12,647,610) (10,264,400) 8,453,670 (14,458,340)

Table 14: HRA and General Fund Housing Capital Resources 2018/19

The background papers to this report are held within the Accountancy Section

Page 35



30

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of this report.

Risk Assessment The purpose of this provisional outturn report is to identify performance against the 
original budget set for the 2018/19 financial year and illustrate how this affects the 
Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by the council at the end of the 
financial year (subject to audit).

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No decision – paper is for information only.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Corporate Plan Objective Four: Sound and self-sufficient council

Crime and Disorder No direct implications

Digital and website 
implications

No direct implications

Page 36

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


31

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications

Page 37



Page 38



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet 

Date: 3 June 2019

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Housing)

Subject: Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Prevention Strategy

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present the council’s draft homelessness and rough sleeping prevention strategy, which 
has been circulated widely for consultation with stakeholders. The aim of this strategy is to 
set out the Council’s approach for tackling homelessness in the district and how, over the 
lifetime of this strategy, the council will achieve this working with key partners.  

The council’s current homelessness strategy has expired and the production of a new 
strategy was delayed to allow for the Homeless Reduction Act to receive Royal Assent during 
2017 and for subsequent guidance to be issued by the Department for Communities and 
Local Government in the form of a revised Code of Guidance, which contains key information 
around Government expectations for Homelessness Strategies and their production. The 
revised code of Guidance was issued in November 2017 and the Government consulted on 
this early in 2018.  

This Strategy is the first one developed under the framework of the Homelessness Reduction 
Act 2017, and is important as homelessness and poor housing conditions continue to blight 
lives, damage health, reduce opportunities and negatively impact on communities in profound 
ways. Preventing homelessness and rough sleeping is therefore a priority for the Council and 
the Council remains committed to preventing homelessness, helping people find housing that 
meets their needs and providing the support needed to prevent them from going back into 
homelessness.  

This draft Strategy reinforces the council’s commitment to preventing homelessness rather 
than dealing with households at the point of crisis. This is particularly important during a time 
where resources available to the Council are more limited and yet we are seeing an increase 
in numbers requiring support to sustain their existing home, or secure new accommodation.

Recommendations:
 Adoption of the strategy

Page 39 Agenda Item 7



2

1. Introduction

1.1 The council’s last homelessness strategy focused on preventing homelessness. 
This approach has delivered excellent results, especially in preventing family 
homelessness. Between 2015 and 2017, 523 households were provided with 
support to help them maintain their current home or find alternative 
accommodation and prevent their homelessness.

1.2 The review of homelessness was commenced in April 2018 and it is a detailed 
robust analysis of the challenges, trends, existing services and opportunities 
facing Gravesham.  Consultation was pivotal in the development of the review 
and feedback received has been factored into the document.

1.3 The draft strategy was approved for wider consultation by the Housing 
Committee on 13 February 2019 and the consultation period closed on 17 May 
2019. The consultation was undertaken via direct mailing to all agencies 
involved with tackling homelessness in the borough, publication on the Council’s 
website, publication on the Kent Housing Group website, all district councils in 
the county and all elected Members were also notified by email of the process.

1.4 Two comments were received in response to the consultation exercise, one of 
the comments was from the YMCA and suggested increasing the supply of one 
bed and shared accommodation for young people (18 to 35 year-olds) in 
housing need.  This suggestion will be included in the action plan, which is a live 
and evolving document. 

1.5 The other comment was from a Kent-based Housing Association, highlighting a 
point of clarification in one of the assumptions made in the draft and which has 
been corrected. The point of clarification is in bullet point 5 on page 11 of the 
strategy, which is about the benefit restriction to the room rate only for those 
who are under 35, only applying to the private rented sector and not social 
housing as suggested in the draft consulted on. 

1.6 The strategy, if adopted will continue the focus on homeless prevention and 
seek to improve homeless prevention for singles and couples. This is aligned 
with the Homelessness Reduction Act which aims to ensure a greater focus on 
the prevention of homelessness and offers some increased protection for single 
homeless people and couples without dependent children. It also sets out how, 
over the lifetime of the Strategy, services will need to shift from being advisory 
in nature to being more individualised and supportive to those who are 
presenting as homeless, and sets out key actions as to how this will be 
achieved.

1.7 The Council has a statutory duty to have this strategy in place, and the adoption 
of this strategy will therefore ensure that this statutory requirement is met.

2. BACKGROUND PAPERS

2.1 There are no background papers pertaining to this report.

Page 40



3

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There is requirement on the council to produce a homelessness strategy. The 2002 
Homelessness Act amended the 1996 Housing Act and outlines the legal 
requirement placed on local authorities to undertake a review of homelessness in 
their area, and develop and publish a strategy which sets out how the authority will 
prevent homelessness, based on the findings of the review. This requirement was 
not amended by the Homelessness Reduction Act and the new Code of Guidance 
strengthens requirements for Local Authorities to work with partners in the 
development of their strategy.  

These Strategies should be published periodically but at no longer intervals than 5 
years.  

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

The proposals are intended to set out the council’s approach to tackling 
homelessness. Budgeting for the service is undertaken as part of the council’s 
budget preparation, approval and monitoring processes with appropriate allocation 
to enable the council meet its statutory requirements. 

Risk 
Assessment

The strategy will be consulted upon publicly with comments received considered 
prior to finalising the policy. The action plan which supports the policy will also be 
kept under review during the lifetime of the strategy to ensure that it remains 
relevant. A full risk assessment, including an equality impact assessment of the 
draft policy will also be carried out. 
Screening for Equality ImpactsEquality 

Impact 
Assessment Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes. It ensures that the needs of homeless people in the borough are met..

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

Area of focus 2 – A stronger Gravesham

Crime and 
Disorder

Ability to meet the needs of people who are either threatened with homelessness or 
already homeless helps avoid them being victims of crime or becoming involved in 
disorderly acts themselves. 

Digital and 
website 

None

Page 41



4

implications

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

A more people oriented strategy will assist in ensuring that the needs of vulnerable 
residents are better identified and addressed. 

Page 42



Appendix 2

Gravesham Borough Council 

Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Prevention Strategy 2019 – 2024

Page 43



Foreword from the Portfolio Holder for Housing/Leader 

Insert Picture of Portfolio Holder/Leader 

Welcome to Gravesham Borough Council’s Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Prevention 
Strategy, which sets out the Council’s approach for tackling homelessness and rough 
sleeping in the district and how, over the lifetime of this strategy, we will achieve this working 
with key partners.   With recent changes in legislation around homelessness and challenging 
times for local authorities and their partners, this is an exciting time to be introducing a new 
strategic plan for the prevention of homelessness.

This Strategy is the first strategy we have developed under the framework of the 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 and is important as homelessness and poor housing 
conditions continue to blight lives, damage health, reduce opportunities and negatively 
impact on communities in profound ways. That is why preventing homelessness and rough 
sleeping is a priority for this Council and why the Council remains committed to preventing 
homelessness and rough sleeping, helping people find housing that meets their needs and 
providing the support needed to prevent them from going back into homelessness.  This 
Strategy reinforces our commitment to preventing homelessness and rough sleeping rather 
than dealing with households at the point of crisis. This is particularly important during a time 
where resources available to the Council are more limited and yet we are seeing an increase 
in numbers requiring support to sustain their existing home, or secure new accommodation.

Grounded in a comprehensive evidence base, our Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 
Prevention Strategy has been developed working with our customers, our partners, and our 
stakeholders. I would like to extend my thanks on behalf of the Council to everyone who has 
been involved. 

With their help, this Strategy has been developed at a time of change. The Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017 represents a new statutory framework for local authorities.  We want to 
get better at engaging and supporting customers, and the wider system of public services, 
so that together we can improve outcomes and improve the support available for people who 
are homeless or at risk of homelessness. 

I am very pleased to endorse and support this Strategy knowing that it will deliver improved 
outcomes for those who are facing homelessness in our district.

Councillor 

Cabinet Member for Housing or Leader

Page 44



Foreword by the Chief Executive 

The Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Prevention Strategy 2019-2024 presents a 
roadmap for the way Gravesham Borough Council will deliver its Housing Needs services in 
the coming years. It will: 

 Ensure compliance with the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017. 

 Ensure the Council remains focused on continuous improvement in the way we 
respond to homelessness. 

 Support reform across the wider system and improve the support available to local 
residents who find themselves in difficulty. 

It will be delivered effectively, efficiently, and in keeping with the Council’s core values and 
commitment to excellence in customer care. 

The strategy represents the culmination of a significant body of work. It has been developed 
in partnership and through extensive consultation. It will directly contribute to Gravesham’s 
current Corporate Plan 2015 – 2019 and that being developed for 2019 - 2023.  The 
Strategy has been structured around 5 key priorities that feed into our overarching corporate 
aims and ambitions. In this context we will aim to: 

 Intervene in a timely manner for those at risk of homelessness 

 Strengthen our partnerships to support vulnerable groups ending the repeat cycle of 
homelessness 

 Reduce Rough Sleeping 

 Improve access to decent affordable accommodation in the private sector 

 Improve the health and wellbeing of those threatened with homelessness or who are 
already homeless 

The strategy enjoys the support of our wider services and has the full support of the 
Council’s corporate leadership team. To be effective, we recognise that our services must 
come together to support our residents, and that we cannot achieve our aims as a Council 
on our own. 

We will deliver in partnership across the voluntary and statutory sectors, and always in the 
interests of supporting our residents. 

David Hughes 

Chief Executive 

Page 45



1. Introduction

Homelessness and Rough Sleeping occurs as a result of an often complex interaction 
between a person or family’s individual circumstances and a number of social and structural 
factors often outside of their control.  

Unless these factors are addressed, the ability of an individual or family to become resilient 
and improve their chance of a positive future is greatly reduced, and places them at risk of 
becoming trapped in a cycle of homelessness. 

Tackling all of these issues at the point of crisis is complex and very expensive for not only 
local authorities but other services that may work with families such as health and social 
care, criminal justice or education. Therefore, the key is to prevent homelessness before it 
happens, with joined up working between services to minimise the impact of homelessness 
on households and enable them to move into sustainable accommodation and try to prevent 
homelessness from repeating itself.  What is evident is that all experiences of homelessness 
are different and the Council and the partners it works with should respond to this by taking a 
flexible and individualised approach to tackling homelessness and the issues faced by each 
household.

However if the aim of this strategy is to deliver a more personalised individual approach to 
those who present as homeless, this has to be achieved within a context of challenging 
times. Homelessness in all forms has increased across the country over recent years 
following an extended period of austerity; there are fewer resources for services that work 
with those who are facing homelessness and this is set against a backdrop of a national 
housing crisis.  

This strategy has therefore been developed in these challenging times, in line with the legal 
framework and critically sets out the key challenges faced by the authority, identified as a 
result of a comprehensive review of the homelessness situation in Gravesham and the 
priorities we have identified as a result of the challenges faced in the district.  It also 
considers how we will work with other services to ensure that we deliver these tailored 
services for individuals and families throughout the life of this strategy.    

2. Our Vision 

Through the lifetime of this strategy Gravesham wants to work towards the following vision 

“A Borough where services work closely together to eradicate all forms of homelessness or 
rough sleeping and all residents have a place to call home”

3. Defining Homelessness

Homelessness is defined within the Homelessness Code of Guidance as:

Page 46



“… somebody is statutorily homeless if they do not have accommodation that they have a 
legal right to occupy, which is accessible and physically available to them (and their 
household) and which it would be reasonable for them to continue to live in … “

For the purposes of the review and this strategy the term homelessness takes this definition 
in the guidance into consideration but will be used as a broad concept that includes a 
number of additional categories, ranging from those temporarily sheltered in homeless 
hostels, to hidden groups like ‘sofa surfers’, who are seeking temporary accommodation 
from friends and families following the loss of their own home, to those in overcrowded and 
unsuitable accommodation. 

For the purposes of the annual Rough Sleeper Estimate there is an additional definition of 
what constitutes Rough Sleeping 

“People sleeping, about to bed down (sitting on/in or standing next to their bedding) or 
actually bedded down in the open air (such as on the streets, in tents, doorways, parks, bus 
shelters or encampments). People in buildings or other places not designed for habitation 
(such as stairwells, barns, sheds, car parks, cars, derelict boats, stations, or “bashers”)”

Throughout the review document and in this strategy homelessness will be used as generic 
term to incorporate all forms of homelessness including rough sleeping, but where 
information relates to specific groups this will be identified.  

4. Context within which the strategy has been developed 

Since 2002, the government made homelessness prevention a priority, by providing 
increased funding to tackle homelessness, setting challenging targets for the prevention of 
homelessness, and placing requirements on local councils to produce homelessness 
strategies. The 2002 Homelessness Act amended the 1996 Housing Act by extending the 
definition of priority need to include new groups of vulnerable people, whilst outlining the 
legal requirement placed on local authorities to undertake a review of homelessness in their 
area, and develop and publish a strategy which sets out how the authority will prevent 
homelessness, based on the findings of the review. This requirement was not amended by 
the Homelessness Reduction Act and the new Code of Guidance strengthens requirements 
for Local Authorities to work with partners in the development of their strategy. Chapter 2 of 
the newly revised Homelessness Code of Guidance sets out guidance on Housing 
Authorities’ duties to carry out a homelessness review and publish a homelessness strategy.  

These Strategies should be published periodically but at no longer intervals than 5 years.  To 
fulfil these duties Gravesham Borough Council’s Review of Homelessness in the district can 
be found at the following link 

Insert Link once on website 

This Strategy has been developed, consulted on and subsequently published based on the 
findings of this review and therefore meets these legal requirements. 

Page 47



Aside from the Homelessness Review, which is a legal requirement this Strategy is 
supported by the following key documents which are essential for its delivery and can be 
found at the following links: 

Action Plan – This sets out the actions the Council will take to deliver against its priorities 
and will be updated annually 

Insert Link 

Equalities Impact Assessment – This ensures that this Strategy and the Council’s actions do 
not unfairly discriminate against any particular groups of people and that all those that 
approach the Housing Needs Service are treated equitably and fairly and on the basis of 
need. 

Insert Link

Risk Assessment – A full Risk Assessment of the Strategy and the risks associated with both 
its development and delivery has been completed.  

Operationally the focus of services has remained on the prevention of homelessness since 
2002, but the prevention of homelessness has always been regarded as best practice and 
the most cost effective way to approach homelessness but was not a duty placed on 
Councils.  Until 2017 the prevention of homelessness was supported by initiatives in recent 
years such as the Government’s No Second Night Out Agenda and the publication of 
Making Every Contact Count, which was billed as the Government’s Homelessness 
Prevention Strategy which ensured previous priorities set by Government continued to be 
tackled and allowed authorities to continue to deliver effective homelessness services, 
prevent homelessness, reduce the use of Temporary Accommodation and end the worst 
manifestations of homelessness such as families living in Bed and Breakfast 
Accommodation and Rough Sleeping.  

Homelessness has always been in the spotlight but more recently, it has remained on the 
political and media agenda with all of the major party manifestos making mention of 
homelessness in the June 2017 election, and the current Conservative Government has 
pledged to halve rough sleeping by 2022 and eliminate it altogether by 2027. The Prime 
Minister has also established a high-level Rough Sleeping and Homelessness Reduction 
Taskforce supported by an expert Rough Sleeping Advisory Panel.  This was in response to 
increasing levels of homelessness across the UK. 

This has been alongside the Royal Assent of the New Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 
and its subsequent implementation in April 2018 which has made the prevention and relief of 
homelessness a duty for authorities.  Government continues to supplement Local Authority 
resources, and has provided further additional funding to support the roll out of the new Act 
in the forms of the Flexible Homeless Support Grant (which replaces the Temporary 
Accommodation Management Fee) and through new burdens funding and, more recently, 
additional money announced for tackling Rough Sleeping targeted at specific areas and to 
deliver projects such as Housing First.  However, in the current climate of Government 

Page 48



budgets being reduced the future of this funding is uncertain despite the Government’s 
commitment to tackling Homelessness.

The Homeless Reduction Act 2017

The Homeless Reduction Bill was a Private members Bill taken through Parliament by Bob 
Blackman MP which resulted in the most significant changes to homelessness legislation for 
a number of years. 

The Homelessness Reduction Bill received Royal Assent on 27 April 2017 and was enacted 
in April 2018. The new Homeless Reduction Act substantially amends Part 7 of the Housing 
Act 1996 and modifies and extends the homelessness protection in a number of key ways: 

Improved advice and information about homelessness and the prevention of 
homelessness

A review of the 2002 Act demonstrated that the advice and information provided to single 
homeless people needed to be more effective.  The new Act clearly sets out that everyone in 
a district should be able to access free information and advice on the prevention of 
homelessness and services providing advice and information must be designed to meet the 
needs of particular groups of people, for example care leavers or those experiencing 
domestic abuse.  

Extension of the period “threatened with homelessness”

Under the 1996 Housing Act an applicant was only ‘threatened with homelessness’ if they 
were likely to become homeless within 28 days.  Under the new Act this period is extended 
to 56 days or if the applicant has been served with a valid Section 21 notice that expires in 
56 days or less.  

The introduction of new duties to prevent and relieve homelessness for all eligible 
people, regardless of priority need and intentionality 

Although the concept of prevention was introduced via an amendment to the Housing Act 
1996 in 2002, most of the prevention and relief work completed by authorities sat outside the 
statutory framework.  This often led to single homeless people only receiving advice and 
information to prevent or relieve their homelessness.  The new Act will ensure that all people 
who are threatened with homelessness or who are homeless will be entitled to support from 
the authority regardless of priority need or intentionality.  This will be achieved via a full 
assessment of the household’s needs and the development of a personalised housing plan.  

Interim accommodation will still be provided to those who are homeless, eligible and have a 
priority need and for whom the authority have accepted a duty to relieve their homelessness. 

Applicants who have a priority need, and whose homelessness cannot be prevented or 
relieved after the 56 days will be owed the main housing duty unless they have made 
themselves intentionally homeless or they have refused to co-operate.  

Page 49



To discharge the new duties the authority must be satisfied that any accommodation 
secured will be available for 6 months or more.  

The introduction of assessments and personalised housing plans, setting out the 
actions housing authorities and individuals will take to secure accommodation 

The new act introduces a requirement for authorities to conduct a full assessment of all 
eligible household needs and consider the circumstances that led to the homelessness, the 
applicant’s needs and whether the household needs support to secure and sustain 
accommodation.   

A personal housing plan will then be developed which will set out steps the authority and the 
applicant must take to help the household to secure accommodation.  

Where an applicant refuses to co-operate with their key steps in their personal housing plan, 
the authority can take action to discharge its duties.  

Encouraging public bodies to work together to prevent and relieve homelessness 
through a duty to refer. 

The new Act introduces a new duty to refer an individual’s case (with their consent) to a 
housing authority identified by the applicant.  This element of the new Act was introduced in 
October 2018.

The Code of Guidance is a document that supports the legislation and this has been 
redrafted to reflect the new duties and the Government consulted on this at the end of 2017. 
The final version was published in March 2018 ahead of the implementation date of the new 
Act. The link to the revised Homelessness Code of Guidance can be found here:

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities

The Rough Sleeping Strategy 

Most recently (August 2018) the Government has launched its Rough Sleeping Strategy 
which aims to halve rough sleeping by 2022 and eliminate it by 2027.  To support this 
Government has already announced funding for those areas with the highest numbers of 
Rough Sleepers and it has commenced work to address issues that may contribute to 
homelessness post 2020 when the funding ceases including the affordability of the private 
rented sector and funding options post 2020 when the current Local Housing Allowance 
freeze ends.  

5. Summary of Review 

Gravesham Borough Council is one of 12 boroughs and districts within the county of 
Kent.  The borough is predominantly urban to the north, whereas, to the south, the borough 
is more rural.  It comprises the towns of Gravesend and Northfleet, together with the villages 
of Cobham, Higham, Luddesdown, Meopham, Shorne and Vigo.

Page 50

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities


Our last homelessness strategy focused on preventing homelessness. This approach has 
delivered excellent results, especially in preventing family homelessness. Between 2015 and 
2017, 523 households were provided with support to help them maintain their current home 
or find alternative accommodation and prevent their homelessness.  

This strategy will continue this focus on homeless prevention and seek to improve homeless 
prevention for singles and couples. This is aligned with the Homelessness Reduction Act 
which aims to ensure a greater focus on the prevention of homelessness and offers some 
increased protection for single homeless people and couples without dependent children. It 
also sets out how, over the lifetime of the Strategy, services will need to shift from being 
advisory in nature to being more individualised and supportive to those who are presenting 
as homeless, and sets out key actions as to how this will be achieved.  

The review of homelessness was commenced in April 2018 and it is a detailed robust 
analysis of the challenges, trends, existing services and opportunities facing Gravesham.  
Consultation was pivotal in the development of the review. 

The evidence presented in the review suggests that the UK has been through a time of 
unprecedented change with the uncertainty linked to the UK exiting the European Union 
continuing, and all sectors needing to adapt to these changes.  

This is combined with significant changes to the welfare system and the legislative 
framework within which Local Authorities are operating their homelessness services.  

The evidence suggests that the population of Gravesham is increasing, and is also set to 
age in the coming years, at the same time as the number of smaller households is 
increasing.

Gender breakdown in the borough is split equally and life expectancy for men in the borough 
is worse than the national average. However women’s life expectancy in Gravesham is 
better than the national average. Those who are homeless have a significantly lower life 
expectancy than both males and females.  

The ethnic make-up of the district is 78% white British which means 22% of the population 
come from a mix of other backgrounds. 

Evidence suggests that deprivation in the borough has worsened. Welfare reform, including 
the bedroom subsidy and the changes to the benefits system could result in this number 
rising, and again could increase levels of homelessness within the borough. 

Average earnings in the borough are lower than the national average, men being paid 
considerably more than women. Unemployment is around the national average, and a large 
proportion of residents are on low incomes.  In parallel to this, due to its location, housing 
prices are at a premium making home ownership difficult for those on low incomes. This 
increases the demand on social housing (most affordable) and the private rented sector, 
(less affordable but more accessible) for young families and individuals looking to live 
independently. However access to the private rented sector is proving more difficult as 
London authorities utilise accommodation out of area and landlords who are increasingly 

Page 51



refusing to accept those who are reliant on benefits to pay their rent or who have been 
homeless.  This is coupled with around a quarter of private rented homes in the borough not 
achieving a decent standard.  

The demand for council housing outstrips supply, however there is a now a greater demand 
for smaller property and larger properties are less in demand. This may be because of the 
under occupancy charge, and also that utility costs continues to rise. Families too are getting 
smaller, and fewer couples are having children meaning they would only require a one bed 
property. 

Evidence suggests that homeownership, private renting and even affordable rents are 
unaffordable for some, leaving social rent the only affordable option placing an increased 
demand on council and housing association stock, which is decreasing due to right to buy. 
Additionally, in the 2015 post election summer budget the Chancellor of the Exchequer 
announced a 1% decrease in social housing rents, year on year for four years.   

However the Council is taking a proactive approach to the provision of affordable housing 
and is working to return empty homes back into use and also developing and regenerating 
further new council housing. Reforms to council housing finance have allowed the council 
more flexibility to do this.  

Changes to benefits are likely to impact on the most vulnerable, as will loss of funding for 
services.  Benefit eligibility criteria are making it harder for the most vulnerable to manage 
their finances. Also as universal credit is introduced and people will be expected to manage 
more money than they have ever had before, there is the probability of an increase in rent 
and mortgage arrears as people fail to pay, which could result in more evictions and 
homelessness.  

Coupled with this, those who struggle to manage money and get one monthly lump sum 
payment of universal credit, may mean an increase in rent arrears and council tax arrears, 
as more and more tenants on benefits will be expected to contribute to their council tax bill.  
All of this could see an increase in evictions and debt, and an increased demand in 
households requiring emergency housing and support. 

Nationally homelessness is on the increase. Therefore there needs to be a shift away from a 
housing advice role, to a continued emphasis on timely interventions and prevention 
methods to reduce the numbers of households reaching crisis point, and a more supportive 
and personalised service to those where they have got out of homelessness, to prevent 
them from repeating the cycle.  This is supported by the introduction of the Homelessness 
Reduction Act which has placed duties on Councils to prevent and relieve homelessness. 

Gravesham reflects national trends in that homelessness is on the increase; however there 
has been a decline in the number of accepted homeless cases and an increase in 
unsuccessful homeless applications, with preventions remaining fairly static.  Gravesham 
also follows the national trend in that its main reason for loss of last settled home is the 
ending of assured shorthold tenancies in the private sector.  

Page 52



Demand for Temporary Accommodation has increased, however the current supply of 
Council accommodation into which the Council can fulfil its interim and full duties is limited 
and therefore there has been an increase in the use of nightly paid accommodation in 
Gravesham and a return to the use of Bed and Breakfast. However this has not been used 
for families other than in emergency situations and where it has, the use has been limited.  
This has led to an increase in the cost of temporary accommodation to the Council. 

The number of rough sleepers within Gravesham is relatively low, although it has risen over 
previous years. 

In summary the key challenges identified via this review of homelessness for Gravesham 
over the lifetime of this strategy are: 

 Homelessness in all forms is on the increase 
 The availability of affordable private rented accommodation is limited and the council 

is using temporary accommodation to accommodate households
 The reduction in welfare benefits, particularly the freezing of local housing allowance 

rates, means that households on full and sometimes partial benefits are not able to 
find private rented accommodation in the borough that they can afford and, if they 
can, landlords are often unwilling to accept those who may rely on benefits to pay 
their rent or those households who have experienced homelessness 

 The impact of pressure from the London housing market, which has resulted in rising 
property prices and rents, means that households on low incomes or benefits are 
unable to afford the rising cost of housing in Gravesham without the support of the 
council, and may have to consider moving away from Gravesham

 Demand for one-bedroom social housing has increased as benefit is now restricted 
to the room rate only for those who are under 35 in the private rented sector

 There are cohorts of single vulnerable adults rough sleeping who require both 
accommodation and support 

 There are significant long term health and social impacts of homelessness that have 
wide costs for individuals, families and the public services in the borough 

 The rising demand for housing has outstripped the supply of new social housing and 
we are not moving people out of temporary accommodation quickly enough

 There needs to be a shift in the way services work, with housing options being less of 
a focus and a move towards a more personalised individual service, with key 
partners involved to prevent homelessness at the earliest stages and prevent the 
repeat cycle of homelessness 

The full review document can be found on our website.  

As a result of identifying the challenges, to address these, the following have been identified 
as the key priorities for the district 

 The provision of timely interventions for those at risk of homelessness 

 Strengthening partnerships to support vulnerable groups ending the repeat cycle of 
homelessness 

Page 53



 To prevent Rough Sleeping 

 To improve access to decent affordable accommodation in the private sector 

 To improve the health and wellbeing of those threatened with homelessness or who 
are already homeless 

A detailed action plan has been developed which supports this document and sets out 
actions as to how we will deliver against these priorities.

6. Resourcing the Strategy 

In common with other local authorities, the Council has been affected by austerity and year 
on year reductions in central government grant funding. These have required it to transform 
and constantly review opportunities to become more efficient. 

In a 2-tier area, the Council is also vulnerable to funding decisions that are made by Kent 
County Council that can have knock-on consequences for district level resources. 

Despite these pressures, the Council has continued to prioritise its frontline services and in 
particular has continued to invest in its Housing Services. Housing Services remain a priority 
for the Council and it is committed to ongoing work to improve the way we engage and 
support people who are homeless or at risk of becoming homeless. 

7. Monitoring and Reviewing this Strategy 

Ultimate responsibility for driving through this strategy and ensuring it delivers key priorities 
rests with the Assistant Director (Housing), supported by a range of colleagues from other 
departments internally within the Council but also external agencies. 

The strategy has been developed in partnership with others, including service users and 
stakeholders, and they will continue to be involved in the ongoing review and delivery 
against targets and outcomes. 

In response to this ongoing review the Action Plan supporting this strategy will be updated 
annually as a minimum.    

 

Page 54



Appendix 3

Gravesham Borough Council – Homelessness Prevention Strategy 2019 – 2024 

This action plan has been developed to support each of the priorities contained within Gravesham Borough Councils Homelessness Strategy.   

Strategic Priority - Intervene in a timely manner for those at risk of homelessness
Outcome Action When will this be done by How will it be done Who will do it Progress
Officers know what 
prevention tools they can 
use and have clear 
guidelines as to how they 
can be used

Review of prevention 
tools and the 
development of policies 
and procedures to 
support the delivery of 
these 

September 2109 By reviewing existing 
polices where they exist  
ensuring they are fit for 
purpose and updating in 
line with the 
Homelessness Reduction 
Act 

By developing new 
policies where there are 
none 

By developing staff 
procedures to support the 
policies 

Training for staff on the 
new policies and 
procedures to ensure a 
consistent application 

Housing Needs and 
Improvement Manager 

Housing Needs Team 
Manager 

Access to the service The “front door” is 
redesigned to better meet 
the needs of those who 
may be threatened with 
homelessness 

June 2019 Review and redesign the 
current desk duty to 
determine if it still meets 
the needs of the service 
and customer 

Ensure the website is up 
to date so that people can 

P
age 55



access information and 
self-help or know where 
to go to get early help 

Ensure that 
information and 
advice on housing and 
homelessness 
prevention is widely 
available 

Develop and increase 
access to a range of 
information for clients 
and stakeholders. 

June 2019 Update the website to 
include: 

General advice on what 
the Council can do to 
help if you are 
homeless or 
threatened with 
homelessness 

How to go about 
privately renting 

Your rights as a private 
tenant 

Renting a room in your 
home 

Housing 
Register/Allocations 

Homelessness duties 

Homelessness Reviews 

Strategic Priority - Strengthen our partnerships to support vulnerable groups ending the repeat cycle of homelessness 
What is the outcome we 
want from this  

What action will we take 
to achieve the outcome 

When will this action be 
completed by  

How will the action be 
done  

Who will complete the 
action  

How will we measure 
the success and ensure 
we have achieved our 
outcome?

P
age 56



Provision of support to 
ensure prevent repeat 
homelessness

Review level of support to 
local voluntary agencies 
and charities to assist 
families and individuals 
becoming homeless.

October 2019 Housing Needs & 
Improvements Manager

Housing Options Team 
Leader

Where possible, sign up to 
the voluntary duty to refer 
by Housing Associations to 
ensure that families 
threatened with 
homelessness are given 
advice and assistance in a 
timely manner.

As and when possible

Review tenancy 
sustainment duties 
provided by the Authority.

October 2019

Develop a local lettings 
agency in partnership with 
a neighbouring Authority 
to assist in procurement 
of accommodation in the 
private rented sector 

March 2020

Strategic Priority – Prevent Rough Sleeping 
Outcome Action When will this be done by How will it be done Who will do it Progress
Rough Sleeping in the 
district is reduced 

Develop a rough sleeper 
strategy 

October 2019 Review of Rough Sleeping 
in the district and 
development of evidence 
to support a strategy 

Develop a Rough Sleeper 
Strategy 

 Housing Needs 
&Improvement Manager

Develop an approach to 
rough sleeping which 
includes SWEP, Rough 
Sleeper Protocol and a 
reconnection protocol 

June 2019 Work with key partners to 
develop an approach to 
Rough Sleeping where all 
partners are clear of their 
roles 

Housing Needs 
&Improvement Manager

P
age 57



Pilot a Housing First 
project 

March 2020 Start a pilot to test a 
housing first approach to 
tackling homelessness 

Housing Needs 
&Improvement Manager

Strategic Priority – Improve access to decent affordable accommodation in the Private Rented Sector 
Outcome Action When will this be done by How will it be done Who will do it Progress

Increase the supply 
of good quality 
private rented 
housing in Gravesend 
and improve working 
relationships with 
private landlords and 
agents. 

March 2020 Strengthen work with 
local landlord forum 
networks 

Develop incentives for 
landlords to take 
homeless applicants as 
a discharge of duty or 
prevention.

Review existing Rent 
Deposit Scheme and 
develop in line with 
audit 
recommendations 

Housing Needs Team 
Manager 

Strategic Priority – Improve the health and wellbeing of those threatened with homelessness or who are already homeless 
Outcome Action When will this be done by How will it be done Who will do it Progress
Develop information 
relating to the health 
needs of those who are 
homeless 

Complete a full health 
needs audit using the 
Homeless Link Tool 

March 2020   Housing Needs Team 
Manager

P
age 58



Page 1 of 6

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) of Draft Homelessness Strategy 

Appendix 4

INTRODUCTION

1 Identify the aims of the policy/service/function and how it is implemented.
Key questions Answers / Notes Actions required

1.1 Is this an existing or a new 
policy / function?  

Review and renewal of an existing Strategy 

1.2 Who defines or defined the 
policy/function?  

Corporate as the requirement for a homeless strategy is a statutory function 
set out in the Housing Act 1996 (as amended 2017) 

1.3 Who is the policy/function being 
aimed at?  

Housing, members of the public, members, key stakeholders with an interest 
in homelessness, those who are homeless or threatened with homelessness 

1.4 Who implements the 
policy/function? 

Housing Services 

1.5 What is the objective or purpose 
of the policy/service/function?  

To meet the statutory requirement for authorities to have a homelessness 
strategy which reviews the circumstances in the district, identifies challenges 
and sets out priorities for addressing how they will work to prevent and 
reduce homelessness in the district.

1.6 What outcomes do you want to 
achieve with this policy / 
function and for whom?  

A comprehensive evidence base which sets out the issues relating to 
homelessness in the district
A new strategy which clearly identifies the priorities relating to 
Homelessness for the lifetime of the Strategy and sets out the authorities 
approach to the prevention of homelessness which is fit for purpose and 
meets the requirements of the Homeless Reduction Act
An action plan which can be reviewed annually which sets out clear SMART 
actions that will enable the council to meet the priorities contained within the 
strategy

1.7 Do these outcomes complement 
or hinder other policies, values 

Complement
 Will aim to support Corporate objectives set out in the Councils 

P
age 59



Page 2 of 6

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) of Draft Homelessness Strategy 

1 Identify the aims of the policy/service/function and how it is implemented.
Key questions Answers / Notes Actions required
or objectives of the 
organisation?

Corporate Plan 

 Supports other policies such as the Rent Deposit Assistance Scheme 
which is a key prevention tool used to prevent homelessness 

 Supports the Allocations Policy as it seeks to prevent homelessness and 
minimise numbers who may otherwise access the Housing Register and 
place more demand on social housing 

 Supports financial strategies as the prevention of homelessness is more 
cost effective and provides value for money for the Council 

Hinder


1.8 What factors or forces are at 
play that could contribute or 
detract from the outcomes 
identified earlier?  

Contribute
 The requirement to have a homelessness strategy is a legal one set out 

in the Housing Act 1996 (as amended 2002) 
Detract
 Lack of corporate buy in for the Strategy (This issue is addressed via the 

Risk Assessment) 

 Lack of future investment in the service 

 Lack of funds to meet service delivery and demand 

1.9 How does the organisation 
interface with other bodies in 
relation to the implementation of 
this policy / function?  

It is essential that the authority works closely with key partners to implement 
and deliver this function. This Strategy cannot be delivered without key 
partners such as Housing Management, The Community Safety Unit, 
Benefits, and external agencies such as those operating in the Community 
and Voluntary Sector.  Partners could take responsibility for delivering 
actions contained within this strategy.  

P
age 60



Page 3 of 6

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) of Draft Homelessness Strategy 

1 Identify the aims of the policy/service/function and how it is implemented.
Key questions Answers / Notes Actions required

1.10 Taking the nine protected 
characteristics is there anything 
in the policy or how the service 
is delivered that could 
discriminate or disadvantage 
any of these groups?  

Age 
 The Strategy does not discriminate or disadvantage anyone due to their 

age.  
Marriage and Civil Partnership
 The Strategy does not treat anyone any differently due to their marital 

status 
Race
 The Strategy does not disadvantage on the grounds of race 
Pregnancy and maternity
 The Strategy does not discriminate if someone is pregnant or has a child 

or children 
Religion and belief
 The Strategy does not discriminate on the grounds of religion 
Sexual Orientation
 The Strategy does not discriminate on the grounds of Sexual Orientation 
Gender
 Regardless of a person’s gender they will receive the same level of 

service 
Gender Reassignment
 Where a person has had Gender Reassignment they will receive the 

same level of service 
Disability
 The Strategy does not discriminate if someone approaches the service 

and they have either a visible or invisible disability 

P
age 61



Page 4 of 6

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) of Draft Homelessness Strategy 

1 Identify the aims of the policy/service/function and how it is implemented.
Key questions Answers / Notes Actions required

1.11 From your perspective, how is 
the policy actually working in 
practice for each equalities 
group?

The Strategy is the overarching document for the Housing Needs Service 
and sets out the high level priorities for the service, alongside an action plan 
which will set out the actions that will be delivered to ensure the priorities are 
achieved.   The service delivered is needs based and the level of service 
received is based on this rather.

2 Consideration of available data, research and information
Key questions Answers / Notes Actions required

2.1 What do you already know 
about who uses and delivers 
this service? 

Those who use the service need housing advice or are threatened with 
homelessness, or they are already homeless.  Service users accommodation 
will not be settled, or there will be no accommodation available to them.  
Those who use the service often have multiple or complex needs, may have 
slept rough or maybe fleeing issues such as domestic abuse, or other forms 
of abuse (this list is not exhaustive) Most have a need for some housing 
advice, or accommodation and we may refer to other support services.  

2.2 What additional information is 
needed to ensure that all 
equality groups’ needs are taken 
into account?  

Information about the service from service users directly.  Currently the only 
feedback gathered form those who use the service is via the complaints and 
compliments route.  However it may be useful to introduce customer 
feedback as a way of gathering information that tells us how we are doing 
and we can then utilise this to develop and improve services and inform staff 
training.  

2.3 How are you going to go about 
getting the extra information that 
is required?

One off information gathering via a survey or focus group 
The use of feedback forms for those who drop in and use the service 
Mailouts to those who have used the service 

P
age 62



Page 5 of 6

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) of Draft Homelessness Strategy 

3 Formal consultation
Key questions Answers / Notes Actions required

3.1 Who do we need to consult 
with?  

Service Users 
Internal Departments within the Council 
Corporate Management Team 
Councillors 
Other key Partners and Stakeholders such as private landlords 
Other statutory bodies such as Job Centre Plus

4 Assessment of impact
Key questions Answers / Notes Actions required

4.1 Have you identified any 
differential impact and does this 
adversely affect any equalities 
groups?

I have identified no differential impact as the services that this Strategy sets 
out to deliver are based on need 

4.2 If there is an adverse impact can 
it be avoided, can we make 
changes, can we lessen it etc?

None

4.3 If there is nothing you can do, 
can the reasons be fairly 
justified?

None

P
age 63



Page 6 of 6

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) of Draft Homelessness Strategy 

5 Assessment of impact
Key questions Answers / Notes Actions required

5.1 Do any of the changes in 
relation to the adverse impact 
have a further adverse affect on 
any other group?

N/A

P
age 64



1

Appendix 5

Gravesham Borough Councils Homelessness Strategy Review and Evidence Base

Page 65



2

1. Introduction 

Homelessness has a detrimental effect on individuals, families and communities.  It can be 
linked to alcohol and drug abuse, poor physical and mental health, crime and anti-social 
behaviour, poor educational attainment, debt, unemployment and the breakdown of support 
networks.  Tackling homelessness can be costly when compared to the costs associated 
with proactively seeking to prevent homelessness in the first place. 

The Housing Act 1996 (as amended 2002) requires all local authorities to carry out a review 
of homelessness and homeless services within their area and keep their strategies under 
review. The same act prescribes the considerations that Local Authorities should undertake 
in conducting a review of homelessness and the purpose of the review in terms of informing 
a future homelessness prevention strategy.  This requirement was further strengthened in 
the new Homelessness Reduction Act 2017. Gravesham Borough Council’s previous 
Homelessness Strategy has now expired and to address this requirement this review paper 
considers the most up to date evidence to determine if the priorities contained within the 
expired strategy remain the same or if they require revision. It will also consider the new 
Homeless Reduction Act 2017 which received Royal Assent in April 2017 and has been 
implemented by Authorities in April 2018.   Following the completion of this review the 
Council intends to produce and implement a revised 5-year homelessness strategy.  It will 
act as a complementary document to the Councils other key documents such as the 
Corporate Plan and the Local Plan.  Alongside this will be a comprehensive and detailed 
action plan which will be reviewed annually in line with guidance contained within the new 
Code of Guidance published to support the new legislation.  The Strategy will also be 
complemented by a full equalities impact assessment and a risk assessment.    

2. What is Homelessness?

Homelessness is defined both within the old Homelessness Code of Guidance and the new 
Homelessness Code of Guidance as:

“… somebody is statutorily homeless if they do not have a accommodation that they have a 
legal right to occupy, which is accessible and physically available to them (and their 
household) and which it would be reasonable for them to continue to live in … “

For the purposes of this review and when the strategy is developed the term homelessness 
will take this definition in the guidance into consideration but will be used as a broad concept 
that includes a number of additional categories, ranging from those temporarily sheltered in 
homeless hostels, to hidden groups like ‘sofa surfers’, who are seeking temporary 
accommodation from friends and families following the loss of their own home, to those in 
overcrowded and unsuitable accommodation. 

For the purposes of the annual Rough Sleeper Estimate there is an additional definition of 
what constitutes Rough Sleeping 

“People sleeping, about to bed down (sitting on/in or standing next to their bedding) or 
actually bedded down in the open air (such as on the streets, in tents, doorways, parks, bus 

Page 66



3

shelters or encampments). People in buildings or other places not designed for habitation 
(such as stairwells, barns, sheds, car parks, cars, derelict boats, stations, or “bashes”)”

Throughout this document and in the strategy Homelessness will be used as generic term to 
incorporate all forms of homelessness, but where information relates to specific groups this 
will be identified.  

3. Strategic Context 

This section sets out the strategic and legislative context within which this Strategy is framed 
at a national, regional and local level.

3.1 National 

Since 2002, the government made homelessness prevention a priority, by providing 
increased funding to tackle homelessness, setting challenging targets for the prevention of 
homelessness, and placing requirements on local councils to produce homelessness 
strategies. The 2002 Homelessness Act amended the 1996 Housing Act by extending the 
definition of priority need to include new groups of vulnerable people, whilst outlining the 
requirements placed upon local authorities to produce homelessness strategies informed by 
a review of performance, current service provision and estimated future need. The Act 
stated that the focus of these strategies was to be on preventative measures, as well as 
emphasising the importance of offering advice to all people in housing need.  

The focus of services has remained on the prevention of homelessness since 2002, but the 
prevention of homelessness has always been regarded as best practice and the most cost 
effective way to approach homelessness but was not a duty placed on Councils.  Until 2017 
the prevention of homelessness was supported by initiatives in recent years such as the 
Governments No Second Night Out Agenda and the publication of Making Every Contact 
Count, which was billed as the Governments Homelessness Prevention Strategy which 
ensured previous priorities set by Government continued to be tackled and allow authorities 
to continue to deliver effective homelessness services, prevent homelessness, reduce the 
use of Temporary Accommodation and end the worst manifestations of homelessness such 
as families living in Bed and Breakfast Accommodation and Rough Sleeping.  

As demonstrated Homelessness has always been in the spotlight, but more recently it has 
remained on the political and media agenda with all of the major party manifestos making 
mention of homelessness in the June 2017 election, and the current Conservative 
Government has pledged to halve rough sleeping by 2022 and eliminate it altogether by 
2027. The Prime Minister has also established a high-level Rough Sleeping and 
Homelessness Reduction Taskforce supported by an expert Rough Sleeping Advisory 
Panel.  This was in response to increasing levels of homelessness across the UK. 

This has been alongside the recent Royal Assent of the New Homelessness Reduction Act 
2017 and its subsequent implementation in April 2018 which has made the prevention and 
relief of homelessness a duty for authorities.  Government continues to supplement Local 
Authority resources, and has provided further additional funding to support the roll out of the 
new Act in the forms of the Flexible Homeless Support Grant (which replaces the Temporary 

Page 67



4

Accommodation Management Fee) and through new burdens funding and more recently 
additional money announced for tackling Rough Sleeping targeted at specific areas and to 
deliver projects such as Housing First.  However in the current climate of Government 
budgets being reduced the future of this funding is uncertain despite the Government 
commitment to Homelessness.

3.2 The Homeless Reduction Act 

The Homeless Reduction Bill was a Private members Bill taken through Parliament by Bob 
Blackman MP which resulted in the most significant changes to homelessness for a number 
of years. 

The Homelessness Reduction Bill received Royal Assent on 27 April 2017 and was enacted 
in April 2018. The new Homeless Reduction Act substantially amends Part 7 of the Housing 
Act 1996 and modifies and extends the homelessness protection in a number of key ways: 

Improved advice and information about homelessness and the prevention of 
homelessness

A review of the 2002 Act demonstrated that the advice and information provided to single 
homeless people needed to be more effective.  The new Act clearly sets out that everyone in 
a district should be able to access free information and advice on the prevention of 
homelessness and services providing advice and information must be designed to meet the 
needs of particular groups of people, for example care leavers or those experiencing 
domestic abuse.  

Extension of the period “threatened with homelessness”

Under the 1996 Housing act an applicant is only threatened with homelessness if they are 
likely to become homeless within 28 days.  Under the new Act this period is extended to 56 
days or if the applicant has been served with a valid Section 21 notice that expires in 56 
days or less.  

The introduction of new duties to prevent and relieve homelessness for all eligible 
people, regardless of priority need and intentionality 

Although the concept of prevention was introduced via an amendment to the Housing Act 
1996 in 2002, most of the prevention and relief work completed by authorities sat outside the 
statutory framework.  This often led to single homeless people only receiving advice and 
information to prevent or relieve their homelessness.  The new act will ensure that all people 
who are threatened with homelessness or who are homeless will be entitled to support from 
the authority regardless of priority need or intentionality.  This will be achieved via a full 
assessment of the households needs and the development of a personalised housing plan.  

Interim accommodation will still be provided to those who are homeless, eligible and have a 
priority need and for whom the authority have accepted a duty to relieve their homelessness. 

Applicants who have a priority need, and whose homelessness cannot be prevented or 
relived after the 56 days will be owed the main housing duty unless they have made 

Page 68



5

themselves intentionally homeless or they have refused to co-operate.  

To discharge the new duties the authority must be satisfied that any accommodation 
secured will be available for 6months or more.  

The introduction of assessments and personalised housing plans, setting out the 
actions housing authorities and individuals will take to secure accommodation 

The new act introduces a requirement for authorities to conduct a full assessment of all 
eligible household needs and consider the circumstances that led to the homelessness, the 
applicant’s needs and whether the household needs support to secure and sustain 
accommodation.   

A personal housing plan will then be developed which will set out steps the authority and the 
applicant must take to help the household to secure accommodation.  

Where an applicant refuses to co-operate with their key steps in their personal housing plan, 
the authority can take action to discharge its duties.  

Encouraging public bodies to work together to prevent and relieve homelessness 
through a duty to refer. 

The new act introduces a new duty to refer an individual’s case (with their consent) to a 
housing authority identified by the applicant.   This element of the new act is scheduled to be 
introduced in October 2018.

The Code of Guidance is a document that supports the legislation and this has been 
redrafted to reflect the new duties and the Government consulted on this at the end of 2017. 
The final version was published in March 2018 ahead of the implementation date of the new 
Act. The link to the revised Homelessness Code of Guidance can be found here:

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities

The Governments Rough Sleeping Strategy 

Most recently in August 2018 the Government has launched its Rough Sleeping Strategy 
with the aim of halving Rough Sleeping by 2022 and eliminating it by 2027.  The strategy 
sets out the vision to support everyone who sleeps rough off the streets and into a home.  
This has initially been supported by £100 million of funding up until 2027 but work has 
already begun to address issues which may contribute to homelessness beyond the next 2 
years.  

Other Key Legislation 

Following the change of Government in 2015, the referendum in 2016 which has resulted in 
the UK preparing to leave the EU in March 2019 and the general election in 2017 that 
followed this referendum outcome, aside from the new Homelessness Reduction Act, there 
has been a significant amount of new legislation since Gravesham Borough Councils last 
Homelessness Prevention Strategy, much of which may impact either directly or indirectly on 
homelessness.  A summary of the most relevant changes are outlined below:  

Page 69

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities


6

3.3.1 Energy Act 2013 

This included provisions to enable the Secretary of State to issue regulations requiring 
private landlords to provide smoke and/or carbon monoxide alarms. The Smoke and Carbon 
Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015 took effect from 1st October 2015 and require 
a smoke alarm on every floor and a carbon monoxide alarm in any room which contains a 
solid fuel-burning combustion appliance. The landlord also has to ensure that any such 
alarm is in proper working order at the start of a new tenancy. Local authorities are required 
to enforce the regulations. The link to the Energy Act can be found here:

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/energy-act

3.3.2 Growth & Infrastructure Act 2013 

From 1st May 2013 this introduced a new procedure for developers to apply to the local 
authority to review affordable housing obligations attached to planning permissions on 
viability grounds, with a right of appeal to the Secretary of State. The link to information on 
this Act can be found below: 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2013/27/contents/enacted

3.3.3 Enterprise & Regulatory Reform Act 2013 

Regulations made by the Secretary of State under this Act require letting agents and 
property managers in England to belong to one of three “approved redress” schemes. The 
intended effect is that complaints against such agents/managers can be investigated and 
determined by an independent person. Information on this can be found at the link below: 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2013/24/contents/enacted

3.3.4 Welfare Benefits Up-rating Act 2013 

This placed a limit on the level of a range of welfare benefits in the United Kingdom. It 
introduced a cap on most working-age benefits, limiting rises to 1% per year for three years 
from April 2014, regardless of inflation. 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2013/16/contents/enacted/data.htm

3.3.5 Mobile Homes Act 2013 

The licensing system that applies to mobile home sites in England has been brought more 
closely in line with other local authority licensing regimes by this Act. The Act also includes 
powers (not yet used) for the Secretary of State to introduce a “fit and proper” person 
requirement for managers of mobile home sites and to require local authorities to keep and 
publish a register of such people. 

Page 70

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/energy-act
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2013/27/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2013/24/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2013/16/contents/enacted/data.htm


7

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2013/14/contents/enacted

3.3.6 Prevention of Social Housing Fraud Statutory Instrument 

This Act makes it a criminal offence for a tenant of social housing to sublet the whole of their 
home for a profit and strengthens the powers of social landlords to tackle tenants who do 
sublet. 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2014/9780111110058

3.3.7 Care Act 2014 

The Care Act is mainly about adults in need of care and support, and their adult carers. It 
outlines the way in which local authorities should carry out carer’s assessments and needs 
assessments; how local authorities should determine who is eligible for support; how local 
authorities should charge for both residential care and community care; and places new 
obligations on local authorities. From April 2020 it also introduces a cap (value yet to be 
announced) on the amount people have to pay towards the cost of care and support over 
their lifetime. 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted

3.3.8 Immigration Act 2014 

The Right to Rent scheme was introduced through this Act to prohibit illegal migrants from 
accessing private sector rented housing. Under the scheme, private landlords, letting agents 
and homeowners who let rooms need to check the right of prospective tenants to be in the 
country by checking documents, for example a passport or biometric residence permit. 
Landlords who fail to make the right checks are liable for a civil penalty of up to £3,000 per 
illegal migrant tenant. 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/22/contents/enacted

3.3.9 Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014
This Act reformed the powers available to Police Officers, Council Staff and Social Landlords 
to tackle Anti – Social behaviour.  It includes measures on injunctions, criminal behaviour 
orders, dispersal powers, community protection and housing possession proceedings.  It 
introduced the community trigger where a victim or community can require action if a locally 
set threshold of level/persistence of behaviour has been reached and gives the victims a say 
in out of court punishments for perpetrators.  

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/contents/enacted

3.3.10 Housing Standards Review outcome 2015 

Page 71

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2013/14/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2014/9780111110058
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/22/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/contents/enacted


8

Starting in 2012 this review investigated the complexity of the various design standards 
being asked of house builders and brought forward proposals to streamline them. The 
outcome was to incorporate housing standards, with a small number of exceptions, into the 
nationally prescribed Building Regulations system from 1st October 2015. Additional 
standards can no longer be required through the planning process. The exceptions are three 
nationally defined optional standards: accessibility; water efficiency; and space. The local 
authority may require one or more of these provided that it has been tested for viability and 
then included in the adopted Local Plan for the area. 

3.3.11 Deregulation Act 2015 

Miscellaneous housing measures contained within this act included: reducing the qualifying 
period for council tenants wishing to buy their home from five years to three; removing the 
Secretary of State’s power to require a council to produce a housing strategy; and clarifying 
the law around tenancy deposit schemes.
However the main new provisions in this Act apply to the private rented sector. It prevents 
tenants from being evicted where they have raised a legitimate complaint about the state of 
repair of their home. Private landlords must also provide all new tenants with information 
about their rights and responsibilities and, for new Assured Shorthold Tenancies, a landlord 
cannot serve a notice to quit (“section 21 notice”) within the first four months of the tenancy, 
and can only serve the notice after that time if they have complied with certain legal 
responsibilities. 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/20/contents/enacted

3.3.12 Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 

This Act places a new duty on local authorities to keep a register of individuals and 
community groups who have expressed an interest in acquiring land to bring forward self-
build and custom-build projects and to take account of the register in developing housing 
initiatives and local plans. 

The Self-build and Custom Housebuilding (Register) Regulations 2016 about the form, 
content and procedures around the register came into effect from 1st April 2016. 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/17/section/1/enacted

3.3.13 Stamp Duty Land Tax Act 2015 

A new calculation method for Stamp Duty Land Tax (SDLT) on residential properties was 
introduced whereby the rate of tax is now paid on the amount above certain thresholds 
rather than one rate on the total amount. 

Although not within this Act it is worth mentioning that in the 2016 Budget the government 
also introduced a new higher rate of SDLT from 1st April 2016 for those buying second 
homes, adding an extra 3% of the purchase price to the standard SDLT rate for the property. 
The government’s aim for this measure was to reduce competition between buy-to-let 
landlords and first-time buyers. It also overhauled commercial stamp duty, raising the top 

Page 72

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/20/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/17/section/1/enacted


9

rate from 4% to 5%, thus increasing the transaction costs of land deals worth more than 
£1.05m and affecting those, including housing associations, buying sites to develop for 
market rent homes. 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/1/contents/enacted

3.3.14 Cities and local Government Devolution Act 2016 

This offers areas the opportunity to negotiate with the government for additional powers they 
feel they may need to create jobs, strengthen healthy communities, protect the vulnerable 
and build homes. 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/1/contents/enacted

3.3.15 Immigration Act 2016 

Supplementing the Right to Rent measures from 2014 covered above this statute makes it a 
criminal offence for a private landlord to knowingly rent premises to an illegal migrant and, if 
found guilty, the landlord can face up to 5 years in prison.  The Act also introduces a new 
mandatory possession ground relating to illegal migrants in private sector tenancies 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/19/contents/enacted

3.3.16 Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016

From Autumn 2016 the benefit cap was lowered so that the total amount of benefits that a 
family on out of work benefits receives in a year cannot exceed £20,000 for couples and 
lone parents and £13,400 for single claimants. A number of Tax Credit rates and welfare 
benefit rates were frozen for 4 years starting from 2016/2017 while rents in social housing 
were reduced by 1% per year for 4 years starting in April 2016.  Benefit support for mortgage 
interest payments has also been replaced by a loan scheme. 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/7/contents/enacted

3.3.17 Housing and Planning Act 2016 

This major piece of legislation is the most significant for the housing sector as it sets the 
future direction for government housing policy. It contains wide-ranging changes in all 
housing tenures. However much of the detail is left to regulations which have not been 
published at the time of this review. 

On owner occupation it introduces the “starter home”, which is a new home available to first-
time buyers at a discount of at least 20% of market value and a price (after discount) of less 
than £250,000 outside Greater London. The buyer must be aged 23 to 39. Councils are put 
under a duty to promote the supply of starter homes through the planning system and will 
only be able to grant planning permission on most housing sites where a specified 
proportion of starter homes has been included. 

Page 73

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/1/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/1/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/19/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/7/contents/enacted


10

The Act amends the Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 placing a duty on local 
authorities to give enough planning permissions for serviced plots of land to meet the 
demand for self-build and custom housebuilding in their district. 

Among a range of other changes to the planning system it also gives the Secretary of State 
power to make regulations to impose restrictions or conditions on the enforceability of 
planning obligations in connection with affordable housing. 

In the private rented sector the Secretary of State has powers to require landlords to ensure 
that their properties meet electrical safety standards and a national database of rogue 
landlords and letting agents has been set up. Local authorities will be able to apply for 
“banning orders” against landlords/letting agents who have committed certain housing 
offences and both local authorities and tenants will be allowed to apply for a “Rent 
Repayment Order” for up to 12 months’ rent against a landlord who has committed certain 
offences. There will be a new process for private landlords to repossess a property without a 
court order if they believe it has been abandoned. 

For local authority housing the Act creates a new duty to consider selling “higher value” 
homes when they become vacant. The government will estimate for each local authority how 
much it could raise from such sales each year and the council will be required to pay that 
amount to the Treasury, regardless of how much it has actually been able to raise. 

Tenants who are not in receipt of Housing Benefit and earning more than £31,000 per year 
will be required to pay higher rents on a sliding scale at an extra 15 pence for every pound 
earned above the threshold. The additional rental income is not retained by the council but 
has to be paid to the Treasury. Since publication of the Act the Government has decided not 
to pursue this element of it. 

Finally the periodic secure tenancies (often called “lifetime tenancies”) used by local 
authorities almost universally are to be phased out and replaced with fixed-term tenancies of 
between two and 10 years. 

For housing associations the Right To Buy is to be extended on a voluntary basis to tenants, 
with full compensation for any discounts being paid to the landlord by the government. The 
intention is that this will be funded by the money generated by charging councils for higher 
value home sales although this link is not explicitly included in the Act. 

In light of a reclassification by the Office for National Statistics and the consequent transfer 
of housing association debt to the public sector balance sheet there is a package of 
deregulation measures in the Act aimed at reversing this. This includes making it easier for 
associations to sell properties and to restructure their businesses and also limiting local 
authority influence. Alongside this are safeguards in new detailed procedures for dealing 
with insolvency of housing associations. 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/22/contents/enacted

Page 74

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/22/contents/enacted


11

3.3.18 Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017  

This Act includes strengthening neighbourhood planning; changes to the use of planning 
conditions; consolidating and clarifying the law on compulsory purchase; putting the 
Independent National Infrastructure Commission on a statutory basis; and enabling the 
privatisation of the Land Registry. 

3.3.19 New rules on licensing of houses in multiple occupation 

In the Winter of 2015 the government produced a technical discussion paper for consultation 
setting out proposals for improving the process for licensing houses in multiple occupation 
(HMOs) and options for extending the scope of mandatory licensing of HMOs. (Currently 
only larger HMOs have to be licensed i.e. those with three or more storeys occupied by five 
or more people that aren’t a single household.) The outcome of all of this has now been 
published and extension of mandatory licensing has commenced in October 2018.  

3.3.20 Capping of Housing Benefit on social housing rents 

In the Autumn Statement 2015 the Chancellor announced that Housing Benefit for council 
and housing association rents (both social and affordable) will be capped at the same level 
as applies to the private rented sector for the area, known as the Local Housing Allowance 
rate. This includes restricting Housing Benefit for single people younger than 35 to the rate 
for a shared room rather than a self-contained flat. This took effect from 1st April 2018 but 
was applied to all new tenancies entered into from 1st April 2016, or 1st April 2017 where 
the tenancy is of supported accommodation (see below). 

A timetable setting out the key benefit changes can be found at the following link 

https://www.turn2us.org.uk/Benefit-guides/Benefit-Changes/Benefit-Changes-Timetable-
2017-2018

More to come: 

Some of the changes within this legislation are still in the process of being implemented and 
in particularly in the case of Housing and Planning Act 2016 many regulations are still to be 
produced.  In addition there are other changes that have been announced or that are being 
consulted on that will need to be considered.  

3.3.21 Department for Works and Pensions & Ministry of Housing Communities and 
Local Government joint review of supported accommodation 

Supported Housing provides accommodation to some of the most vulnerable people. It gives 
people in crisis a secure place to stay.  The Government published proposals to change the 
way Supported Housing was funded and undertook a consultation on the proposals.  A 
consultation has been concluded and the link to this is below:  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/funding-for-supported-housing

Page 75

https://www.turn2us.org.uk/Benefit-guides/Benefit-Changes/Benefit-Changes-Timetable-2017-2018
https://www.turn2us.org.uk/Benefit-guides/Benefit-Changes/Benefit-Changes-Timetable-2017-2018
https://www.turn2us.org.uk/Benefit-guides/Benefit-Changes/Benefit-Changes-Timetable-2017-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/funding-for-supported-housing


12

As a result of this consultation the Government has announced that it will keep funding for 
Supported Housing within housing benefit, this means residents will claim housing benefit as 
usual, with their rent normally being paid directly to their landlord.

3.3.22 Changes to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

In December 2015 the government consulted on a number of changes to the NPPF with 
proposals to broaden the definition of affordable housing for planning purposes so that it 
encompasses a wider range of low cost housing opportunities for those aspiring to own their 
own home, including the starter home product referred to above. 
Other proposals included: increasing the density of development around commuter hubs; 
supporting sustainable new settlements, development on brownfield land and small sites, 
and delivery of housing allocated in plans; and supporting delivery of starter homes. 

3.3.23 Shared Ownership and Affordable Homes Programme 2016 – 2021 

In April 2016 the Homes & Communities Agency published the prospectus for a new 
programme of grant funding for affordable housing for the period from 2016 to 2021. A total 
of £4.7 billion is available to support provision of 135,000 homes for shared ownership, 
10,000 homes for Rent To Buy and 8,000 homes for supported and older people’s rental 
accommodation. The bidding round was open until September 2016 but the programme is 
“back-loaded” with 90% of the grant being spent over the last three years. A continuous 
market engagement process is therefore ongoing.   

3.3.24 Syrian refugees 

Following a significant increase in the number of migrants fleeing Syria in 2015 the 
government decided in September that year to significantly extend its ‘Syrian Vulnerable 
Person Resettlement Programme’ to help up to 20,000 refugees from the region over a five 
year period. The government works with local authorities and their associations to plan the 
resettlement programme and provides financial support to those authorities that agree to 
assist with resettlement in their area. 

Gravesham has, along with many other authorities in Kent agreed to resettle a number of 
refugees within its district.  

3.3.25 Leaving the European Union 

In the national referendum on 23rd June 2016 the United Kingdom voted to leave the 
European Union. The date scheduled for the UK to leave the European Union is March 2019 
and negotiations for leaving are ongoing at the time of writing. Whatever the outcome of the 
Brexit negotiations there may be ramifications in a number of key housing-related areas, 
such as: 

 The housing market 
 The labour market 
 Forecast and actual population growth 

Page 76



13

 The economy 
 Financing programmes 
 Procurement rules 

3.3. The cost of Homelessness 

A paper produced by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) entitled “Evidence review of the costs of homelessness” produced in August 2012 
estimates that homelessness costs the Government between £24,000 and £30,000 gross 
per person (although the net cost will be lower)  This figure is derived from a number of 
studies previously undertaken.  

The paper then goes on to look at a break down of where the costs come from across all 
Government Departments: 

Department for Works and Pensions: Costs are likely to increase as a result of benefits 
payments, employment programmes, associated administrations costs and payments to 
Local Authorities for administering Housing Benefit

Department of Health: Health problems, in particular mental health, substance misuse and 
alcohol dependency are more prevalent amongst the homeless population, especially rough 
sleepers.  The paper states however that there is a lack of evidence of the numbers of 
homeless people engaging with health services but case study evidence suggests the cost 
to public services of people with multiple needs is considerable.

Ministry of Justice: Research suggests that homelessness and offending behaviour are 
closely linked and mutually perpetuating.  Costs to the criminal justice system and policing 
may be significant – for example costs for a drug conviction are estimated at around £16,000

Local Authorities: Expenditure on homelessness in 2010 – 2011 totalled almost £345m with 
nearly 1/3 of this being spent on temporary accommodation, £70m on prevention and the 
rest on the administration of homelessness functions.  

Link to the report Evidence Review of the Costs of Homelessness:

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7596/2200485
.pdf

Money to deliver Homelessness Prevention activity previously came directly to local 
authorities from Central Government in the form of a grant.  However the Coalition 
Government changed the way Local Authorities homelessness grant was paid and this 
funding is currently received via the Business Rate Retention Scheme, which was a change 
in the way services were funded, not a change in the grant. From 2020 Councils will get to 
keep their Business Rates and Homelessness will be funded from this

Central Government has confirmed Grant Funding for Gravesham until 2019. This gives 
Gravesham Borough Council the financial certainty required to commission and deliver 

Page 77

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7596/2200485.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7596/2200485.pdf


14

essential homelessness prevention services.  This has been supplemented by additional 
funding to prevent homelessness in the form of the Flexible Homeless Support Grant and 
the new burdens funding to support the rollout of the Homeless Reduction Act.  

4. Legal Context

The legislation that covers Gravesham Borough Councils main duties in respect of 
Homelessness is Part VII of the 1996 Housing Act (as amended by the Homelessness Act 
2002) and amended more recently by the Homelessness Reduction Act (2017).  Prior to the 
Housing Act 1996 enactment, all households that were accepted as homeless had the right 
to permanent housing. Following the legislative changes in 1997, Councils were placed 
under a duty to temporarily accommodate homeless households that they deemed to be in 
"priority need".  Access to permanent social housing is now administered on a basis of 
"reasonable preference" via the choice based lettings scheme (as per Part VI of the Housing 
Act 1996). Amendments to the Housing Act 1996 made in 2002 extended the "priority need" 
groups to include:

 16 and 17 year olds (except relevant children i.e. those who Social Services have a 
responsibility under the Children (leaving care) Act 2000)

 people who are considered vulnerable as a result of fleeing violence (or threats of 
violence)

 people who are vulnerable as a result of spending time in the armed forces, serving 
time in prison or a care background.

Under the 1996 (as amended) if the Council found an applicant unintentionally homeless, 
eligible for assistance with a  priority need for accommodation, the Council had a duty under 
section 190 (2) to:

 Ensure that accommodation is available for the applicants occupation for such period 
as it considers will give the applicant a reasonable opportunity to secure 
accommodation

 Provide the applicant, or secure that the applicant is provided with, advice and 
assistance in any attempts they may make to ensure accommodation becomes 
available for their occupation

Where the applicant was deemed to be intentionally homeless, eligible for assistance and 
did not have a priority need, the Council had a duty under section 190 (3) to provide advice 
and assistance in any attempts by the applicant to secure accommodation for their 
occupation.

However the new Homeless Reduction Act 2017 implemented in April 2018 fundamentally 
changes Part VII of the Housing Act 1996 and the new duties placed on authorities were 
outlined in Section 3.2.3 of this evidence base.  A link to the legislation can be found here 

Page 78



15

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/13/contents/enacted

5. Regional Context 

5.1 The Kent Housing Group 

The Kent Housing Group (KHG) is a forum for social housing organisations in Kent. KHG 
has representation from all twelve Kent local authorities, Medway Council, fifteen housing 
associations and Kent County Council. KHG also has affiliated representation from the 
Homes and Communities Agency and when required other partner agencies such as the 
National Housing Federation and the National Landlords Association.  Representation from 
each of the members is at a senior level, so a Head of Service within the local authority or 
Chief Executive of a housing association.

KHG has an Executive Board, which oversees and provides guidance for the wider 
membership and sub groups, to ensure that the aims and objectives of the group are 
met. Representation on the KHG Executive Board includes three local authorities, three 
housing associations, Kent County Council, KHG Treasurer, Medway Council and the South 
East Local Enterprise Partnership.

Primarily KHG encourages sharing best practice, identifying areas for joint working and 
agreeing positive objectives for housing.  As a collective the group also aims to:

 Provide strategic leadership – shaping and setting the housing agenda;
 To build relationships and influence decisions for the benefit of Kent;
 To draw in resources from both traditional and alternative sources.
 To work together to improve the supply and quality of affordable homes.
 To create sustainable communities in Kent.

5.1.1 Sub Groups 

Kent Housing Group has a number of sub groups that sit beneath the umbrella of the main 
membership.

These sub groups are both strategic and operational, they all have varying roles and 
functions, but ultimately they all support the vision and objectives of Kent Housing Group.

The Groups are: 

 The Dementia Action Alliance Housing Sub Group 

 The Hospital Discharge Group 

 JSNA Sub Group 

Page 79

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/13/contents/enacted


16

 Kent Employment Support Sub group 

 Kent Engagement Sub Group 

 Kent Housing Options Sub Group 

 Kent Housing Strategy and Enabling Sub Group 

 Kent Neighbourhood Management Sub Group 

 Kent Private Sector Housing Sub Group 

 Service Personnel Sub Group 

A link to the groups can be found below and once on the page each sub group can be 
clicked on to find out further information about the work of that particular group: 

http://www.kenthousinggroup.org.uk/subgroups/

The key group for the purposes of supporting the work of this strategy is the Kent Housing 
Options Sub Group. 

5.1.2 Strategies, Policies, Consultations and Briefings 

Kent Housing Group has developed a number of Strategies, Policies and protocols for the 
area and there are many themes covered by the Strategy and Protocol documents.  Each 
has agreed outcomes or recommendations endorsed by the appropriate group or level of 
authority. A link to the Strategies, Policies and Protocols can be found at the following link:

http://www.kenthousinggroup.org.uk/strategies-protocols/

Kent Housing Group also responds to National and Local consultations on behalf of the 
whole membership.  All responses and other correspondence documents developed by the 
group are based upon a majority view point.

The KHG membership takes all opportunities to influence potential changes in legislation or 
policy and will seek advice and expertise from within the membership to ensure all 
correspondence is comprehensive and based on the appropriate facts depending on the 
topic in question. The link to consultation responses and briefings can be found at the below 
link: 

http://www.kenthousinggroup.org.uk/strategies-protocols/briefing-papers-consultation-
responses/

Page 80

http://www.kenthousinggroup.org.uk/subgroups/
http://www.kenthousinggroup.org.uk/strategies-protocols/
http://www.kenthousinggroup.org.uk/strategies-protocols/briefing-papers-consultation-responses/
http://www.kenthousinggroup.org.uk/strategies-protocols/briefing-papers-consultation-responses/


17

5.2 Ebbsfleet Garden Development 

Ebbsfleet Valley is a new town and area of redevelopment to the South West of Gravesend.  
The development straddles Dartford and Gravesham and contains a number of key strategic 
development sites.  

The redevelopment is being led by Ebbsfleet Development Corporation set up specifically to 
deliver this project.  It is proposed that the development will increase the population of the 
area by 40,000, with around 15,000 new homes being developed in the Garden City 
predominantly on brownfield sites and old quarries.    

In addition to this in 2017 the Government gave strong backing to Option C for the 
development of a third Thames Crossing that would cross the River Thames joining Essex 
and Kent to relieve pressure on the M25.

6. Local Context

6.1 Gravesham Borough Councils Corporate Plan 

The Corporate Plan sets out Gravesham Borough Councils vision for the borough and the 
actions the Council will take to achieve this.  In October 2015 the Council adopted its new 
Corporate Plan, which focuses on 'Delivering for the Community', and covers the period 
2015-19 and sets out the Councils vision 

The plan also details a suite of objectives and policy commitments that will shape everything 
the Council does and how it will achieve this over the lifetime of the plan and is based on a 
number of sources; consultation with the community, statistics outlining community needs in 
the borough and the manifesto pledges of the Councils administration.

The Corporate plan has developed a clear vision for the borough; a safer, stronger, 
sustainable Gravesham. Individually, these are three distinct objectives each with their own 
portfolio of activities, but together these are objectives that work with each other for the 
benefit of local residents.

Given the challenge of ever reduced government funding, in order to be successful in 
realising the Councils vision each of the objectives will be underpinned and delivered by one 
final objective; the creation of a sound and self-sufficient council.

The Vision

“Safer, Stronger, Sustainable Gravesham”

Page 81



18

 Safer Gravesham: where local residents and visitors can live, work and travel in a 
safe, clean and green borough;

 Stronger Gravesham: a healthier more cohesive community where children have 
the best start in life and people are proud to call home;

 Sustainable Gravesham: a thriving and sustainable local economy, built on the 
foundations of high quality regeneration and development projects;

 Sound and self-sufficient council: a well-run and innovative council supporting its 
staff to realise commercial opportunities whilst transforming its services to deliver at 
the best possible value for money.

Table xx shows how this Homelessness Prevention Strategy will help the Council meet its 
corporate objectives 

Table xx – How the Councils Homelessness Prevention Strategy will address the Councils 
Corporate Plan Objectives   

Corporate Plan Objective How this Strategy will address the 
Objective 

Safer Gravesham: where local residents 
and visitors can live, work and travel in a 
safe, clean and green borough;

By setting out actions that support a 
service that is proactive and responsive 
to individuals needs and one which 
prevents those who live in the Borough 
from becoming homeless and support to 
prevent the repetition of homelessness.

Stronger Gravesham: a healthier more 
cohesive community where children 
have the best start in life and people are 
proud to call home;

The prevention of homelessness will 
enable individuals to remain in their own 
homes or secure new accommodation 
which will contribute to cohesive 
communities and will ensure children 
have a good start in life.  

Sustainable Gravesham: a thriving and 
sustainable local economy, built on the 
foundations of high quality regeneration 
and development projects;

The supply of new homes will contribute 
to the homelessness prevention agenda 
and provide good quality homes for 
those who live in the district

Sound and self-sufficient council: a 
well-run and innovative council 
supporting its staff to realise commercial 
opportunities whilst transforming its 
services to deliver at the best possible 
value for money

The prevention of homelessness and a 
renewed emphasis on this and providing 
more individualised services, and 
working collaboratively with partners at 
the earliest possible opportunity is more 
cost effective than dealing with 
homelessness which provides value of 
money and will assist the Council in 
meetings its current a future financial 
targets 

Page 82



19

Webpage link giving more information on Gravesham Borough Councils Corporate Plan:

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/207466/GBC-Corporate-Plan-
2015-19.pdf

6.2 Gravesham Borough Councils Housing Strategy  

Gravesham Borough Councils Housing Strategy expired in 2013.  Specifically contained 
within this strategy were priorities relating to homelessness.  

Given that the Deregulation Act 2015 has abolished the requirement for authorities to have a 
Housing Strategy this new Homelessness Prevention Strategy will be a stand-alone 
document but, should Government amend its approach to Housing Strategies, or the Council 
chooses to produce a Housing Strategy, then this Prevention Strategy will complement this 
and will assist the Council in meeting any priorities contained within this. The Prevention 
Strategy will also sit alongside, and give regard to the Councils Tenancy Strategy.   

6.3 Gravesham Borough Councils Allocations Policy 

Gravesham Borough Council Allocations Policy is available here: 

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/240140/Housing-Allocations-
Policy.pdf

This policy is currently under review in line with the introduction of the Homelessness 
Reduction Act and a revised policy is due for publication during 2019.

6.3.1 Nominations agreements 

Legislation provides the framework for co-operation between Local Authorities and 
Registered Providers and nomination agreements set out the way in which this happens.  
The main providers in Gravesham and links to their websites:  

Moat Housing 

https://www.moat.co.uk/

Hyde Housing 

https://www.hyde-housing.co.uk/

Town and Country 

https://www.tchg.org.uk/

Page 83

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/207466/GBC-Corporate-Plan-2015-19.pdf
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/207466/GBC-Corporate-Plan-2015-19.pdf
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/240140/Housing-Allocations-Policy.pdf
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/240140/Housing-Allocations-Policy.pdf
https://www.moat.co.uk/
https://www.hyde-housing.co.uk/
https://www.tchg.org.uk/


20

Nomination agreements set out what is expected of each of the partners. Gravesham 
Borough Councils nominations agreement states that the Council will get 100% nomination 
rights on all new build sites and 75% on other homes that come up for rent via Registered 
Providers.  

Quarterly monitoring information is collated from Registered Providers to ensure that the 
nominations agreement is being met. Table xx shows the no of homes each provider 
advertised via CBL and the percentage of nomination rights.   

Table xx – Registered Providers Nominations 2016 – 2017 and 2017 - 2018
2016/2017 2017/2018Housing 

Association
CBL HAT % 

CBL
% 
HAT

CBL HAT % 
CBL

% 
HAT

Clarion Housing 
Group 
(previously 
Affinity Sutton 
and Circle)

1 0 100% 0% 1 0 100% 0%

Optivo 
(previously 
Amicus and 
Viridian)

2 0 100% 0% 0 0 0% 0%

GCHA 16 12 57% 43% 22 10 69% 31%

Hyde Housing 3 0 100% 0% 40 10 80% 20%

Moat 7 4 64% 36% 10 2 83% 17%

Town & Country 5 1 83% 17% 7 2 78% 22% 

London & 
Quadrant

2 0 100% 0% 3 0 100% 0%

West Kent 
Housing 
Association 
(WKHA)

1 0 100% 0% 2 0 100% 0%

Note: These figures exclude specialist housing i.e. Abbeyfield & Sanctuary Extra Care.  
Mutual Exchanges are also excluded from this table.   

Key: CBL – Choice Based Lettings (Kent HomeChoice)
            HAT – Housing Association Transfer

Source: Quarterly Monitoring Returns to Gravesham Borough Council 

From the chart it is evident that most registered providers are meeting their partnership 
obligations by nominating at least 75% of their properties. 

Page 84



21

6.4 Gravesham Borough Councils Local Plan 

Gravesham Borough Council as a planning authority must have in place a Local Plan which 
sets out the Councils policies which are essential when making planning application 
decisions. Independent inspectors review and examine these plans before they are formally 
adopted and put into place. The Local Plan went through examination and was adopted in 
September 2014.   It outlines what type of development is required, including housing, to 
meet local community and business needs, scale and location, as well as policies to ensure 
sustainable development. There is a robust evidence base supporting the plan and it will 
also include policies to promote infrastructure delivery and to protect and enhance the areas 
built and natural environment.  The link to Gravesham’s Local Plan and supporting 
documents can be found at the link below.  

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/local-plan/overview

6.5 Health Context 

Although historically for many years it has been known that there are significant links 
between the quality of housing and the health of the population, there has recently been a 
resurgence of the recognition between the links. 

It is widely known that homelessness, especially rough sleeping, has significant and often 
negative consequences for an individual’s health, and studies have evidenced the 
correlation between homelessness and increased severity of health conditions and life 
expectancy.  Helping someone who is homeless is not just about the shelter, it is about their 
wider health and wellbeing also. 

Due to the often complicated nature of their needs combined with the difficulties of living in 
insecure accommodation or on the streets, those who are homeless often struggle to access 
the health care they need and rely on acute hospital services such as Accident and 
Emergency Departments, they spend more time in hospital and make disproportionate use 
of substance misuse services, all of which cost the National Health Service (NHS) more 
money. 

Clinical Commissioning Groups have a duty to reduce inequalities in access to, and 
outcomes from healthcare.  Local Authorities now have public health budgets with a “health 
premium” to promote action to reduce health inequalities and Directors of Public Health are 
the strategic leads for public health in local communities with Health and Wellbeing Boards 
playing a key role in bringing together the National Health Service (NHS), Public Health and 
Social Care Services within a local authority and developing a Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy based on the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) which is an analysis of the 
current and future health and wellbeing needs of the Local Population to inform the 
commissioning and provision of health, wellbeing and care services.  

Below is a link to information on the Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

Page 85

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/local-plan/overview


22

https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/about-dgs/

Links to information on the Kent Health and Wellbeing board can be found here 

https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=790

The link to the Kent Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy can be found here 

http://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0014/12407/Joint-Health-and-Wellbeing-
Strategy.pdf

Link to the JSNA can be found here 

http://www.kpho.org.uk/joint-strategic-needs-assessment

Sustainability and Transformation Plans were announced in NHS Planning guidance 
published in 2015.  NHS and Local Authorities in different parts of England have come 
together to develop place based plans for the future of health and care services in their area. 

The link to the Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan can be found here 

http://kentandmedway.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/20161021-Kent-and-Medway-
STP-draft-as-submitted-ii.pdf

Additionally the Public Health Outcomes Framework, which sets out the desired outcomes 
for Public Health and how these will be measured, contains two indicators on homelessness 
as well as a number of others which will encourage a focus on the health of the homeless 
population. 

6.6 Gravesham’s Community and Voluntary Sector

Whilst Gravesham Borough Council has a statutory function to provide homelessness advice 
and services it is important to recognise that other sectors can also contribute both directly 
and indirectly to the prevention of homelessness.

Within Gravesham there is a strong Community and Voluntary Sector (CVS) who deliver a 
wide range of advice, housing services and support to vulnerable people.

Whilst there are some examples of best practice of Gravesham Borough Council working 
closely with the CVS in the Gravesham district related to the prevention of Homelessness, 
there is still much room for improvement and in the context of cuts to Local Authority funding 
there is likely to be more reliance on the CVS to ‘fill the gap’ between local authority service 
provision and service-users’ needs. The current climate and the introduction of the 
Homelessness Reduction Act (2017) is an opportunity for Gravesham Borough Council to 
engage with the CVS more effectively and efficiently to assist the Council in meeting local 
needs and preventing homelessness. 

Page 86

https://www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk/about-dgs/
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=790
http://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0014/12407/Joint-Health-and-Wellbeing-Strategy.pdf
http://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0014/12407/Joint-Health-and-Wellbeing-Strategy.pdf
http://www.kpho.org.uk/joint-strategic-needs-assessment
http://kentandmedway.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/20161021-Kent-and-Medway-STP-draft-as-submitted-ii.pdf
http://kentandmedway.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/20161021-Kent-and-Medway-STP-draft-as-submitted-ii.pdf


23

7. Equality and Diversity 

Gravesham Borough Council serves a diverse borough and the Council works to ensure that 
it does not discriminate in a way that is unfair, illegal or unjustified.  

The Councils approach to Diversity and documents associated with this can be found at the 
following link 

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-
data/transparency-and-open-data/equality

To help the Council achieve the aims set out within all services, Equality Impact 
Assessments (EIA) are undertaken on all Strategies and this Homelessness Strategy is no 
exception and an EIA for the Homelessness Strategy is available as a separate document 
and the link to this is here 

Insert Link   

8. Approach to the review and Strategy Development 

The previous Gravesham Borough Council Homelessness Prevention Strategy identified the 
following as key priorities 

 The Development of Gravesham Borough Councils Housing Options Service 
 Prevention of Homelessness 
 Support for Vulnerable Households 

This review has been undertaken to look at all the available evidence and provide a robust 
and meaningful evidence base.  This document considers trends and looks to predict 
emerging pressures.  The evidence gathered has determined if these priorities are still 
current, if they required revising or removing and if new priorities became apparent from the 
evidence.
 
All of this evidence and information relating to the review of the previous Homelessness 
Strategy was then taken, and put into the context of national changes in policy and 
approaches and the priorities revisited and revised and the new Homelessness Strategy was 
produced.  As a result of all of this work the priorities have been revised to reflect the 
implementation of the Homeless Reduction Act: The new priorities have been identified as: 

 Intervene in a timely manner for those at risk of homelessness 

 Strengthen our partnerships to support vulnerable groups ending the repeat cycle of 
homelessness 

 Prevent Rough Sleeping 

Page 87

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/equality
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/equality


24

 Improve access to decent affordable accommodation in the private sector 

 Improve the health and wellbeing of those threatened with homelessness or who are 
already homeless

 
This review also considers how local services could be adapted or reconfigured to meet the 
challenges of the Homelessness Reduction Act. Additionally in line with this the Strategy and 
Action Plan will be reviewed and updated annually to ensure that it addresses the 
requirements of the Housing Annual Business Plan. Figure xx shows the process of 
developing this strategy.

Page 88



25

Figure xx – How the homelessness strategy was developed

Review of the last 
Homelessness 

Prevention 
Strategy

Analysis of data 
and evidence Policy context

and Statutory
Requirements

Ongoing consultation and engagement with key 
partners and members

Assessing outstanding priorities, actions and 
emerging challenges

Identifying key achievements and success factors

Data 
gathering and 

collation 

Customer
Feedback

Evidence base and Draft Strategy

Consultation

Final Strategy and Action Plan Published

Page 89



26

9. Consulting on the draft Homelessness Strategy

Section 3(8) of the Homelessness Act 2002 states that before adopting or modifying a 
homelessness strategy local authorities shall consult with public or local authorities, 
voluntary organisations and other people considered appropriate, but within these 
parameters the Council are able to determine who they will consult with.

The new Code of Guidance published to support the implementation of the Homelessness 
Reduction Act (2017) is also very prescriptive with regards to which partners need to be 
involved with the development of a Homelessness Strategy and actively encourages this by 
stating on Page 17 of the new Code of Guidance 

“Authorities are encouraged to take the opportunity to involve all relevant partners in 
developing a strategy that involves them in earlier identification and intervention to prevent 
homelessness”
 
Groups the Council has identified to consult and involve in the development of this Strategy 
have included: 

 Members 
 Internal Council Departments such as Housing Management and Benefits
 Key external partners 
 Local strategic groups including the Health and Wellbeing Board, so that the Strategy 

integrates local service delivery across a range of partnership activity
 Department for Works and Pensions (DWP) in light of the welfare reforms.  
 Those who access the service
 Private Sector Landlords given that Homelessness Duty can be discharged into the 

Private Rented Sector.
 Operational staff that will already be aware of where there may be gaps in service 

and may have some ideas around how the service could be improved to become 
more responsive to customer need.

Alongside the consultation a Cross Party Working Group was established following a motion 
at Council regarding the development of the approach to homelessness within the Borough 

The Working Group met with local providers of services to those who are homeless to work 
establish the following 

1. What client group do you work with and what are their needs? 
2. How can agencies refer into your organisation and how do you refer into others? 
3. What capacity does your organisation have and do you have any ambition to expand 

your areas of work?
4. If you wish to expand what are the barriers preventing this? 
5. What can we do to try and prevent homelessness? 
6. What barriers are you facing when working to prevent homelessness? 
7. What can Gravesham Borough Council do to support you? 

Page 90



27

To answer these questions two workshops were undertaken with local providers of services.  

Outcomes 

Once the evidence is gathered and the priorities identified then this evidence base and the 
Strategy and all of the supporting documents will be consulted on and any amendments 
made before the final documents are published and work commences to deliver the actions 
contained within the Strategy.  

9.1 Planning the Consultation 

In July 2012 the Government published new guidance on consultation principles.  Whilst 
these are not legal or statutory they do provide useful guidance for Councils.  The new 
guidance says

 

This guidance recommends that given the complexity of Homelessness Strategies that they 
are consulted on for a minimum period of 12 weeks.  

The council will use a range of ways to consult on the new Strategy for an appropriate length 
of time and will keep it under review throughout its life.  

10. Evidence   

This section sets out the evidence base that was drawn upon when determining if the 
current priorities remained relevant or needed revision or amending when drafting the new 
Homelessness Strategy and informs the basis of the Action Plan and where resources are 
aimed to prevent Homelessness. 

10.1 Area Profile 

Gravesham Borough Council is one of 12 borough and districts within the county of 
Kent.  The borough is predominantly urban to the north, whereas to the south, the borough 
is more rural.  It comprises the towns of Gravesend, Northfleet, together with the villages of 
Cobham, Higham, Luddesdown, Meopham, Shorne and Vigo.

10.1.1 Population 

The 2011 Census puts the total population of Gravesham at 101,720 compared to 95,717 at 
the 2001 census, equating to a 6% increase in the population of the town. Mid-Year 
estimates suggest that in 2016 the population of Gravesham had increased to 106,800, an 

“Timeframes for consultation should be proportionate and realistic to allow 
stakeholders sufficient time to provide a considered response.  The amount of time 
required will depend on the nature and impact of the proposal (for example the 
diversity of the interested parties or the complexity of the issue, or even external 
events) and might vary typically between two and 12 weeks”

Page 91



28

increase of 5%.  This is largely due to positive natural change (more births than deaths) and 
inward migration.  

The population in Gravesham is projected to increase from 105,000 in 2014 up to 130,000 in 
2039 an increase of 24%. (Source Office for National Statistics)

Gravesham still has a relatively young population but numbers have decreased since the 
2001 Census which put 60.2% of the population below the age of 45.  The 2011 Census 
puts this figure at 58.8%. The largest single age group in the 2001 Census was the 30 – 44 
age groups at 21,586.  This was still the largest group in the 2011 Census but again the 
numbers have declined to 20,673.  What is interesting to note is the increase in numbers of 
residents in Gravesham over the age of 60. This is illustrated in Table xx overleaf, which 
demonstrates the population by age compared across the 2001 and 2011 Census which 
demonstrates that the district has an ageing population.  

Table xx - Population of Gravesham by age 
2001 Census 2011 Census 

Age Number % Number % Change %
0-4 5,937 6.2 6,647 6.5 +0.3
5-14 13,389 13.9 12,804 12.5 -1.4
15-29 16,841 17.6 19,843 19.5 +1.9
30-44 21,586 22.5 20,673 20.3 -2.2
45-59 18,473 19.3 19,589 19.3 -
60-74 13,068 13.6 14,391 14.2 + 0.6
75-84 4,857 5.1 5,725 5.6 +0.5
85+ 1,566 1.7 2,048 2 +0.3
All ages 95,717 100 101,720 100
Source – Office for National Statistics  

It is also anticipated that there will be an increasing number of smaller households and by 
2028 it is estimated that there will be an increase of over 35% in the number of one person 
households. (Source; Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy) 

As a result of this information Gravesham councils Local Plan Core Strategy sets out a need 
to provide 

 Additional new homes and jobs 
 Dwellings suitable for one person households 
 Dwelling suitable for an ageing population 

The link to the Local Plan can be found in section 6.4 

Page 92



29

10.1.2 Gender

Table xx shows the breakdown of Gender for Gravesham compared to the South East and 
National figures at the 2001 and 2011 Census and shows that Gravesham is broadly the 
same as these.  

Table xx  – Gender by area

2001 Census 

2011 Census 

Source – Office for National Statistics

10.1.3 Life Expectancy 

Average life expectancy in the UK is 80.75 years.  When looked at by Gender women’s life 
expectancy is greater than men’s, with the average life expectancy for men being 78.8 and 
for women 82.7 years. (Source Office for National Statistics) 

For males in the South East, Life expectancy is 80.5 and for females this figure was 84.2   
(Source Office for National Statistics)

In Kent life expectancy for men is 79.9 years and for women 83.4 years (Source Office for 
National Statistics)

Males born in Gravesham have a lower life expectancy at Birth than England as a whole.  
Men’s life expectancy in the area is 79.6 and women’s is 83.6 with women expected to live 4 
years longer than men.  (Source Office for National Statistics)

However a 2011 report compiled by Crisis entitled Homelessness: A Silent Killer highlighted 
the following: 

“The average age of death of a homeless person is 47 years old and even lower for 
homeless women at just 43 …”

Gravesham % of total
% of 
region South East % of total

National 
(England) % of total

Total 
Population 95,717 100.0% 1.2% 8,000,645 100.0% 49,138,831 100.0%
Male 46,888 49.2% 1.2% 3,905,155 48.8% 23,922,144 48.6%
Female 48,829 50.8% 1.2% 4,095,490 51.2% 25,216,687 51.4%

Gravesham % of total
% of 
region South East % of total

National 
(England) % of total

Total 
Population 101,720 100.0% 1.2% 8,634,750 100.0% 56,012,456 100.0%
Male 50,139 49% 1.2% 4,239,298 49.1% 26,069,148 48.8%
Female 51,581 51% 1.2% 4,395,452 50.9% 29,943,308 51.2%

Page 93



30

Therefore the life expectancy of a homeless person is significantly lower than the national, 
regional and local averages. This is due to those who are homeless displaying higher levels 
of substance misuse, a higher rate of accidents and poorer mental health and clearly 
demonstrates links between settled good quality accommodation and homelessness and the 
impact this can have on health. 

10.1.4 Ethnic breakdown 

Table xx shows the Ethnic breakdown of Gravesham at the 2001 Census and the 
comparison to the 2011 Census.  This illustrates that in line with the national trend those that 
identify themselves as white has decreased.  Nationally this has fallen from 94.1% of the 
population identifying themselves as being White in the 1991 census, to 86% in the 2011 
Census.  All ethnic groups have increased in Gravesham in terms of numbers with the 
exception of those who identify themselves as being White Irish.  However again this follows 
the national trend where those who identified their ethnicity as White Irish also decreased.   
What this shows is that around 23% of the boroughs population were of an ethnicity other 
than White British.

Table xx – Ethnicity of Gravesham 
2001 Census 2011 Census 

Ethnicity Gravesham % of LA Gravesham % of LA
White: British 83,462 87.2% 78,422 ↓ 77%

White: Irish 965  1% 791 ↓ <1%

White: Gypsy or 
Traveller

320 <1%

White: Other 
White

1270 1.3% 4693 ↑ 4.61%

Mixed: White 
and Black 
Caribbean

351 < 1% 564 ↑ <1%

Mixed: White 
and Black 
African

60 < 1% 359 ↑ <1%

Mixed: White 
and Asian

369 < 1% 627 ↑ <1%

Mixed: Other 
Mixed

192 < 1% 516 ↑ <1%

Asian or Asian 
British: Indian

6,886 7. 1% 7538 ↑ 7.4%

Asian or Asian 
British: Pakistani

281 < 1% 550 ↑ <1%

Asian or Asian 
British: 
Bangladeshi

224 < 1% 477 ↑ <1%

Page 94



31

Asian or Asian 
British: Other 

486 < 1% 1713 ↑ 1.6%

Black or Black 
British: 
Caribbean

337 < 1% 456  ↑ <1%

Black or Black 
British: African

231 < 1% 2226 ↑ 2.1%

Black or Black 
British: Other 
Black

42 < 1% 203↑ <1%

Chinese or other 
ethnic group: 
Chinese

325 < 1% 326 ↑ <1%

Chinese or other 
ethnic group: 
Other ethnic 
group

236 < 1%

Other Ethnic 
Group; Arab

94 <1%

Other Ethnic 
Group 

1845 1.8%

Total 95,717 100.0% 101,720 100.0%
Source – Office for National Statistics

Figure xx – Ethnicity breakdown in the district 

78%

5%

2% 10%

3% 2%

English/Welsh/Scottish/N
orthern Irish/British

Other White

Mixed/multiple ethnic 
groups

Asian/Asian British

Black/African/Caribbean/
Black British

Other ethnic group

Source: Office for National Statistics 

Page 95



32

10.2 Deprivation 

The Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IoMD) are indicators that measure deprivation in an area 
by including 38 indicators which assess deprivation by combining 7 domains which are 

 Income 
 Employment 
 Health and Disability 
 Education, Skills and Training 
 Barriers to Housing and Services 
 Crime and Disorder 
 Living Environment 

It is important to note that these indicators are a measure of relative deprivation, not 
affluence, and to recognise that not every person in a deprived area will themselves be 
deprived.  These domains are all weighted and the latest indices published show 
Gravesham as having an overall average weighted deprivation score of 21.6 and is ranked 
124th most deprived district of 326 Local Authorities and is the fifth most deprived district in 
Kent. Table xx shows Gravesham overall and how this has changed between 2007 and 
2010 and 2015 showing that overall levels of deprivation improved between 2007 and 2010 
but has worsened between 2010 and 2015. 

Table xx  - Index of Multiple Deprivation 
Gravesham 2007 2010 % Change 2015 % Change
Weighted Average Score 20.37 19.46 -4.4% 21.6 11%
Rank of Average Score 142.00 139.00 -2.1% 124.00 -11%
Extent 0.15 0.13 -13.3% 0.18 38%
Rank of Extent 125.00 136.00 8.7% 118.00 -13.2%
Income Scale 13402.00 13920.00 3.86% 14,597.00 4.8%
Rank of Income Scale 174.00 169.00 -2.8% 127.00 -24.8%
Employment Scale 5142.00 5289.00 2.85% 6991.50 19.9%
Rank of Employment Scale 188.00 182.00 -3.19% 124.00 -31.8%

Source –MHCLG – Indices of Multiple Deprivation 

A link to the most recent national statistical report of the Indices of Multiple Deprivation from 
2015 can be found here 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/465791/Englis
h_Indices_of_Deprivation_2015_-_Statistical_Release.pdf

An easier to read infographic can be found at the following link 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/464431/Englis
h_Index_of_Multiple_Deprivation_2015_-_Infographic.pdf

Page 96

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/465791/English_Indices_of_Deprivation_2015_-_Statistical_Release.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/465791/English_Indices_of_Deprivation_2015_-_Statistical_Release.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/464431/English_Index_of_Multiple_Deprivation_2015_-_Infographic.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/464431/English_Index_of_Multiple_Deprivation_2015_-_Infographic.pdf


33

Additionally the 2011 Census identified households dimensions of deprivation, which are 
indicators based on four selected household characteristics. A household is deprived in a 
dimension if they meet one or more of the following conditions:

 Employment: any member of a household not a full-time student is either unemployed or 
long-term sick,

 Education: no person in the household has at least level 2 education and no person 
aged 16-18 is a fulltime student,

 Health and disability: any person in the household has general health 'bad or very bad' or 
has a long term health problem, and

 Housing: Household's accommodation is ether overcrowded, with an occupancy rating -1 
or less, or is in a shared dwelling, or has no central heating.

A household is classified as being deprived in none, or one to four of these dimensions in 
any combination. Table xx shows the numbers of households classified as in deprivation

Table xx – Households dimensions of deprivation 

Area

Household 
is not 
deprived in 
any 
dimension

Household 
is deprived 
in 1 
dimension

Household 
is deprived 
in 2 
dimensions

Household 
is deprived 
in 3 
dimensions

Household 
is deprived 
in 4 
dimensions

Gravesham 15,951 13,875 8,240 2,151 214

Source – 2011 Census 

What this shows is that 24,480 households or 60% of households in Gravesham consider 
themselves to be deprived in one or more dimensions (significantly more than those who do 
not) 

10.3 Supply of Housing and Affordability

10.3.1 Housing supply 

According to the 2011 census there are a total of 40,431 Households in Gravesham.  These 
are made up of a mix of tenures, Gravesham Borough Council owned stock; housing owned 
by Registered Providers, private rented properties and owner occupied homes.  

Page 97



34

Figure xx – Breakdown of tenure types 

The next section breaks these tenure types down further 

10.3.2 Social Housing 

Gravesham Borough Council is a stock retaining authority and has responsibility for 5,628 
(this number is from the 2011 Census and is slightly different to the figure in table below 
which is taken from an analysis of Gravesham Borough Councils Capita Housing System) 
properties in the Borough or 14.2% of the total housing stock. (The pie chart above includes 
all Social Housing – not just Gravesham stock) 

As of Insert date there were xxx households on the waiting list for housing.  Table xx shows 
the total number of Council Stock broken down by property type and how many of each 
property type have come up for let each year since 2010. 

Table xx – Current housing stock totals and numbers for rent each year
Property Type                 Current 

Housing Stock
Properties for 
let 2014/2015

Properties for 
let 2015/2016

Properties for 
let 2016/2017

Properties for 
let 2017/2018

House (2 bed) 634 24 17 31 18

House (3 bed) 2005 57 48 49 45

House (4 bed) 199 13 9 11 14

House (5+ beds) 27 0 2 1 3

Bungalow (1 bed) 97 13 16 10 6

Bungalow (2 / 3 bed) 93 6 2 3 8

Flat (1 bed) 1158 95 98 75 69

Page 98



35

Flat (2 bed) 379 32 31 29 33

Flat (3 bed) 77 5 4 4 4

Maisonette (1 bed) 1 0 0 0 0

Maisonette 2 bed 61 8 5 3 0

Maisonette 3 bed 254 27 11 13 13

Studio 92 1 0 0 0

Sheltered (includes extra 
care)

608 50 59 67 60

Total 5685 331 302 296 273
Source: Locata

It can be seen that from April 2014 the number of properties being made available to rent in 
a one year period has never exceeded 331. A total of 1202 properties were available to rent 
between April 2014 and March 2018. 

Table xx – Numbers on waiting list by property type as of April 2015, April 2016 and April 
2017 

Bedrooms April 2015 April 2016 April 2017 

1 Bed 1205 1246 1324

2 Bed 768 842 1012

3 Bed 352 370 400

4 Bed 29 42 46

5 Bed 6 2 1

Total 2360 2502 2783

Source: Locata Housing 

Numbers on the waiting list for all property types have risen over the period with the 
exception of 5+ bedrooms which has decreased. Demand for 1 bedroom properties bedroom 
properties is the highest, with 47% on the list requiring a one bedroom property. 

Page 99



36

Table xx – numbers on waiting list by month in 2016 and 2017. 

Month 2016 2017
January 2597 2916
February 2611 2952
March 2642 2993
April 2666 3002
May 2692 3040
June 2732 3088
July 2734 3047
August 2769 3049
September 2749 3066
October 2792 2980
November 2810 2819
December 2440 2838
Source – Locata Housing 

Numbers on the waiting list increased consistently across the two years.    

It is therefore evident that the numbers on the waiting list are significantly higher than the 
number of social homes that become available for rent.  

10.3.3 Registered Providers in the Borough 

There are a number of Registered Providers in the Borough responsible for 3.4% (1380) 
properties. The main providers are: 

Moat Housing 

https://www.moat.co.uk/

Hyde Housing 

https://www.hyde-housing.co.uk/

Town and Country 

https://www.tchg.org.uk/

The Affordable Rent Model was introduced in April 2011 to Registered Providers Affordable 
Rents offer shorter term tenancies at a rent higher than a social rent, up to typically 80% of 
local market rate.  

This allows Registered Providers to generate additional rental income which should 
contribute to the delivery of new affordable homes and was combined with a reduction in 
funding available for the development of new social housing from the Government.  

Page 100

https://www.moat.co.uk/
https://www.hyde-housing.co.uk/
https://www.tchg.org.uk/


37

Existing tenants of the Registered Providers are paying social rents, however where a tenant 
moves out of a property this can be converted to an affordable rent and all new 
developments will attract an affordable rent.

10.3.4 Private Renting 

The 2011 census identified that 16% or 6,524 homes in the Borough are privately rented, 
with 21% of households are living in unsuitable (non decent) private rented accommodation. 
This is lower than the national average of non decent properties. Decency is accessed by a 
property being above the legal minimum standard of housing, be in a reasonable state of 
repair, have reasonable modern facilities such as kitchens and bathrooms, and provide 
reasonable degree of thermal comfort, i.e. effective insulation and efficient heating sources. 
The term non decent is not always appropriate for example a property may be classed as 
non decent if for example a central heating system isn’t working, but structurally the property 
is in a reasonable state of repair and in this case can easily be bought up to a decent 
standard with the repair of the heating system.  (Source: A Quantative Health Impact 
Assessment of Private Sector Housing in Gravesham) 

10.3.5 Owner Occupation 

64.5% (26,099) of the 40,431 households in Gravesham are owned either outright or with a 
mortgage according to the 2011 Census. 

10.4 Wider supply of housing 

10.4.1 Empty Homes 

Empty homes are defined as transactional, which are homes which may be up for sale or 
rent and non-transactional which are ones that are left empty with no action.  The figures are 
a snapshot in March 2018 and are taken from the authorities Council Tax database. 
However this figure remains generally consistent.  

Empty properties 1 - 6 months   – 217 
Long term empty 6 months +     – 243 

Empty properties awaiting probate – 126 
Empty properties probate granted   –   19 

Total – 605

The Council adopts a proactive approach to private sector empty homes and has developed 
a number of initiatives to assist owners in returning their properties back into use.  Empty 
homes are not only a wasted asset, but can often attract nuisance behaviour and unwanted 
attention. The Council’s Empty Property Working Group provides a co-ordinated response 
and is a collection of officers from across the Council committed to reducing the number of 
empty homes. However, the day-to-day task of dealing with empty homes is managed by the 

Page 101



38

empty property team who identify and engage with owners at the earliest opportunity to 
prevent properties becoming empty long-term. The Council also works in partnership with 
Kent County Council and their No Use Empty initiative and a collaboration of the 12 district 
councils across Kent to maximise the return of empty homes.

The Council offers the following benefits to assist owners in returning their property to use.

Interest free loans
Reduced VAT schemes
Reduced auction fees
Property Management 
Professional building advice and information

As a result of this approach the Council has returned a number of empty homes back into 
use over the last 4 years: 

2014/2015 – 47
2015/2016 – 34
2016/2017 – 30

Empty Homes Case Study

The case study provided below is based upon the experience of the Empty Property Officer 
(EPO) in dealing with the legislative background and framework within which an EPO 
operates and demonstrates the issues associated with an empty property, why it was left 
empty, and the solution proposed to bring it back into productive use.

Legislation 

The Housing Act 2004, Section 133, Interim Empty Dwelling Management Orders (EDMO). 
This study looks at the service of an Interim Empty Dwelling Management Order allowing a 
Local Authority (LA) to make an application in respect of a dwelling, which is wholly 
unoccupied and the relevant proprietor is not a public sector body.

Background

The dwelling in this case is located in the Borough of Gravesham in north-west Kent which 
had been empty since 2005 following a fire at the property. The owner had previously failed 
to respond to several attempts to engage with the Gravesham Borough Council (the 
Council). 

A complaint was received by the Council in 2011 regarding the property remaining empty 
and owner contacted in late 2011 and confirmed that there was no reasonable prospect of 
the property returning to use. 

The property was visited in 2012 by the EPO and an internal and external survey undertaken 
to assess the condition and suitability for a EDMO. The property was presented in good 
order following a complete refurbishment in 2005 and required minimal works. 

Page 102



39

Due to the events of 2005 the somewhat traumatised owner was unable to visit the property 
and take any responsibility for its reoccupation. The Council proposed an EDMO to return 
the property to use as the property required minimal works and the owner agreed to this 
proposal. 

Empty Dwelling Management Order (EDMO) 

Introduced by the Housing Act 2004, an EDMO allows an LA to take over the management 
of a property, with or without the owner’s consent, which has been empty for six months or 
more with the following exemptions. 

 It is not a dwelling i.e. it is a building or part of a building used for non-residential 
purposes

 It is not wholly unoccupied e.g. only part of your house is unoccupied or there are 
spare rooms not in use.

 If it has been lived in at any time within the previous six months.

There are two types of EDMO, an interim EDMO and a final EDMO. An interim EDMO is 
valid for twelve months requiring the LA to engage with an owner to agree a solution to 
return the property to use. If no agreement is reached after this time the LA can move to a 
final EDMO, which can last for seven years allowing the LA to take decisions without owner 
consent. 

A final EDMO can be achieved by compulsory leasing. Where an owner of an empty 
property has turned down council or housing association offers of help to bring the property 
back into use, and can offer no good reason why the property should remain empty, and the 
property is in decline the council should be able to lease the home to meet housing need 
without the owner's permission. 

The following changes were introduced by Government in 2012 to restrict the use of an 
EDMO.

 They will be limited to empty properties that have become magnets for vandalism, 
squatters and other forms of anti-social behaviour blighting the local neighbourhood 

 A property will have to stand empty for at least two years before an Empty Dwelling 
Management Order can be obtained, and property owners will have to be given at 
least three months' notice before the order can be issued.      

                                                                                             
The justification for this change was the protection of civil liberties and safeguarding of the 
rights of responsible owners, thus targeting buildings considered to be genuinely derelict and 
nuisance properties. 

The case study did not fall into the first category of a neglected and derelict building, but had 
been subject of a complaint. The owner also consented to this action citing there was no 
reasonable prospect of the property returning to use. 

Page 103



40

EDMO Application 

An application for an interim EDMO was made to the Residential Property Tribunal (RPT). 
An independent body the RPT will assess the merits of an application and must be satisfied:

 The property has been unoccupied for at least two years 
 The property is subject to complaint and nuisance behaviour
 The Council has shown evidence that by granting the interim EDMO the property will 

be returned to use
 The property is not covered by any of the exemptions

An application was made by the Council to the RPT in July 2013 by way of written 
representation.  A condition of the application required all mortgagees and any parties with a 
charge registered against the property to be informed of the Council’s decision to apply for 
an EDMO inviting any objections. No objections were received 

EDMO Expenditure

The LA considered the costs of an EDMO, which are largely dependent on the size and the 
scale of the works. The property required minimal works and the Council agreed a schedule 
of works with the owner, which was funded by the Council. An EDMO is a local land charge 
and was registered in the local land charges register held by the Council. 

This provided security if the property was sold notifying any potential buyer of the charge. 
The Council would look to recover all their expenditure through the first three month’s rental 
income with all future payments transferred to the owner.   

EDMO Awarded

In September 2013 the Council were advised the application had been approved with the 
RPT reporting “The Tribunal considers that the matter set out in section 134(2) of the 
Housing Act 2004 are satisfied in this case and that the Applicant has taken the interests of 
the wider community into account” (First-Tier Tribunal Property Chamber, 2013). The owner 
signed a 12 month lease with the Council’s property management partner and the property 
returned to use in March 2014. 

Case Study Data Summary

The property identified in the case study had been empty since 2005 and subject to 
complaint. Despite several attempts by the Council to assist the owner to return the property 
to use, the property remained empty. This prompted the Council to consider enforcement 
action and the use of an Empty Dwelling Management Order (EDMO). This approach is 
consistent where owners are not taking reasonable measures to return a property to use and 
did not require owner consent. Another factor considered by the Council was the costs of 
any work to bring the property up to a habitable standard. However, the property was in 
good order requiring a minimal amount of work and with the owner unable to take 
responsibility forced the Council to take control of events. This method allowed the Council 
to manage the process whilst achieving the objective of returning the property to use.  

Page 104



41

Before action was taken 

After action was taken 

Page 105



42

10.4.2 Regeneration 

Housing Development Strategy

In 2015 the Council approved a Housing Development Strategy which set out the Councils 
aspirations to add to the housing stock, to provide homes for those on the waiting list, either 
directly or by providing homes to free up existing stock.  

New Build

Approval of the strategy followed the Council making use of government funding in 2011 to 
build 5 new bungalows on Council-owned land.  The development was very well-received 
and with the added motivation of local authorities being able to use retained Right to Buy 
receipts and surpluses within the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) the councils ambitions to 
develop grew.

Since the adoption of the strategy, the Council’s small development team has delivered 24 
new build homes on Council-owned land with a further 10 homes under construction.   
Planning permission has also been granted for an additional 17 homes.  The development 
team has also made a further planning submission for 32 new homes and has more 
proposals in the pipeline, leading to development of a further 50+ Council homes. 

Purchase and Repair

The strategy also looks at opportunities to add to the Councils stock by purchasing existing 
market properties to use as Council houses.  A Purchase and Repair programme 

Page 106



43

commenced in 2016, with the intention to purchase mainly former Council-owned housing 
due to the location, historic knowledge and housing management of such properties.  So far 
28 properties have been purchased and included in the councils housing stock. 

10.4.3 Shared Ownership
 
Properties are available for Shared ownership within the borough. Seen as a “foot on the 
housing ladder” shared ownership can offer a chance to own a property but at a reduced 
cost. 

An owner can purchase a share in a property usually between 25% and 75% for the 
remaining share they pay a rent to the registered provider, while paying a mortgage on the 
rest of the property, or they can alternatively buy their share out right if they have the means 
. 

Owners do have the option to purchase the remaining shares in their property a piece at a 
time, this is known as stair casing, but are not obliged to do this. 

Currently in Gravesham there are 305 shared ownership properties offered by key registered 
providers in the district.   

10.5 Earnings and employment 

The average gross weekly pay in Gravesham for a full time worker is £545.40, which is lower 
than the South East average (£596.80p) and slightly lower than the national average 
(£552.70p).  This breaks down further into average weekly gross incomes for males at 
£631.60, again lower than the South East average (£651.60p) but higher than the national 
average (£594.20p).  There is a sharp contrast for female workers in the Borough who earn 
an average weekly gross wage of £421.20p which is lower than both the South East average 
(£522.10p) and the National average (£494.40).  (Source Nomis Labour Market Profile 
Gravesham – Earnings by residence 2017) 

Data from the 2017 annual population survey found that similar proportions of people aged 
16-64 in Gravesham were in employment compared to the Great Britain  average (76% for 
Gravesham and 78% for the Great Britain average) but less people were economically 
active in Gravesham than across the South East (76% compared to 81%) Unemployment in 
Gravesham was the same as the Great Britain Average (4.3% compared to 4.4%) but higher 
than the South East average (4.3% compared to 3.2%).  

Of Graveshams population, 62% of residents are of working age. (Source ONS Annual 
Population Survey 2017) 76% are economically active and 10.6% of people are claiming 
benefits or 10%% of the working population of Gravesham.   (Nomis Local Population 
Survey cited 2017) 3,160 residents are claiming ESA and incapacity benefits. 75.4% of the 
population are in employment. 4.3% of the population are unemployed. 23.3% of the 
population are economically inactive. 

Page 107



44

10.6 Managing Council Rent Arrears 

Gravesham Borough Council has a team dedicated to ensuring timely rent payments and 
managing rent arrears, and reducing housing debt for their current stock. The council has an 
obligation to support its tenants who are experiencing financial hardship or who are 
struggling to pay their rent.  Although evictions do sometimes take place, the council has to 
do everything in its power to ensure that the tenant has been offered every opportunity to 
pay their rent and re-pay their arrears. 

Gravesham Borough Council evicted 23 households in 2017/2018 for non-payment of rent.  
The rate of evictions may increase in 2018/2019 due to the role out of universal credit, and 
the continuing of cuts to benefits and services as an outcome of all of the changes in Policy 
introduced by current and former Governments badged as austerity measures.  

10.7 Analysis of impact of welfare 

This section looks a little more in-depth at the impact of Welfare reforms implemented since 
the beginning of the recession in the late 2000’s

10.7.1 The Benefit Cap 

The overall cap on welfare benefits was introduced in four local authorities in April 2013, and 
was rolled out on a phased basis, so that since the end of September 2013 it has been 
operated across the whole of Great Britain. The cap – initially set at £350 per week for single 
people, and £500 for all other households – has been applied to out-of-work households 
below pensionable age, with a number of exemptions for households with disabilities.  

However, in November 2016 the benefit cap for out of work claimants was lowered to 
£13,400 a year for single people and £20,000 for all other households, except in London 
where it has been lowered to £15,410 and £23,000 respectively. 
 
These lower limits have significantly increased the numbers of households impacted by the 
cap. The initial limits impacted particularly on larger families, and households in London and 
other higher rent areas. The revised lower limits, however, now have a much greater impact 
on both smaller households, and households outside London in both the rented sectors. 

The initial cap impacted on considerably fewer households than expected. Numbers 
fluctuate slightly from month to month but peaked for England as a whole at 26,719 in 
December 2013. By October 2016 the England numbers had gone down to 17,824.71 
Changes of circumstances have seen continuous monthly flows of households into and out 
of the benefit cap. In total, some 79,450 households had been subject to the cap at some 
point, but were no longer capped in August 2016. Of those, some two fifths ceased to be 
impacted as they were in work and had an open Working Tax Credit claim. However, it is not 
clear how far the benefit cap, in itself, has contributed towards the move of impacted 
households into work, as changes in circumstances and moves in and out of often insecure 
and low paid employment is an established pattern for many low income households.

Page 108



45

However since October 2016 the number of claimants impacted on in England has more 
than tripled – to 61,051 in August 2017. As anticipated most of that impact has been felt 
outside London. While initially the numbers capped in London represented around a half of 
the total In England, following the lowering of the cap they now account for only about a 
quarter of the total for London; albeit that the numbers in London almost doubled under the 
lower cap. 

Of those households impacted in August 2016, three-fifths had four or more children, and 
close to a further one fifth had three children. By August 2017, under the lower caps, the 
proportion of impacted families with four or more children had fallen to just under a third of 
all the cases in England, while families with three children now represented two fifths of all 
those impacted. 

At both dates the households impacted nationally were slightly more likely to be located in 
the social rather than the private rented sector. While there are far more out of work large 
families in the social rented sector, a greater proportion of the smaller numbers of those 
families in the private rented sector are caught by the benefit cap by virtue of the higher 
rents in the sector.
 
The extent of these losses and the limited funds available to meet housing costs beyond 
basic welfare living allowances, will clearly make it difficult if not impossible for many larger 
households to meet a rent anywhere.  As at August 2017 for families with four children, 
nearly four fifths faced shortfalls in excess of £50 per week, and over a fifth faced shortfalls 
of over £100 a week. Among families with five or more children, over 90 per cent faced 
shortfalls in excess of £50 per week, and over a half faced shortfalls in excess of £100 per 
week.74 The potential for this policy to lead to homelessness for those households where 
movement into employment is not practical is all too clear. (Source – Crisis Homelessness 
Monitor 2018) 

The potential for benefit caps to lead to homelessness for those households where 
movement into employment is not practical is all too clear. It can also hinder local authorities 
in discharging their duties into the private sector.  Benefit caps can also have an impact on 
income received by the authority when a family is accessing more expensive temporary 
accommodation.  

10.7.2 Local Housing Allowance 

Nationally changes to Local Housing Allowance for private tenants led the way in the welfare 
reform agenda, and have been applicable to all new claimants since April 2011, and 
subsequently to all existing claimants. The key initial changes were to set the rates based on 
30th percentile market levels, rather than market medians, and to set maximum caps that 
further reduced Local Housing Allowance rates in inner London. While in 2013/14 those 
rates were uprated by the lower of either inflation (CPI) or changes in market rents, 
subsequently in 2014/15 and 2015/16 they were uprated by just 1 per cent. Following a 
decision in the summer 2015 Budget, Local Housing Allowance rates have now been frozen 
for four years from 2016/17. 

Page 109



46

Administrative data on claims for Local Housing Allowance is now available for the period to 
August 2017, however since 2015 an increasing proportion of claimants now receive their 
help with housing costs through Universal Credit and data on the number of households in 
receipt of Universal Credit is only available up to May 2017. Taken together, the Local 
Housing Allowance and Universal Credit data shows that the number of claimants in the 
private rented sector continued to rise after March 2011, but at a much slower rate than in 
the five years prior to the reforms of the Local Housing Allowance.  However, since February 
2014 claimant numbers have begun to fall. In England as a whole the numbers of private 
tenants in receipt of Housing Benefit rose from 1,376,440 in March 2011 to 1,472,150 in 
February 2014, before falling back to 1,342,925 by May 2016, and 1,305,151 by May 2017. 
As a consequence, the numbers of benefit claimants in the private rented sector is now 5% 
lower than they were when the LHA reforms were introduced in 2011, despite the continuing 
strong growth of the private rented sector. 

10.7.3 Universal Credit 

Universal Credit combines several existing benefits, including Housing Benefit, and the 
rhetoric behind it claimed that it radically simplified the structure of welfare benefits in the 
UK. 

Initially Universal Credit was operational only for single person claimants but is now being 
rolled out for couple and family households. The overall timetable for rolling out the new 
regime has been deferred from original plans, due to a number of reasons including 
difficulties in developing an IT system to support the roll out, and the detailed regulations 
and operational requirements were not finalised until very late in the day. 

Even by the end of 2017, Universal Credit had only been fully rolled out (for all new 
claimants) in about a third of all Job Centre Offices. The full roll out is now planned to be 
completed by the end of 2018, with existing claimants on other benefits transferred onto 
Universal Credit by the end of 2022.  By June 2017 it was still the case that some four fifths 
of the half a million households in receipt of Universal Credit were single people, with just 
some 90,000 families with children by then on the scheme. 

Concerns about the impact of the payment of Universal Credit on rent arrears have been 
reinforced by the experiences of the social landlords involved in the Department for Works 
and Pensions direct payment demonstration projects. Over the eighteen months of the 
programme average rent payment rates across the projects were estimated to be 5.5 per 
cent lower than would have been the case without direct payments. While rates of 
underpayment declined over the course of the operation of the projects, under payments 
were also erratic and difficult to predict (and therefore manage), reflecting the complexities 
and challenges of unforeseen circumstances on low income households’ budgets.

There have been a number of subsequent reports expressing continuing concerns about 
levels of arrears associated with Universal Credit, and in particular the six week period of 
delay before a claim is paid. This has been identified as one of the factors involved in 
leading to arrears. Several other concerns have been expressed about the administration of 
the scheme, including concerns about monthly payments, the cost and operation of the UC 

Page 110



47

telephone helpline, and the presumed minimum income floor in any period for self-employed 
claimants. 

The government eventually abandoned the charges for the telephone helpline, and in the 
2017 Autumn Budget it announced a number of reforms. These included removing the 7 day 
‘waiting period’ that was one element of the overall six week period of delay (from February 
2018), permitting Housing Benefit payments to continue for two weeks following an 
application for Universal Credit being submitted, for some claimants making provision for 
interest free advances of up to 4 weeks Universal Credit within 5 days of making a claim, to 
be recovered over a 12 month period (from January 2018), and slightly easing the 
arrangements for the rental element of Universal Credit to be paid direct to the landlord. 
While not altering the fundamental structure of the scheme these provisions were estimated 
by the Government to cost £300 million in 2018/19. It remains to be seen if these 
amendments to the scheme will alleviate some of the early difficulties reported. 

Gravesham is an area where Universal Credit has been rolled out and prior to this an initial 
impact assessment was completed with a focus on the impact on Council Housing and this 
highlighted the following 

 There are currently 1,975 working age Housing Benefit claimants in Gravesham 
Borough Council Properties;

 Some of these 1,975 will have 3 or more children so will not be affected by the 
introduction of Universal Credit;

 It is estimated that 15 – 35% of the caseload will change from Housing Benefit to 
Universal Credit in the first 12 months;

 Housing Benefits caseload is almost exactly shared between Gravesham Borough 
Council Tenants and those who rent in the private sector;

 Since May 2015 (when Universal Credit live started in Gravesham) there was a 
transfer of 63 cases to Universal Credit;

 Of these 63, 31 of these are on managed payments or alternative payment 
arrangements;

Based on these assumptions and it is anticipated that the Council could lose as much as 
£54k per week which equates to £2.8m across the first year.  Based on 50% of those 
already on Universal Credit paying on time and regularly and if Universal Credit waiting 
times are reduced, then this may reduce the possible council losses to £27k per week or 
£1.4m in the first year.

However these figures also include families who have three children or more and so once 
these are removed, this is likely to further impact on the risk of losses to the Council with the 
estimated figure being £20k per week or £1m in the first year. 

To further reduce the risks of losses to the Council Direct Payments from the Department for 
Works and pensions can be requested where an account falls more than 8 weeks into 
arrears.  

Page 111



48

In February 2018, the percentage of Universal Credit claimants with a drop in payment due 
to a sanction was 4.1%, and this was down 0.5% from November 2017. From November 
2017 to January 2018, 49% of all Universal Credit decisions resulted in a sanction. This is 
up 12% from August 2017 to October 2017 (previously reported period). 68% of Universal 
Credit decisions to apply a sanction in November 2017 to January 2018 occurred due to 
failure to attend or participate in a Work-Focused Interview. 

The link to further statistics regarding benefit sanctions can be found here

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/jobseekers-allowance-sanctions

Gravesham rolled out Universal Credit in May 2018 so the full impacts of this are yet to be 
determined.
 
10.8 Homelessness  

From April 2018 Government has changed the way it records homelessness and all 
authorities will be asked to complete quarterly Homeless Case Level Recording Statistics 
which aims to capture more accurate detail about the households and why they have 
become homeless. H-Clic is household level data which includes more information on the 
people in a homeless household, more information on their support needs, reasons for 
becoming homeless, length of time in Temporary Accommodation and the outcomes of each 
prevention case.  The first statistical release based on data for H-Clic rather than P1e is due 
in December 2018.  Therefore future reviews figures may look very different to these due to 
how they were captured prior to April 2018 and how they are now recorded and will be going 
forward into the future.  

However for the purposes of this review P1e data has been used, due to no H-clic data 
having been released at the time of writing, and the data below is taken from these quarterly 
returns.

In England between 1 January and 31 March 2018, all local authorities accepted 13,300 
households as homeless, which was down 2% from 13,640 in the previous quarter and 
down 9% from 14,610 on the same quarter of 2017.  

Figure xx shows the number of acceptances in England since 1998. The annual number of 
acceptances peaked in 2003 at 35,770 before falling to a low of 9,430 in 2009. For January 
2018 – March 2018 the number of acceptances at 13,300 is 63% below the peak figure in 
2003 (a difference of 22,470) and 41% higher than the lowest figure (a difference of 3,870) 

Page 112

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/jobseekers-allowance-sanctions


49

Figure xx  – National levels of homelessness 

(Source MHCLG Statutory Homelessness January to March 2018 Housing Statistical 
Release – published 29 June 2018) 

The link to this release can be found below and contains further information on 
homelessness statistics 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_da
ta/file/721285/Statutory_Homelessness_and_Prevention_and_Relief_Statistical_Release_Ja
n_to_Mar_2018_-_REVISED.pdf

Table xx shows the homeless applications taken by Gravesham Council for the periods 2010 
– 2018 and the outcomes of these applications 

Page 113

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/721285/Statutory_Homelessness_and_Prevention_and_Relief_Statistical_Release_Jan_to_Mar_2018_-_REVISED.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/721285/Statutory_Homelessness_and_Prevention_and_Relief_Statistical_Release_Jan_to_Mar_2018_-_REVISED.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/721285/Statutory_Homelessness_and_Prevention_and_Relief_Statistical_Release_Jan_to_Mar_2018_-_REVISED.pdf


50

Table xx – Homeless applications taken by Gravesham Borough Council and outcomes 
Statutory homelessness applications from eligible households

 
Unsuccessful applications 

 
 
 

Accepted 
as 
homeless

 
Intentionally 
homeless

 
Homeless but 
not priority

 
Eligible but not 
homeless

Total 
decisions

Annual 
change in 
acceptances

2010-11 77 15 7 21 120
2011-12 53 23 6 10 92 - 31%
2012-13 63 27 12 15 117 + 19%
2013-14 63 23 13 7 106 0%
2014-15 42 38 17 13 110 - 33%
2015-16 21 28 25 14 88 - 50%
2016-17 29 51 39 21 140 + 38%
2017-18 31 36 27 25 119 + 7%

 (Source P1e returns DCLG) 

From the chart it is clear to see that homeless acceptances peaked in 2010 -11 and then 
dropped until 2014 – 15 and although lower than 2014 – 15 acceptances began to increase 
again between 2015 – 2018 – which is in line with national trends which saw homelessness 
increase across the same period.     However the number of acceptances has not reached 
the levels of 2010 – 2011 again.  

10.8.1 Reasons for homelessness 

A number of different personal and social factors can contribute towards people becoming 
homeless. These may include one or more of the following:

 Individual factors including drug and alcohol misuse, sexual exploitation, people 
trafficking, lack of qualifications, lack of social support, debts - especially mortgage or 
rent arrears which could be due to a loss of job or a reduction in hours, poor physical 
and mental health, relationship breakdown, and being involved in crime at an early 
age. 

 Family background including family breakdown and disputes, sexual and physical 
abuse in childhood or adolescence, having parents with drug or alcohol problems, 
and previous experience of family homelessness  

 An institutional background including having been in care, the armed forces, or in 
prison.

 Structural factors including a lack of affordable housing, housing policies, wider 
policy initiatives such as the welfare benefit reforms

Nationally the majority of the recently recorded increase in statutory homelessness is 
attributable to the sharp rise in numbers made homeless from the private rented sector, with 
cases having quadrupled over the period – from less than 5,000 per year to over 18,000. 

Page 114



51

As a proportion of all statutory homelessness acceptances, such cases had risen from 11 
per cent in 2009/10 to 31 per cent by 2015/16 and they remained at this unprecedented level 
in 2016/17. 

With homelessness acceptances prompted by mortgage repossessions or by social sector 
rent arrears remaining at historically low levels, statutory homelessness is  now far more 
closely associated with loss of accommodation in the private rented sector than from either 
of the other two major tenures. 

All reasons for loss of last settled home nationally are shown in Figure xx

Figure xx – Acceptances by all Local authorities by reason for loss of last settled home 

Source CLG Quarterly P1 (E) returns – Statutory Homelessness: Households accepted by 
Local Authorities owed a main homelessness duty by reason of loss of last settled home 

Table xx shows the reasons for Homelessness in Gravesham and these reflect the national 
trends, with the main reason for homelessness in the district being loss of Assured Shorthold 
Tenancy followed by evictions by parents, or other friends and relatives and relationship 
breakdowns, with the majority of these being the result of Domestic Abuse. 

Page 115



52

Table xx - Reasons for homelessness in Gravesham 
Reason Jan – 

Mar 16
Apr – 
Jun 16 

Jul – 
Sept 16

Oct – 
Dec 
16

Jan – 
Mar 
17

Apr – 
Jun 17 

Jul – 
Sept 
17

Oct – 
Dec 
17

Parental eviction 1 2 0 2 2 2 1 2

Other relative 
friend evict

0 0 0 0 1 0 3 2

Non Violent 
relationship 
breakdown 

0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0

Violent 
relationship 
breakdown 

0 0 0 1 0 0 3 0

Violence involving 
other non 
associated 
person 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Racially 
motivated 
violence 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other forms of 
violence 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Racially motivate 
harassment 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Page 116



53

Other forms of 
harassment

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mortgage arrears 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Rent arrears – 
Local Authority  
or other public 
sector 

0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

Rent arrears – 
Registered 
Provider 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Rent Arrears 
Private Rented 
Sector

0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0

Termination of 
Assured Short 
hold Tenancy 

1 0 2 7 3 6 1 3

Other reasons for 
loss of rented or 
tied 
accommodation 

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Required to leave 
accommodation 
provided by the 
Home Office as a 
form of asylum 
support 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Left prison/on 
remand 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Page 117



54

Left hospital 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0

Left other 
institution or LA 
care 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Left HM forces 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other reason 1 0 0 0 1 1 1 1

Source – P1e returns to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

10.8.2 Priority Need 

Until the end of March 2018 Local authorities’ should have given housing advice to anyone 
who was homeless or at risk of homelessness.  However there are certain households 
where there is a priority need for accommodation, which because of their age or background 
are at greater risk when homeless.  These priority groups have not been amended under the 
new legislation. Local Authorities will use the Priority Need categories now initially to 
determine who has a requirement for Temporary Accommodation when a household 
presents and a duty to relieve homelessness is accepted.

It can be seen from Table xx that the main reason that people who approach the council as 
homeless and have a priority need, have this as a result of them having dependent children.  

Table xx - Priority Need reasons in Gravesham  
Jan-Mar 17 Apr – Jun 17 Jul – Sep17 Oct- Dec 17

Homeless emergency 0 0 0 0

Dependent children 9 7 9 9

Pregnant no other dependent 
child

0 0 0 0

16/17 year olds 0 0 0 0

Page 118



55

Formally in care and aged 
between 18-20

0 0 0 0

Old age 0 0 0 0

Physical disability 1 1 0 0

Mental ill health 0 2 0 1

Drug dependency 0 0 0 0

Alcohol dependent 0 0 0 0

Former Asylum Seeker 0 0 0 0

Other special reason 0 0 0 0

Vulnerable because having 
been in care 

0 0 0 0

Served in HM forces 0 0 0 0

Having been in custody or on 
remand 

0 0 0 0

Fled home because of 
violence or threat of violence 

0 0 0 0

Total 10 10 9 10

Source – P1e returns to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

10.8.3 Prevention and Gravesham Borough Councils prevention tools 

Gravesham Borough Council places an emphasis on the prevention of Homelessness and 
the number of cases of homelessness prevented through prevention activity has decreased 
in 2016 from 2015 and then increased in 2017 whilst the number of accepted homeless 
cases increased across the same period.   

Table xx  - Homelessness Preventions – Gravesham Borough Council 
Prevented Relieved Total

2017 Total 182 0 182
Q4 2017 50 0 50
Q3 2017 40 0 40
Q2 2017 62 0 62

Page 119



56

Q1 2017 30 0 30
2016 Total 150 0 150
Q4 2016 30 0 30
Q3 2016 53 0 53
Q2 2016 31 0 31
Q1 2016 36 0 36
2015 Total 191 0 191
Q4 2015 32 0 32
Q3 2015 51 0 51
Q2 2015 77 0 77
Q1 2015 31 0 31
Source P1e returns MHCLG 

Homelessness Prevention Case Studies 

Homelessness prevention through the offer of alternative accommodation.

We were contacted by Miss A when she became homeless following a series of arguments 
at home which led to her mother asking her to leave. Miss A is 18 and attends a local 
college, where her attendance and attainment were both at risk once she lost her 
accommodation and the support of her family.

We provided emergency accommodation and referred Miss A to local advice and support 
services which assisted her to claim income benefits so that she could continue her studies. 
Miss A also received supplies from the local foodbank and ongoing support from voluntary 
sector organisations.

Her Housing Options Officer referred Miss A to a supported housing scheme for young 
people, where she has continued to develop her independent living skills, and re-established 
links with her mother and siblings. Miss A is hoping to gain employment when she leaves 
college, when she will be ready to move into her own home in the private sector.

Homeless Prevention via assistance from the Councils Rent deposit scheme

Mrs B was living in a privately rented four bedroom house with her husband and their three 
children. The marriage broke down, and after her husband left, Mrs B was unable to afford 
the rent on her part-time income, and her landlord served her with notice to end her tenancy. 
Mrs B had already contacted several letting agents who were unable to help due to her low 
income when she approached us for help.

Mrs B was facing homelessness when she contacted the Housing Options team, and was 
referred to a local advice service for assistance in maximising her income by claiming Tax 
Credits and Housing Benefit. Her Housing Options Officer helped Mrs B to secure an 
alternative three bedroom privately rented home which was affordable, by providing a loan to 
pay the deposit, repayable over the following 24 months.

Page 120



57

As she was able to move to a new home in the local area, Mrs B was able to maintain her 
employment and her children remained at their current schools, thereby minimising the 
disruption to the family at such a difficult time.

10.8.4 Rent Deposit Assistance Scheme 

The Rent Deposit Assistance Scheme is a small fund that offers loans to assist those who 
may approach the Council with rent in advance and rent deposit to prevent households from 
becoming homeless and where some financial assistance may help a household to return to 
settled accommodation.    

10.8.5 Prevention Fund

The prevention fund is a pot of money which can be used to assist those who are homeless 
or threatened with homelessness to help prevent or relive the homelessness.  

It may be used to pay top ups where the rent is unaffordable, and by making payments this 
prevents the household from becoming homeless, but allows them time to find something 
which is more affordable.  Officers can use the fund to provide creative and innovative 
solutions to prevent homelessness, where small amounts of money can make a difference.  

10.8.6 Households at risk of or experiencing domestic abuse, race or hate crimes

Households at risk of or experiencing domestic abuse, race or hate crimes often have to 
leave their homes because of the risk of repeat incidents of abuse.  Refuges and temporary 
accommodation can provide safe alternatives but many households for many reasons do not 
wish to leave their homes or would like to return home, despite the risks. 

The Sanctuary Scheme was set up to help prevent homelessness by the Domestic Abuse 
Forum.  The purpose of the scheme was to offer Sanctuary measures to residents of the 
Borough who wished to remain in their own homes who were victims of these types of 
crimes.  Sanctuary is tenure blind and measures can be installed to any home where a 
referral is made and the installation of measures will prevent the household form becoming 
homeless.  

The delivery of the scheme has changed over the years, but since 2015 – 2016 there have 
been measures installed in 72 properties to assist applicants who are subject to some form 
of abuse to remain in their own homes.  

For the years 2016 – 2017 and 2017 – 2018 there were 45 referrals and this further breaks 
down into 21 installations in Gravesham Borough Council properties, 2 in owner occupied 
properties, 2 in registered provider properties and 20 which are unknown which could be 
owner occupied, Registered Provider properties or Private Rented.  There has been a 

Page 121



58

marked decrease in referrals in 2018 to date, with only 2 referrals received and one of these 
was a GBC property and one is unknown.  

The Scheme appears to have been on the whole a success as only 6 (or 29%) of the 
Gravesham Borough Council tenants who have had measures installed have gone on to 
leave the accommodation where the measures were installed.    

10.8.6 Mediation 

Mediation can be a useful tool in assisting parties to communicate more effectively and 
resolve differences that could lead to homelessness. Any mediation services offered to 
homeless households should adhere to the generally agreed principles of any mediation 
service, namely that the service should be confidential and voluntary, and that the mediator 
must be an impartial third party with no stake in the outcome of the process.

Given that the main reasons for homelessness in Grravesham is related to loss of Assured 
Shorthold Tenancies followed by evictions by parents and families and friend, the Council in 
particular offers mediation in all instances where these issues are given as the reason for 
the threatened homelessness 

Mediation is used as a tool both informally and formally to try and prevent the homelessness 
from occurring, and offices will try and liaise with landlords to determine if there is anyway 
the tenancy could be saved, or if parents or family would be willing to reconsider the 
eviction. It can be used independently or alongside other prevention tools, i.e. the provision 
of Discretionary Housing Payments, to pay a top up where there may be a benefit shortfall, 
to prevent the homelessness, and allow for the applicant make a more planned move.

10.9 Temporary Accommodation 

The Housing (Homeless Persons) Act 1977 placed a duty on all local housing authorities to 
secure permanent accommodation for unintentionally homeless people in priority need. 
Authorities’ duties towards homeless people are now contained in Part 7 of the Housing Act 
1996 (as amended). 

Authorities do not have a duty to secure accommodation for all homeless people. If an 
applicant has become homeless unintentionally the authority must assess whether they, or a 
member of their household, falls into a priority need category. These categories are set out 
in section 189 of the 1996 Act and include: 

a. People with dependent children who are residing with, or might reasonably be 
expected to reside with them, for example, because the family is separated solely 
because of the need for accommodation; 

b. People who are homeless or threatened with homelessness as a result of any 
emergency such as flood, fire or any other disaster; 

Page 122



59

c. Where any person who resides or who might reasonably be expected to reside with 
them, is vulnerable because of old age, mental illness, handicap or physical disability 
or other special reason; 

d. Pregnant women, or a person who resides or might reasonably be expected to reside 
with a pregnant woman; 

e. All 16 and 17-year-olds; 

f. 18 to 20 year-old-care leavers; 

g. Vulnerable care leavers; 

h. Vulnerable former members of the armed forces; 

i. Vulnerable former prisoners; and 

j. People who are vulnerable because they are fleeing violence. 

Prior to April 2018 when a household approached a local authority for help with their 
homelessness, the Authority was required to make inquiries to determine which duties it 
owed to a homeless applicant.  If the authority had reason to believe the applicant was 
homeless, eligible and had a priority need, then the authority had a duty to provide 
temporary accommodation to that household, whist further inquiries were made into their 
housing situation and a decision made on which duties the Council owed the applicant, from 
a main duty where the Council must make available suitable accommodation to those 
households who had a priority need, and who had not made themselves intentionally 
homeless through to advice and assistance only.  

Where a main duty was owed, there may be a requirement for the household to remain in 
temporary accommodation before a final offer of accommodation was made, and the length 
of time, depends on the availability of suitable accommodation in the district.  

However the implementation of the Localism Act in 2011 has, allowed local authorities to 
discharge their homeless duties with an offer in the private rented sector. Prior to the 2011 
Act if an offer of private sector accommodation was made a household could refuse it and 
wait for an offer in the social sector.  Government reformed this and sought to give greater 
freedoms to local authorities to make better use of the private rented sector and reduce 
demand on social housing.  The Localism Act has given authorities the powers to discharge 
their homelessness duty via an offer in the private sector without the agreement of the 
household.  Any properties offered must be suitable to meet the household’s needs in line 
with the Homelessness Suitability of Accommodation Order 2012, but if the property is 
refused, then the authority can discharge its duties. Authorities must have policies in place 
that set out how they intend to do this.  
  
More recently and as already mentioned, The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 was 
implemented in April 2018 and this placed additional duties on Councils to prevent and 

Page 123



60

relieve homelessness for all eligible households who are threatened with homelessness 
within 56 days or who are already homeless.  Under the new legislation there is still a 
requirement to place households in temporary accommodation that are eligible, homeless 
and who have a priority need. 

Evidence in Wales where similar legislation was introduced in 2015 has shown that the early 
focus on prevention has resulted in a decline in the use of Temporary Accommodation, and 
it anticipated that the introduction the Homelessness Reduction Act will have the same 
impact in England, however housing pressures are different in the South to other areas of 
the country and time will tell if this is the outcome. 

The National Audit Office (NAO) published a report on Homelessness in September 2017 in 
which the cost of temporary accommodation is highlighted: 

In 2015-16, local authorities spent £1,148 million on homelessness services. The single 
largest component of this spending was on temporary accommodation, which increased 
by 39% in real terms between 2010-11 and 2015-16, from £606 million to £845 million. 
Three-quarters of the spending in 2015-16 – £638 million – was funded by housing 
benefit, of which £585 million was recovered from the Department for Work & Pensions. 
Over the same period spending on other components of homelessness services – 
mainly prevention, support, and administration – fell by 9% in real terms from £334 
million to £303 million. The overall increase in spending on homelessness Households in 
temporary accommodation (England) services has an impact on spending on other 
elements of housing services.

The link to this report can be found here

https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Homelessness.pdf

  
Local authorities use a variety of types of accommodation as temporary housing for 
homeless households, including: 

• private sector rented housing; 
• social housing let on a short-term tenancies; 
• hostel/refuge accommodation (sometimes with shared cooking/washing 

facilities); 
• bed and breakfast accommodation; and 
• others, such as supported lodgings and mobile homes. 

Gravesham is a stock retaining authority and so uses of mixture of its own stock let on a 
licence, and other nightly paid accommodation.

Figure xx shows the number of household in temporary accommodation nationally in 
thousands since 1998 to the present.  It can be seen that usage peaked around 2005 and 

Page 124

https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Homelessness.pdf


61

then began to decline, until it was at its lowest usage in 2011.  However more recently with 
the increase in homelessness the use of temporary accommodation has again begun to 
increase.  

Source – Ministry of Housing and Local Government Live Tables – June 2018 

At the end of March 2018 when the last set of P1es were submitted there were 79,880 
households in temporary accommodation, of which 68% were London households. 

Bed and Breakfast 

During the 1990s Bed and Breakfast was used extensively.  The number then declined 
throughout the 90s, until the end when numbers steadily began to increase again.  This led 
the Labour Government of 2001 – 20101 to focus its efforts on reducing the number of 
homeless households placed in B&B and in particular those with children.  At the end of 
2001 there were 12,290 households in B&B and was a rise of 24% on the previous years, 
with the number of households with children being 5,600 or nearly half of all of those in B&B. 

To reduce numbers and minimise the time spent in B&B the Government introduced a 
statutory instrument, The Homelessness (Suitability of Accommodation) (England) Order 
2003 (SI 2003/3326) in April 2004 which set out that homeless families with children or 
where a member of the household is pregnant should not be placed in B&B except in an 
emergency and where it was used in an emergency situation then this should be for no 
longer than 6 weeks. If authorities fail to comply with this then this places them at risk of 
Judicial Review.   

Despite this figure xx below shows that B&B continues to be used as a form of 
accommodation for homeless households and in recent years this has begun to increase 
again.  

Page 125



62

Source: MHCLG live tables – June 2018 

At the end of March 2018, nationally households with dependent children made up 76.6% of 
all households in temporary accommodation and 36.7% of households in B&B-style 
accommodation. 800 of these households had been in B&B-style accommodation for more 
than six weeks.

The Code of Guidance is very clear that B&B placements should be avoided where possible, 
that placements in B&B should not be used for 16/17 year olds, and where placements are 
made for households with children, then this should be no longer than 6 weeks in duration.

To address this issues authorities have put in place a number of initiatives to ensure that 
B&B is not used for emergency accommodation to fulfil statutory duties and this is supported 
by schemes such as the Gold Standard introduced by Government in 2014 – which includes 
a challenge around not using B&B for 16 and 17 year olds, and not using B&B 
accommodation for families unless in an emergency and then for no longer than 6 weeks.  

The Government has also recently formed a Homelessness Advice Support Team to support 
the roll out of the Homelessness Reduction act, but also to work with Local Authorities who 
still utilise B&B as a form of accommodation.       

The use of the private sector 

An alternative to B&B usage is the use of the private sector for accommodation homeless 
applicants.  Accommodation can be leased to the Council to use for temporary 
accommodation. The private landlord in this arrangement receives a regular income while 
the social landlord is responsible for managing the property and collecting rent/Housing 
Benefit payments from the residents. The Homelessness Code of Guidance for Local 
Authorities encourages authorities to enter into leasing arrangements.  

Page 126



63

However despite this encouragement – the NAO 2017 report identified the difficulties faced 
by local authorities in securing private sector housing to use as temporary accommodation 

“They (Local authorities) reported that those providing accommodation are less willing to 
lease it to local authorities because they can achieve a better return if the same 
accommodation is let nightly. Some reported that the reduction in accommodation providers 
had led to an extremely limited supply of private landlords willing to house homeless 
families” 

Local authorities on the outskirts of London that we interviewed for this study reported that 
inner London boroughs are buying property in these areas to use as temporary 
accommodation, or are offering local private landlords incentive payments of up to £4,000 to 
accommodate their households. Local authorities that we interviewed in central London 
confirmed that they make these incentive payments. This is often because the up-front costs 
of payments to prevent homelessness are less than the cost of placing these households in 
temporary accommodation. Local authorities in central London are therefore able to reduce 
their spending on temporary accommodation, but these placements further reduce supply for 
the local authorities that receive these households, who can in turn seek to place their own 
homeless households out of borough”

This combined with measures introduced as part of the Welfare Reforms which have taken 
place over the last 5 – 10 years, particularly the decision to freeze Local Housing Allowance 
Rates, has further compounded local authority’s ability to procure privately rented 
accommodation for homeless households. 

   
Out of Area Placements 

Of the 79,880 households in Temporary Accommodation mentioned earlier, 22,020 were 
placed out of the borough from which they presented which is a similar figure to the end of 
March 2017. This is primarily a London phenomenon: 36% of households accepted as 
homeless by a London borough were housed in a different borough, compared to 9% in the 
rest of England. In total, 89% of all out of out of borough placements at the end of March 
2018 involved London authorities. (Source MHCLG live tables 2018) Out of Borough 
Placements are made for many reasons, primarily due to being unable to procure rented 
housing in the district at affordable rates, and local landlords less willing to lease properties 
to council or let properties to households which have been homeless and rely on benefits for 
some or all of their housing costs.  

In the Nzolameso judgement handed down on 2 April 2015, the Supreme Court considered 
the circumstances in which it would be lawful to place a homeless family in temporary 
accommodation outside of the authority’s area. The Court concluded that there is a statutory 
duty to accommodate in borough, where reasonably practicable, failing which authorities are 
under a duty to try to place the household as close as possible to where they were 
previously living. The Court considered the needs of children in determining the suitability of 
out-of-borough accommodation: 

Page 127



64

“The question of whether the accommodation offered is “suitable” for the applicant and each 
member of her household clearly requires the local authority to have regard to the need to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of any children in her household. Its suitability to meet 
their needs is a key component in its suitability generally. In my view, it is not enough for the 
decision-maker simply to ask whether any of the children are approaching GCSE or other 
externally assessed examinations. Disruption to their education and other support networks 
may be actively harmful to their social and educational development, but the authority also 
have to have regard to the need to promote, as well as to safeguard, their welfare. The 
decision maker should identify the principal needs of the children, both individually and 
collectively, and have regard to the need to safeguard and promote them when making the 
decision”.

The Supreme Court went on to set out how local authorities should address the burden of 
accounting for their actions in each case: 

“Ideally, each local authority should have, and keep up to date, a policy for procuring 
sufficient units of temporary accommodation to meet the anticipated demand during the 
coming year. That policy should, of course, reflect the authority’s statutory obligations under 
both the 1996 Act and the Children Act 2004. It should be approved by the democratically 
accountable members of the council and, ideally, it should be made publicly available. 
Secondly, each local authority should have, and keep up to date, a policy for allocating those 
units to individual homeless households. Where there was an anticipated shortfall of “in 
borough” units, that policy would explain the factors which would be taken into account in 
offering households those units, the factors which would be taken into account in offering 
units close to home, and if there was a shortage of such units, the factors which would make 
it suitable to accommodate a household further away. That policy too should be made 
publicly available”.

During 2017 the numbers of households in Temporary Accommodation nationally was 
steadily rising from xx in the first quarter rising to xx by December 2017. 

Gravesham Borough Council will provide Temporary Accommodation for a homeless person 
where they have accepted a duty to relieve their homelessness. 

This happens when the Council has issued a s184 decision letter to the applicant advising 
them that they are:

 homeless 
 eligible for assistance
 Believed to have a priority need

The Council then has a duty to relive the households homelessness and has to provide 
accommodation in this situation. 

Gravesham also continues to provide accommodation for households who have had a full 
main housing duty accepted.  

Page 128

http://england.shelter.org.uk/get_advice/homelessness/legal_definition_of_homelessness
http://england.shelter.org.uk/get_advice/homelessness/help_from_the_council_when_homeless/eligibility_for_assistance


65

Gravesham Borough Council uses a mix of accommodation types, primarily their own stock 
but it also uses other nightly paid accommodation.  Gravesham will only use a Bed and 
Breakfast at a time of emergency and or for its Severe Weather Provision and when it does 
utilise Bed and Breakfast then it seeks to find alternative accommodation as a priority.  

Table xx shows the number of households in Temporary Accommodation and the % change 
each year since 2015 compared to the South East and National Figures.

Table xx  – Households in Temporary Accommodation 
Quarter Gravesham  South East National 
2015 Q1 50420
2015 Q2 51460
2015 Q3 52550
2015 Q4 53740
2016 Q1 55290
2016 Q2 56100
2016 Q3 57030
2016 Q4 57560
2017 Q1 58360
2017 Q2 59410
2017 Q3 60570
2017 Q4 62600

In the last quarter of P1e returns from January 2018 – March 2018 there were xx 
households in Temporary Accommodation in Gravesham.  Numbers in Temporary 
Accommodation have increased / decreased from 2014.  Table xx shows the numbers of 
households in Bed and Breakfast and Table xx shows that in all instances households who 
are placed in B&B are stopping in B&B for less/more than 6 weeks which is in line with 
Government guidance.  At the end of September 2018 Gravesham Borough Council had xx 
people in Bed and Breakfast Accommodation.

Table xx - Households placed in Bed and Breakfast 

 Gravesham 
% of 
region South East National

2015 Q1
2015 Q2
2015 Q3
2015 Q4
2016 Q1
2016 Q2
2016 Q3
2016 Q4
2017 Q1
2017 Q2
2017 Q3

Page 129



66

2017 Q4

Table xx – Households in Bed and Breakfast and time spent there 

Families and individuals may be offered temporary accommodation within or outside the 
borough, and those with no priority need but for whom the Council has prepared a personal 
housing plan and who is working to relive their homelessness, may be offered hostel 
accommodation outside of area, as a stepping stone to moving on into more settled 
accommodation. 
 
10.10.2 Rough Sleepers 
Although estimates show that the numbers of rough sleepers in Gravesham are relatively 
small, they are one of the most vulnerable groups in society. Rough sleepers are likely to 
have a range of complex problems and support needs which can be worsened by living on 
the streets or insecure accommodation.

Rough sleeping counts and estimates are undertaken each year and are a single night 
snapshot of the number of people sleeping rough in local authority areas. Local authorities 
determine whether to carry out a count or an estimate. They are encouraged to gain 
intelligence for street counts and estimates from local agencies such as outreach workers, 
the police, the voluntary sector and members of the public who have contact with rough 
sleepers on the street. 

Gravesham undertook its last Rough Sleeper estimate in partnership with xx and in 
collaboration with key partners who may have had contact with Rough Sleepers in 
November 2017 when it was estimated that xx people were sleeping rough in Gravesham. 

 2014 2015 2016 2017

< 6 Months 

6 Months - < 
1 Year 

1 Year to < 2 
Years 

2 Years to < 
3 Years 

3 Years - < 4 
Years 

4 Years - < 5 
Years 

> 5 Years 

Page 130



67

Table xx shows the number of rough sleepers across Gravesham has varied, although it 
reached a peak in 2016, at a time when Rough Sleeping is on the increase nationally.  

Table xx – Numbers of Rough Sleepers in Gravesham compared to the region and 
nationally

Number of rough sleepers
 
 Gravesham South East England 
2010 1 310 1,768
2011 8 430 2,181
2012 10 442 2,309
2013 8 532 2,414
2014 3 609 2,744
2015 6 827 3,569
2016 12 956 4,134
2017 9 1,119 4,751

Table xx – No of Rough Sleepers per 100 of the population of Gravesham district 

Number of rough sleepers per 1,000 households

 Gravesham South East England
2010 0.02 0.09 0.08
2011 0.20 0.12 0.10
2012 0.24 0.12 0.10
2013 0.19 0.15 0.11
2014 0.07 0.17 0.12
2015 0.14 0.22 0.16
2016 0.28 0.25 0.18
2017 0.21 0.30 0.20

Advice and Assistance 

Section 179(2) of the Homelessness Reduction Act states that housing authorities must 
design advice and information services to meet the needs of people within their district 
including, in particular, the needs of the following groups:

1. people released from prison or youth detention accommodation;
2. care leavers;
3. former members of the regular armed forces;
4. victims of domestic abuse;
5. people leaving hospital;
6. people suffering from a mental illness or impairment; and,
7. any other group that the authority identify as being at particular risk of 

homelessness in their district.

Page 131



68

The next section of this review will take each of these groups and consider them individually

People released from prison or youth detention accommodation 

Below is a link to a report prepared by the Probation Service about offenders and 
accommodation and this provides a number of statistics related to housing, in all areas 
across Kent including Gravesham.  

https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s79087/B3%20-%20Appendix%201%20-
%20HOUSING%20HOMELESSNESS%20for%20CJS%20Service%20Users.pdf

Prisoner housing pathway prepared by the Kent Housing Group 

This document’s aims and objectives are to:

 improve the information about housing and housing options available to offenders
 improve communication between the partner agencies
 improve awareness and understanding of the housing and related support needs of 

offenders amongst partner agency staff
 enable offenders to access appropriate accommodation and related support, both on 

release from custody, and whilst serving non-custodial Community and Suspended 
Sentence Orders

 require that close linkage and collaboration is made between relevant agencies e.g. 
the partner agencies to this document

 enable a greater chance of preventing and thereby reducing re-offending within our 
communities, and enhancing public safety, by adopting the co-ordinated approach to 
improving access to settled accommodation for this client group outlined in this 
pathway. At the same time the pathway importantly enables accommodation 
expectations to be realistically managed

Care leavers 

Protocol setting out responsibilities of agencies when addressing housing needs of 16/17 
year olds following the Southwark Judgement 

https://www.kenthousinggroup.org.uk/protocols/care-leavers-housing-protocol/

Former members of the regular armed forces 

Community Covenant 

Those experiencing domestic abuse 

Kent and Medway Strategy 

https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/75199/KMDASG-Strategy-2016-20.pdf

Page 132

https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s79087/B3%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20HOUSING%20HOMELESSNESS%20for%20CJS%20Service%20Users.pdf
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s79087/B3%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20HOUSING%20HOMELESSNESS%20for%20CJS%20Service%20Users.pdf
https://www.kenthousinggroup.org.uk/protocols/care-leavers-housing-protocol/
https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/75199/KMDASG-Strategy-2016-20.pdf


69

People leaving hospital 

Hospital discharge project 

People who experience poor mental health 

11. The Health of Homeless People 

Homeless people are one of the groups most excluded from health services yet they often 
have the highest level of health need. Often these go undiagnosed or untreated and without 
good health, achieving other outcomes such stable accommodation and securing 
employment can be difficult. 

As well as identifying that the life expectancy of a homeless person is significantly less than 
the national and local average the report called Homelessness: A Silent Killer published in 
2012 by Crisis also identifies the following as trends amongst the homelessness population:

 Drug and alcohol abuse are amongst the most common causes of death

 A Homeless person is 9 times as likely to commit suicide

 Road Traffic Accidents are 3 times more likely

In addition a report from the Department of Health called Healthcare for Single Homeless 
people identifies that: 

 Infections and incidences of falls are also higher for example rates of chronic chest 
and breathing problems are 3 times more common, and rough sleepers experience 
TB at 200 times that of the known rate among the general population.  

12. What is the evidence telling us? 

The evidence discussed suggest that the UK has been through a time of unprecedented  
change with the uncertainty linked to the UK exiting the European Union continuing, much 
talk of the possibility of an early general election and all sectors are needing to adapt to 
these changes.  

This is combined with significant changes to the welfare system and the legislative 
framework within which Local Authorities are operating their homelessness services.  

The evidence contained within this review document is telling us that the population of 
Gravesham is increasing, and is also set to age in the coming years, at the same time as the 
number of smaller households increasing.

Page 133



70

Gender breakdown in the district is split equally and life expectancy for men in the district is 
worse than the national average and also women’s life expectancy within the district.  
However women’s life expectancy in Gravesham is better than the national average.  Those 
whoa e homeless have a significantly lower life expectancy than both males and females.  

The ethnic make-up of the district is 78% white British which means 22% of the population 
come from a mix of other ethnic backgrounds. 

Evidence suggests that deprivation in the district has worsened.  Welfare reform, including 
the bedroom tax and the increased sanctioning of benefits could result in this number rising, 
and again could increase levels of homelessness within the borough. 

Average earnings in the district are lower than the national average, with a further pay gap 
within Gravesham, men are paid considerably more than woman across the borough. 
Although unemployment is around the national average, earnings are lower than the national 
average, and a large proportion of residence are on low incomes.  In parallel to this due to 
its location housing prices are at a premium making home ownership difficult for those on 
low earnings. This increases the demand on social housing (most affordable) and the private 
rented sector, (less affordable but more accessible) for young families and individuals 
looking to live independently. However access to the private rented sector is proving more 
difficult as London authorities utilise accommodation out of area and landlords who are 
increasingly refusing to accept those who are reliant on benefits to pay their rent or who 
have been homeless.  This is coupled with around a quarter of private rented homes in the 
district not achieving a decent standard.  

The demand for council housing outstrips supply, however there is a now a larger demand 
for smaller property and larger properties are less in demand. This may because of the 
under occupancy charge, and also that utility costs continues to rise. Families too are getting 
smaller, and fewer couples are having children meaning they would only require a one bed 
property. 

Evidence suggests that homeownership, private renting and even affordable rents are 
unaffordable for some, leaving social rent the only affordable option placing an increased 
demand on council stock, which is decreasing due to right to buy. Additionally in the 2015 
post election summer budget the chancellor announced 1% decrease in social housing 
rents.   

However the Council is taking a proactive approach to the provision of affordable housing 
and is working to return empty homes back into use and also developing and regenerating 
further new council housing. Reforms to council housing finance have allowed the council 
more flexibility to do this.  

Changes to benefits are likely to impact on the most vulnerable, as will loss of funding for 
services.  Benefit sanctions are increasing essentially making it hard for the most vulnerable 
and chaotic to maintain their benefit payments. Also as universal credits are introduced and 
people will be expected to manage more money they have ever had before there is likely to 
be an increase in rent and mortgage arrears as people fail to pay their rents which could 
result in more evictions and homelessness.  

Page 134



71

Coupled with this is the shift to universal credits, and for those who struggle to manage 
money may mean an increase in rent arrears and council tax arrears, as more and more 
tenants on benefits will be expected to contribute to their council tax bill.  All of this could see 
an increase in evictions, and debt and an increased demand in households requiring 
emergency housing and support. 

Nationally homelessness is on the increase. Therefore there needs to be a shift away from a 
housing advice role, to a continued emphasis on early intervention and prevention methods 
to reduce the numbers of households reaching crisis point, and a more supportive and 
personalised service to those where they have got out of homelessness, to prevent them 
from repeating the cycle.  This is supported by the introduction of the Homelessness 
Reduction Act which has placed duties on Councils to prevent and relieve homelessness. 

Gravesham reflects national trends in that homelessness is on the increase; however there 
has been a decline in the number of accepted homeless cases and an increase in 
unsuccessful homeless applications, with preventions remaining fairly static.  Gravesham 
also follows the national trend in that its main reason for loss of last settled home is the 
ending of assured shorthold tenancies in the private sector.  

Demand for TA has increased, however the supply of Council accommodation into which the 
Council can fulfil its interim and full duties is limited to 60 and therefore there has been an 
increase in the use of Nightly Paid accommodation in Gravesham and a return to the use of 
Bed and Breakfast, however this has not been used for families other than in an emergency 
and where it has the use has been limited.  This has led to an increase in the cost of 
temporary accommodation to the Council 

The number of rough sleepers within Gravesham is relatively low, although it has risen over 
previous years. 

13.  Next steps 

Once the strategy review is complete it will be shared with partners for consultation. The 
findings of the review will contribute to the draft homelessness strategy and consultation will 
again take place for with partners and the public. 

Once the strategy has been finalised it will go to cabinet for approval, and once approval has 
been finalised a project group will be set up to deliver the actions contained within the 
strategy and monitor its delivery. This is in line with legislation which sets out that authorities 
must have a homelessness strategy and suggests that it is monitored by a local partnership 
such as a homelessness forum, where agencies each take responsibility for actions 
contained within the action plan and meet regularly to measure progress of the actions 
against the plan.  

The Action Plan and spend against the Action Plan will then be reviewed annually, and 
updated and published, which ensures that the document remains live throughout the 
lifetime of the strategy.  

Page 135



72

For further information about this review document or any information about the strategy 
please contact Gravesham Borough Council 

In writing 

Gravesham Borough Council 
Civic Centre
Windmill Street 
Gravesend 

Email: wale.adetoro@gravesham.gov.uk

Telephone: 01474 337759

Page 136

mailto:wale.adetoro@gravesham.gov.uk


73

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee

Tuesday, 2 April 2019 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Sara Langdale (Chair)
Cllr Greta Goatley (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
Gurdip Ram Bungar
John Caller
Brian Francis
Rob Halpin
Karen Hurdle
Steve Thompson

Simon Hookway Assistant Director (Communities)
Kath Donald Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit)
Sean Steer Community Safety Operations Manager
Lauren Wallis Committee Services Officer (minutes)

55. Apologies for Absence 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Gary Harding.

An apology for absence was also received from Inspector Craig West (Kent Police).

56. Minutes 

In relation to Minute 29 of the meeting of the Committee held on 11 October 2018, the 
Assistant Director (Communities) confirmed that the letter to the Home Office requested by 
Members had been written and sent by Councillor John Knight, Deputy Leader and Cabinet 
Member for Environmental Services.

The Assistant Director (Communities) also confirmed that the Terms of Reference for the 
Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee had been circulated to Members.

The minutes of the meeting held on 11 October 2018 were signed by the Chair.

57. Declarations of Interest 

The Chair, Cllr Sara Langdale, declared an “Other Interest” as her daughter was a Police 
Officer base at the North West Kent Police Station.

Page 139 Agenda Item 8



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 2.04.2019

2

58. MHCLG Supporting Families Against Youth Crime 

The Committee was apprised of the Kent County Council (KCC) led successful bid to the 
Government’s Supporting Families Against Youth Crime Fund which had secured £1.3m for 
work to prevent young people becoming involved in gangs and youth violence as part of a 
two year project.

The Chair welcomed Colin Green, District Partnership Manager – KCC to the meeting.

The District Partnership Manager explained that he worked as part of the Troubled Families 
Programme (North Kent) team which had noticed an increase in cases of child exploitation. 
For example, nine children had been excluded from their school as they had been suspected 
of money laundering for a criminal group in North Kent and research had been undertaken 
which showed the need for more work in this area. KCC had given permission to submit a 
bid for funding from the £5m Supporting Families Against Youth Crime Fund made available 
by the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MCHLG). Initially it had 
been suggested that a bid for £2.1m be made which would have included direct partnership 
working with a number of London Boroughs. However, due to an imminent restructure of the 
team at KCC and the opinion that the inclusion in the initial bid of four London Boroughs as 
strategic partners would complicate matters, it had been requested that the bid be reduced 
to £1.3m. This bid would include collaboration with Medway Council, Kent Police, the 
Metropolitan Police and the Kent Police and Crime Commissioner. 

The funding would be used in the coming two years to develop a service specification which 
would include two elements. The first was the development of a care team which would 
include a project manager, a support officer and an analyst. The second element would be a 
new commissioning service which would deliver in North Kent and Medway and four mentors 
and four trained community workers whom the project manager would oversee. Additionally 
there would also be two youth workers. It was also hoped to have a “community chest” of 
funding which appropriate community groups would be able to bid for. The District 
Partnership Manager was also keen to afford an out of hours telephone project. If additional 
funding could be accessed then a face to face service would be also considered. 

The Committee was advised that the new service would be committed to helping 50 families 
in the coming two years and would also include outreach sessions in schools and to other 
appropriate groups. A study would also be commissioned to investigate the efficiency of the 
work being undertaken by the service. It was hoped that the prevention and support work 
would in turn result in a positive outcome for these young people and their families.  

The Chair congratulated KCC on an outstanding project and thanked the District Partnership 
Manager for the initiative. This sentiment was echoed by the Committee.

The District Partnership Manager fielded questions from the Committee and the following 
was highlighted:

 The London Boroughs involved as informal partners were Lewisham, Greenwich, 
Bexley and Southwark. These London Boroughs relocated families at risk from youth 
crime into North Kent and when this type of move took place it happened 
immediately and KCC was not always kept informed. It was intended to formalise this 
process with a protocol as KCC would like to support these families with advice with 
regards to schooling and housing etc from day one.

Page 140



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 2.04.2019

3

 The proximity of the relocated families to London had been raised but it was 
recognised that trying to manage and mitigate the risk to these families was the most 
important factor to be taken into account.

 To enable the service to be commissioned, KCC had been in discussion with 
potential providers. However, one of the risks of more of the government funding 
being accessed by London Boroughs was that this would attract the attention of the 
larger national organisations. The District Partnership Manager was not aware of any 
Kent organisations with the skills or scale-ability to deliver at the pace required by the 
Government. The Project Manager had been seconded into the team and a short 
procurement route introduced so KCC could get up to speed quickly and it was 
intended that the project would go live in July or August 2019.

 It was noted that there would be a preventative element and it was hoped that 25 
training sessions would be delivered by April 2020.

 The Community Chest initiative would also go live in July or August 2019.
 It was hoped that the project team would not have to set targets for specific areas of 

North Kent as this might curtail help and support being given to the most at risk 
families. It was also hoped that a case length need not be applied although it was 
recognised that the team would probably be able to work with families for up to 12 
months.

 It was intended to undertake a mapping and profiling exercise with Kent Police. The 
analyst would also develop a risk logic profile for high risk families which would be 
criteria and point weighted.

 Partnership working between Dartford and Gravesham was considered to be strong. 
Councillor Paul Carter – Leader of the County Council and Cabinet Member for 
Health Reform wanted to establish select committee and Public Health was already 
on board and the District Partnership Manager was confident that it would get the 
support it needs. A statutory duty for schools to report youth violence was also being 
introduced.

 Following a question on sustainability, it was explained that the original project had 
included four London Boroughs and had been favourably looked upon and the £5m 
pot had been doubled to £10m by the Government in recognition of the scale of the 
problem. Full advantage would be taken of future funding opportunities and there 
was a reasonable likelihood that these would arise.

 Members were advised that collaboration with the Kent Police and Crime 
Commissioners was yet to be explored and was an outstanding action. 

The Chair thanked the District Partnership Manager for a fascinating and comprehensive 
presentation and requested that the subject be revisited by the Committee in a year.

The Committee was asked to note the contents of the briefing document.

59. Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Strategy 2019-22 - Priorities 

Members were apprised of the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership’s 
(CSP) new three year Community Safety Strategy 2019-22 and the priorities contained 
therein. The Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit) advised that the first stage had 
included a strategic assessment. Once this assessment had been completed, a very brief 
public consultation exercise had taken place in an effort to clarify resident’s concerns with 
regard to their neighbourhoods and 420 responses had been received. There had been a 
clear indication of priorities which had included anti-social behaviour (mainly low level but 

Page 141



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 2.04.2019

4

persistent), petty vandalism, litter and graffiti. Residential burglary and town centre safety 
had also been flagged. A low level of concern about violence had been expressed. In 
identifying priorities officers consider certain criteria including volume, trends and the added 
value that could be provided through partnership working. Members noted that it had been 
difficult to undertake year on year comparisons of recorded crime because of changes in 
Home Office Counting Rules and definitions but year on year analysis should begin to be 
possible from 2019/2020 onwards. 

The Strategy would be published on the Council’s website in mid-April and would run for 3 
years. The Strategy had been designed to be able to respond to changes in trends and 
legislation etc and the Members’ attention was drawn to the diagram on page 17 of the 
agenda which was used to communicate the aims of the Strategy to members of the public. 
Performance indicators had been included in the Strategy and would be reviewed on a 
quarterly basis.

The Chair thanked the officer for a useful and easy to understand document. 

Following questions from the Committee, the Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit) 
highlighted the following:

 A comment was made on paragraph 1.3 of the report which appeared to say that 
decisions on the priorities to be included in the Strategy had been made before the 
public consultation exercise. The officer clarified that the CSP had received the 
Strategy after the completion of the strategic assessment. This had taken place in 
January 2019 when the priorities had been approved based on the assessment 
alone. Following this, the public were approached with regard to their views. The 
Strategic assessment only considered recorded data and the public’s opinion was 
sought on issues that actually affect their lives. There was also an element of under-
reporting of certain issues. The officer was requested to rewrite this section.

 The officer explained the design of the questionnaire and gave an example of the 
questions therein. The questionnaire did not contain much data as the honest opinion 
of residents was required and it was intended that this exercise be repeated on an 
annual basis. The Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit) was requested to 
advertise the questionnaire and to aim for a broader sample in future. It was also 
agreed that Members be sent the questionnaire.

 It was noted that a consultation could be skewed by a number of factors including 
gender, age and perception and any conclusions should be tempered with this 
knowledge.

 Members were advised that the priorities had been agreed as a partnership and 
resources could be sought from all partners. It was noted that anti-social behaviour 
took up most of the time of the Community Safety Team and referrals from all kinds 
of places were received daily. The Police had to prioritise certain incidents at certain 
times depending on the level of severity and risk. For example, domestic abuse was 
not a high priority according to questionnaire responses, but it still took up a lot of 
time police time.

 The advice of the Communications Team had been sought when undertaking the 
consultation. The Communications Team had taken over publicising the 
questionnaire and had advertised on the Council’s social media pages, on the 
Council’s website and in the staff newsletter. The key age groups of respondents had 
been as follows:

66% female

Page 142



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 2.04.2019

5

55-64 years – 27%
45-54 years – 26%
30-44 years – 14%

This spread had been much better than in previous years.

 Acting Chief Inspector Neil Loudon explained that Dartford and Gravesham were 
served by two police teams. The first was the local district team who responded to 
the highest impact scenarios and the most vulnerable in the community and generally 
only dealt with emergencies. The Community Safety Unit comprises three sergeants, 
three police constables and PCSOs and this team tackled lower level crime. Neither 
team was rich in resources.

 Following a question on “designing out” crime, the Committee was advised the 
physical works were routinely undertaken. An example was given with regard to the 
issues in Queen Street, Gravesend running down to the Riverside. A successful bid 
for funding had enabled the installation of two HD wireless high specification CCTV 
cameras (not covert) at either end of Queen Street which solved the problem of the 
gap in coverage. In addition, such actions as the closure of alley ways, the planting of 
prickly plants in planters to discourage loitering street drinkers had been undertaken 
and crime was designed out as much as possible. However the displacement of the 
activity also had to be taken into account.

 The second paragraph of paragraph 2.1 (iv) was highlighted and the Strategic 
Manager (Community Safety Unit) explained that there was a reluctance of victims to 
report certain types of crime because they sometimes experienced them so 
frequently that they could become normalised or some behaviour was not considered 
serious enough the report, for example racial verbal abuse on the daily commute to 
school, and therefore this was an issue the CSP wished to address. There had been 
a very good local campaign and a recent funding bid to the MHCLG had been 
successful and it was intended that the “No Space for Hate” campaign be increased 
and developed. This was not to be seen as an admission of failure but a need to 
know more detail and to continue to build victim’s confidence to report. Acting Chief 
Inspector Neil Loudon explained that hate crime was recognised as an issue that 
needed to be addressed and the police were briefed every morning on what had 
come in. However, he advised significant hate crime was very rare.

 The Committee was advised that hate crimes on social media were closely 
monitored. Victims of online hate crime who approached the police were offered 
support and, if appropriate, police action. However, despite this message being 
places on the social media pages of the police, victims were still reluctant to come 
forward.

 Members were advised of a meeting being arranged by Anita Tysoe – Service 
Manager (Customer and Theatre Services) for the week after next to discuss 
community cohesion issues in the current climate.

The report was noted.

60. Kent & Medway Police and Crime Panel - Minutes of the meeting held on 
14 November 2018 

The Committee considered the Kent & Medway Police and Crime Panel minutes of the 
meeting held on 14 November 2018.

Page 143



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 2.04.2019

6

Members noted the content of the minutes.

61. Exclusion 

Resolved that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 that 
the public be excluded during the following item of business because it was likely in 
view of the nature of the business to be transacted that, if member of the public were 
present during this item, there would be disclosure to them of exempt information.

62. Gang-related Activity, County Lines and the Local Picture 

The Chair welcomed Acting Chief Inspector Neil Loudon and Detective Sergeant Ian 
Sanderson (Kent Police) to the meeting.

Detective Sergeant Ian Sanderson gave a presentation to the Committee on gang related 
activity, County lines and the local picture to enable a better understanding of the level and 
extent of gang related and criminal activity in Gravesham.

The Chair thanked Acting Chief Inspector Neil Loudon and Detective Sergeant Ian 
Sanderson for attending the meeting and the detailed information explained to Members. 

63. Thanks from the Chair 

On the conclusion of the meeting the Chair advised that this was the last meeting of the 
Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee that she would preside over and she thanked the 
Committee for keeping themselves informed, asking pertinent questions and for doing a 
great job.

The Chair also thanked the experts and specialists that had attended the meetings the 
backbone of which had been the police and she recognised the time they had given up and 
how busy they must be and stated it had been very much appreciated.

She also extended her thanks to the Assistant Director (Communities), the Strategy 
Manager (Community Safety Unit) and the Community Safety Operations Manager for their 
brilliant expertise.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 9.46 am

Page 144


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting
	6 Provisional Outturn Report 2018/19
	7 Draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Prevention Strategy
	2.Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Prevention Strategy - Draft
	3.Action Plan (2)
	4.EIA - Homelessness Rough Sleeping Prevention Strategy
	5.Homelessness Prevention Strategy-Review and Evidence

	8 Minutes of the meeting of the Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee held on Tuesday, 2 April 2019

